
Date Published:5 July 2022     

Environment Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday 13 July 2022 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies for absence.

Chair

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 6)

To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 24 May 2022.

Chair

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Committee are invited to declare any pecuniary or 
personal interests relating to specific matters on the agenda.

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

Chair

4  ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING POINTS (Pages 7 - 26) Philip Williams

Steve Lowe

5  NATURAL FLOOD MANAGEMENT (Pages 27 - 34) James Blockley

6  RESTORING OUR RIVERS TASK GROUP (Pages 35 - 90)

To consider the final report of the Restoring our Rivers Task Group.

Cllr Phil Awford

7  WORK PLAN (Pages 91 - 92)

To review the committee work plan and suggest items for consideration at 
future meetings.

Chair



    

INFORMATION ITEMS

8  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S REPORT: ECONOMY, ENVIRONMENT 
& INFRASTRUCTURE (Pages 93 - 104)

To note the attached update report from Colin Chick, Executive Director of 
Economy, Environment & Infrastructure.

This report is to be taken as read. If members of the Committee have any 
questions, these should be emailed to Sophie Benfield in Democratic 
Services who will liaise with officers to provide a written response.

9  CLIMATE LEADERSHIP GLOUCESTERSHIRE (Pages 105 - 156)

To note the attached update report from Climate Leadership 
Gloucestershire.

This report is to be taken as read. If members of the Committee have any 
questions, these should be emailed to Sophie Benfield in Democratic 
Services who will liaise with officers to provide a written response.

NB: In addition to the regular report, there are two more detailed reports 
on Waste and Retrofit themes, as these were the focus of the two deep 
dive discussions which formed the core of the meeting.

10  FUTURE MEETINGS 

8 September 2022
22 November 2022
11 January 2023
8 March 2023
10 May 2023
12 July 2023
6 September 2023
15 November 2023

Chair

Membership –  Cllr Roger Whyborn, Cllr Susan Williams, Cllr Chris McFarling (Vice-Chair), 
Cllr Gill Moseley, Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Phil Awford, Cllr Sajid Patel, Cllr Dr David Willingham and 
Cllr Vernon Smith 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer, 
(Rob Ayliffe Tel:01452 328506/ e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the 
start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Sophie Benfield, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324094/ e-mail: sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Members are required to sign the attendance list.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

(d) 

2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see page 81 of 
the Constitution).

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
MINUTES of a meeting of the Environment Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday 24 May 
2022 at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Cllr Roger Whyborn
Cllr Susan Williams
Cllr Chris McFarling
Cllr Gill Moseley

Cllr Alan Preest
Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Sajid Patel
Cllr Dr David Willingham

Officers in attendance: Colin Chick, Simon Excell, Philip Williams, Julian Atkins, Luisa 
Senft-Hayward and Orlagh Stoner

Apologies: Cllr Dom Morris – it was noted that due to Cllr Morris’ recent appointment 
to the Cabinet, he was no longer able to Chair or be a member of the 
Scrutiny Committee. Cllr McFarling as Vice-Chair stepped in for this 
meeting until a new Chair could be elected at full Council in July 2022.

Members wanted to put on record their thanks to the departing Cabinet 
Member, Cllr Vernon Smith, who had always put a lot of effort into 
contributing to the Scrutiny agenda, plus their congratulations to Cllr Dom 
Morris.

2. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 9 March 2022 were approved.

The following action updates were noted:

 A meeting had taken place with the GCC website team to amend the 
Greener Gloucestershire website to incorporate Climate Leadership 
Gloucestershire (CLG) minutes. This was an ongoing piece of work that 
would need sign off by CLG before being shared more widely.

 The Experimental Traffic Regulation Orders (ETROs) for the two School 
Streets trials were consultative so the consultation took place over the 
course of the ETROs (which had an 18-month maximum life). The end of the 
cycle for the School Streets trials was in early May which meant it was not 
possible to come back to this committee before making a final decisions, 
otherwise the ETROs would have expired.

 The recommendation and decision were to make the ETROs permanent for 
both trials but officers also agreed not to move ahead at this time with 
implementing the next phase of the Trials due to concerns about capacity 
and resource to deliver.

ACTION: Share decision record with the Committee (DSU)

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

 Discussions were ongoing with district councils regarding strategic planning 
issues. It was advised that since the previous meeting, GCC were a full 
funding partner of the Joint Strategic Plan (previously the Joint Core 
Strategy) as of April this year. The Statement of Common Ground (a 
document between all seven local authorities) was also continuing to 
progress.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Cllr McFarling declared that he was an owner of an electric vehicle, due to the 
forthcoming discussions on the electric vehicle charging rollout.

4. TRANSPORT DECARBONISATION 

4.1 The Chair invited Luisa Senft-Hayward to present this item. Members 
received a written report in advance plus a presentation at the meeting. The 
following points were noted:

 32% of all emissions in the county were transport related, if you included 
emissions from through traffic, this equated to 44%.

 The Department for Transport had made it clear that developing a 
transport decarbonisation plan was a condition for any future investment. 
They had provided various materials, including a tool kit to assist in 
creating plans.

 GCC had already made commitments towards decarbonisation in its 
Climate Change Strategy and Local Transport Plan.

 Slide 3 showed a representation of Gloucestershire’s carbon emission 
gap, i.e. how much the county needed to reduce its emissions if it was 
going to reach its target, represented by the red arrow on the graph.

 Introducing electric vehicles alone was not going to solve the problem. It 
was more than just stopping to emit carbon by 2045, the county had to 
stay within its carbon budget overall. The graph on slide 4 showed the 
consequence of just a 5-year delay on the county’s pathway. 

 Slide 5 and 6 showed the key emitters of carbon within the transport 
sector. Business travel, for example, would be a high impact area for 
potential interventions.

 Trips over 20km accounted for 15% of travel but 60% of emissions and 
this was the most difficult area to target due to the length of travel 
involved.

 Slide 7 showed 3 categories of potential interventions such as 20-minute 
neighbourhoods where residents could access all key services within 
walking distance and therefore remove the need for short car trips.

 Slide 8 started to present some idea of the scale of change needed. 
These were not  targets per se but more of a starting sketch of the scale 
before us.

Page 2

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/climate-change/greener-gloucestershire-climate-action/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-2020-2041/gloucestershire-ltp-2020-2041/


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

 Slide 9 gave some thought to what the county could look like if all these 
changes were made, noting things such as increased online activity, 
excellent active and public transport provisions and smarter road 
networks and local planning.

 GCC had not stood still to date in this area, slide 10 showed what 
success had already been seen.

 Slide 13 showed the areas that would be a particular challenge and 
Members were reminded that there was a Climate Change Transport 
Forum on 19 July that they had been invited to attend.

Questions

4.2 It was illustrated by a show of hands that the majority of those who had 
travelled to the meeting today had done so via car, and therefore how 
difficult it was to travel across the county in a timely and suitable manner.

4.3 Members noted that Oxfordshire (which had been the comparator used for 
Gloucestershire to achieve in the public transport arena) represented roughly 
a doubling of bus use per person compared to this county. Their geography 
helped slightly as Oxford was in the middle, but Oxford had also been very 
progressive earlier on with their sustainable transport policy, they had 
introduced a zero emission zone, are planning a workplace parking levy and 
had done a lot of work promoting their park and ride services.

4.4 Whilst welcoming the vision presented in today’s presentation, a member 
queried whether work had been done on understanding the affordability of 
this level of change. Whilst acknowledging recent external funding success 
(particularly in relation to cycle infrastructure), it was accepted that there had 
also been failures and funding remained a key concern for the council. 
Where failures had occurred, the team were working hard to understand why 
this had happened and how to improve next time, and constantly continued 
to try and locate new funding opportunities. 

4.5 It was also acknowledged that it was not enough to simply invest and 
produce the large infrastructure, it was vital to also ensure existing measures 
were in place to support residents to use that infrastructure in the most 
efficient way. It was crucial that GCC was paving the way for private 
investment to plug the affordability gap. 

4.6 Members noted that the transport decarbonisation action plan was due by 
the end of this year/early next year. The intention was to have a set of 
measures that were carbon calculated, showing clearly how the targets 
would be achieved. The team were also keen to do a geographical analysis 
of the county’s most emitting corridors to use as case studies against the 
action plan.

4.7 A member suggested that the public transport targets appeared unambitious 
in comparison with other areas. It was advised that Gloucestershire was 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

starting from a lower proportion of public transport usage, plus there was 
nothing to suggest that the targets would remain stagnant. As the Plan 
developed, it was likely targets would continue to grow as well.

4.8 Members noted that officers continued to lobby rail companies for the 
electrification of lines going through Gloucestershire. They acknowledged the 
importance of this being done but confirmed it would depend on Government 
funding.

4.9 There was concern raised on the reliability of public transport in 
Gloucestershire, particularly considering the number of issues that had been 
experienced recently with buses being cancelled or not showing up. It was 
explained that the impact of Covid on public transport provision had been 
huge and was ongoing in terms of last-minute staff isolations, plus the 
industry had been badly affected by the HGV driver recruitment. 

4.10 Officers were aware of the problems and continued to engage with 
Stagecoach, who had given assurances that they were trying to tackle this 
through incentives. It was added that sometimes it simply was not viable for 
Stagecoach or the council to subsidise bus services that were not used. 
There needed to be a whole societal change to the way we travelled.

4.11 A member asked whether, when assessing schemes, carbon saving was 
considered as a metric, and whether there were other benefits measured 
against such as, active travel having health benefits, for example.

4.12 It was advised that all schemes went through cross benefit analysis before 
being finalised, and this would include comparing costs against the benefit to 
society. A number of benefits were taken into consideration including much 
wider analysis such as reduced road causalities etc. The Government was 
currently working to produce guidance to help local authorities better 
understand and calculate carbon savings on schemes. This was hopefully 
due in the autumn.

4.13 An action was taken to provide a summary of cost saved per tonne of carbon 
on schemes and a summary of how the costs/benefits were calculated.

ACTION: Luisa Senft-Hayward

4.14 On the topic of Electric Vehicle technology, it was noted what a challenge 
this will be for taxis both in terms of cost for the drivers themselves, but also 
having suitable access to public charging. It was advised that GCC were 
working closely with the district licensing authorities to make sure there were 
complimentary policies in place for this sector. The Government were 
providing nationwide grants for drivers making the change.

4.15 A member raised that they had noticed issues with ‘green wave’ traffic light 
systems not working (a green wave occurs when a series of traffic lights, 
usually three or more, are coordinated to allow continuous traffic flow over 
several intersections in one main direction). It was advised that a number of 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

signals in the town centres had been updated and there was more funding 
coming through the budget. It was noted how important working signals were 
for traffic flow and congestion in busy centres.

ACTION: Update on the Demand Responsive Transport trials in the 
Cotswolds and FOD

5. WORK PLAN 

Members noted the future items in the attached work plan and made the following 
additions:

 To receive a progress report on the Transport Decarbonisation Plan 
following today’s presentation.

 There was a request to look at broadband connectivity in the county. It was 
advised that whilst noting it was increasingly linking in to the climate change 
agenda, this was a remit discussion for Economic Growth Scrutiny. It was 
also advised that there had been a recent update report presented to the 
Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee (GEGJC). It was agreed 
that members would review this report and then decide if they would like to 
look into this item further.

ACTION: Send the GEGJC report to members (DSU)

 Members were disappointed that the draft Road Safety Policy had been 
pulled from today’s agenda and requested that this be rescheduled as soon 
as possible. It was advised that there had been a delay in the governance 
process which meant the draft Policy was delayed going to consultation. 

ACTION: Discuss with officers when suitable to reschedule (DSU)

6. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S REPORT: ECONOMY, ENVIRONMENT & 
INFRASTRUCTURE 

6.1 It was stressed that the current backlog in the Definitive Map Modification 
Order (DMMO) applications was unacceptable for residents’ awaiting 
resolutions. It was advised that the team had to prioritise the workload based 
on the Rights of Way Improvement Plan, to ensure there was a clear and 
transparent approach. In the 2022/23 budget, additional funding was 
approved to increase the team’s resources and recruitment was currently 
underway. The existing team had been working incredibly hard to manage 
competing interests and expectations of the public. Some residents required 
a disproportionate amount of the team’s time in this area, at the expense of 
the wider public.

6.2 A member suggested for officers to explore the option of replicating the 
Highways Academy for DMMO officers by offering apprenticeship schemes 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

etc. in conjunction with the University of Gloucestershire or the Royal 
Agriculture College to bring in the next generation of trained people. This 
would begin to solve our problem, plus providing people with jobs and 
creating a recruitment pool.

6.3 Officers responded that this would depend to some extent on resource and 
budget but the sentiment and intention behind the suggestion was agreed 
upon. 

6.4 A member raised that yet again, the county had no received a penny of 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) contributions from district councils who 
had adopted CIL (apart from Stroud). Whilst it was good to see that GCC 
was now part of the Joint Strategic Plan but the very high risk around the 
lack of CIL contributions remained.

6.5 It was reiterated that this issue had been going on for many years and 
caused a lot of concern for GCC. As the county were not a CIL charging 
authority, they had no power to request or require the money and it laid 
completely in the hands of the district councils on whether to pay it. In 
addition, GCC had recently made districts aware of the very worrying trend in 
level of Section 106 payments being received. The recent Infrastructure 
Funding Statement (which was published in December 2021) showed a 
decrease of around £18m received in Section 106 monies.

6.6 The impact of not receiving the money stretched far and wide. In the context 
of today’s discussion on transport decarbonisation, if GCC were unable to 
deliver local infrastructure such as new schools next to housing 
developments, children would then be allocated to schools away from their 
locality, which would then require families to travel either by car or require 
GCC to intervene with subsidising public transport provisions.

6.7 A member asked for an update on the stabilisation of A435 Cirencester 
Road.

ACTION: Jason Humm

7. CLIMATE LEADERSHIP GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

The report was noted.

CHAIR

Meeting concluded at 12:20.

Page 6

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2112528/gcc-ifs-2020-21-final.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2112528/gcc-ifs-2020-21-final.pdf


Environment Scrutiny Committee

Report Title: Electric Vehicle Infrastructure
Meeting Date: 13th July 2022
Chair: tbc
Presenting Officer: Steve Lowe
Purpose of Report: To provide the committee with an update on the status of the 

ULEV programme
Background 
Documents:

Cabinet decision to adopt ULEV Strategy - 23rd June 2021
Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy update – Cabinet 22nd 
December 2021

Appendices See presentation

Background

In July 2021 Cabinet approved the Gloucestershire Ultra Low Emission Vehicle (ULEV) 
strategy and delegated authority to officers to procure a supplier and implement a 
programme of investment in charge points.

Following a procurement exercise in autumn/winter 2021 bids were evaluated in early 2022 
and a 3-year contract (with options for three further one-year extensions) was awarded to 
Connected Kerb Ltd in April 2022. At the same time, a ULEV Programme Manager was 
appointed to lead on implementation of the roll out programme.

The contract is anticipated to deliver 500 double charge points of varying speeds, installed 
on-street.  It is anticipated that the Council’s investment of £620k into the programme will be 
supported by 60% match funding through the Government's On-street Residential 
Chargepoint Scheme (ORCS).

This paper summarises the work that has been carried out to date.

Strategic context for the EV Infrastructure Rollout

The importance of EV take-up and chargepoint infrastructure deployment as a necessary 
part of the county’s drive to become carbon neutral is reflected in all levels of strategy and 
policy by GCC and detailed in the Council Strategy, Local Transport Plan (LTP), Climate 
Change Strategy, ULEV Strategy as well as the Air Quality and Health Strategy and a corner 
stone of GCC’s emerging transport decarbonising work.

The  GCC Council Strategy priorities recognise the importance of EV charging infrastructure 
to address climate change and references the plan to deliver 1000 charge points in the next 
3 years.

In the GCC Climate Change Strategy the council commits that "We will take the lead on co-
ordinating the growth of electric vehicles and other low carbon transport, and the associated 
charging infrastructure." 
The adopted GCC Local Transport Plan commits to reduce carbon emissions by 2045 and 
promoting ULEV as a key component.

Page 7

Agenda Item 4

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2111899/gcc_3309-council-strategy-2022.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2094404/gloucestershire-climate-change-strategy.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2108466/ltp-policy-document-final-v132.pdf


Bringing forward EV take-up is a cornerstone of Gloucestershire’s emerging transport 
decarbonisation work: report to Environment Scrutiny (Agenda item 4)

The commitment of our partners is demonstrated in the draft Gloucestershire Local Industrial 
Strategy and the LEP’s commitment "to create a network of electric vehicle charging points 
across the county, including in rural areas."  

Section 5.4 of Gloucestershire's Air Quality and Health Strategy details the role of ULEV 
vehicles in addressing air quality and strategic actions such as charging infrastructure.

Gloucestershire's ULEV strategy sets out the strategic approach of how the council will 
enable the uptake of ULEVs across the county to support the shift away from fossil fuelled 
vehicles to ULEVs. Beneath the vision for increasing ULEV uptake are proposals for a ULEV 
network and an outline of the methods used to prioritise charging infrastructure 
implementation.

Procurement of a Contract for Chargepoints

A tendering process for EV charge points was undertaken in late 2021. In April 2022 a 
3+1+1+1 year contract was awarded to Connected Kerb. This provides for the end-to-end 
deployment of 1,000 on-street chargepoints by 2025 with a focus on residential on-street 
locations.  The contractual requirements on Connected Kerb are:

• Installation of 500 double chargers, with prices for various speeds.

• End to End Service for the deployment phase

• Installation - Groundworks (grid connections and construction)

• Servicing and Maintenance

• Software and Back Office

• Social value management

The contract has been structured to allow other public bodies (such as district and 
parish/town councils) to use the contract for ordering chargepoints on their premises.

Due to the variability of locations and associated connection costs, the contract operates 
flexibly allowing the delivery and associated costs to be managed on an ongoing basis 
against the overall GCC budget of £620k.

Phase 1 Deployment

We have carried out a desktop exercise to identify locations for the first phase of the charge 
point roll out using a range of inputs from:

 Heatmaps combining multiple datasets including demographic profiling and density of 
on-street parking

 Synergies with other strategies, e.g. in air quality management areas
 Residents’ requests
 Members’ requests
 Local parish/council requests
 District feedback

Page 8

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g10892/Public%20reports%20pack%20Tuesday%2024-May-2022%2010.00%20Environment%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2020/gloucestershire_draft_local-industrial-strategy_2019-updated.pdf
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2020/gloucestershire_draft_local-industrial-strategy_2019-updated.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s52324/Gloucestershire%20Air%20Quality%20and%20Health%20Strategy%20v.%204.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s72600/GCC%20ULEV%20Strategy_v4.0_FinalDraft.pdf


 Officers’ knowledge

Our priority is to invest in areas identified as having the greatest potential for chargepoint 
utilisation. These are highlighted in the heatmaps and as EV take-up increases, we expect 
these areas to grow.

Site Surveys

Having identified a ‘longlist’ of 51 locations these are currently being surveyed on site by 
Connected Kerb and their delivery partner to assess site suitability. 29 sites initially in 
Gloucester and Cheltenham were surveyed in June and other districts will be visited in July 
and August.

The survey scope covers a range of site-specific issues:

o Location suitability – e.g., pavement, road, other street furniture
o Residents on-street parking local density
o Alternative close sites considered where the location is not suitable
o Accessibility (including disabled access consideration)
o Power connections and cable runs
o Number of chargepoints
o Siting of chargepoint equipment
o Charging / parking bay layout

The site surveys generate a shortlist of sites to be examined in more detail, Connected Kerb 
are then required to bring forward proposals to cover: 

o Full site diagrams and documentation produced
o Electrical connection quotes requested from Western Power and SSE
o Quotations produced for each location
o Government funding applications submitted
o Document pack produced for each site
o Consultation with GCC local member and district council
o Local resident engagement

This process will weed out locations that are not suitable, e.g. due to high grid connection 
costs. Officers then finalise locations, costs, project plan and place order.

LEVI Pilot Funding Proposal – Rural Chargepoints

Gloucestershire is a largely rural county that has a particular challenge to decarbonise its 
transport system. The average trip length in rural areas is further than the average in 
Gloucestershire and trip patterns more dispersed than in urban areas. This makes it harder 
to substitute carbon intensive car trips with sustainable transport alternatives. 

At the end of March 2022 the government announced plans to increase funding in EV 
charging infrastructure through the Local Electric Vehicle Infrastructure (LEVI) scheme. 
Gloucestershire County Council officers submitted an expression of interest to take part in a 
£10m pilot phase, for 3 to 8 pilots.  Up to £450m of further funding opportunities is expected 
to follow in future years.

Page 9



The LEVI funding is in addition to the ORCS funding that is being used for the 1000 
chargepoint rollout.

A detailed LEVI Pilot funding proposal was produced and submitted on 17th June for £1.9M 
funding to target 40 key rural locations throughout Gloucestershire for EV chargepoints. The 
bid is based on installation being fully funded by the government and ongoing net costs 
being met by the owner authority, e.g. county council, district or parish. With the first phase 
of the council’s EV chargepoint rollout predominantly focused on high density urban 
locations. A successful LEVI bid would allow us to accelerate the roll out of EV charging in 
rural communities. The LEVI Pilot decision is expected in August.

Staff Fleet Migration

The GCC fleet replacement strategy is to replace fossil fuelled light and medium fleet 
vehicles with EVs and ULEV’s. This covers vehicles used by Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue 
Services, Highways, Adults and Children’s Services. Many fleet vehicles are near or at the 
end of their lease period and are due for replacement.

A prerequisite for the EV replacement to take place is to ensure that vehicles can be 
charged without impacting service delivery. Currently there are chargepoints installed at 
Shire Hall and these are being expanded to cater for the Edge of Care team which will be 
switching over to EV’s later this year. 

However, a key enabler of the wider fleet replacement plan will be the installation of a 
network of chargers across all sites. Surveys are underway to assess suitability of sites 
including Fire Stations, Highway depots, libraries, and car parks. The results of these 
surveys will be used to prioritise investment in chargers.

Officer Contacts

Steve Lowe, ULEV Programme Manager steve.lowe@gloucestershire.gov.uk

and

John Townsend, Corporate Fleet Unit Manager john.townsend@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 10

mailto:steve.lowe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:john.townsend@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Project Status

Steve Lowe

ULEV Programme Manager

July 2022

ULEV Chargepoint Project

P
age 11



Strategy In Place

• GCC Council Strategy – priorities recognise the importance of EV charging infrastructure to address climate change and the 
plan to deliver 1000 charge points in the next 3 years

• GCC Climate Change Strategy GCC commits to take the lead on co-ordinating the growth of electric vehicles and other low 
carbon transport, and charging infrastructure

• GCC Local Transport Plan commits GCC to reduce carbon emissions by 2045 and promoting ULEV as a key component

• Bringing forward EV take-up is a cornerstone of Gloucestershire’s emerging transport decarbonisation work: report to 
Environment Scrutiny (May 2022)

• The commitment of our partners is demonstrated in the draft Gloucestershire Local Industrial Strategy shows the LEP’s 
commitment "to create a network of electric vehicle charging points across the county, including in rural areas." 

• Gloucestershire's Air Quality and Health Strategy details the role of ULEV vehicles in addressing air quality and strategic 
actions such as charging infrastructure

• Gloucestershire's ULEV Strategy sets out the strategic approach of how the council will enable the uptake of ULEVs across 
the county to support the shift away from fossil fuelled vehicles to ULEVs.

Documented Strategy showing need for EV charging infrastructure

P
age 12

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2111899/gcc_3309-council-strategy-2022.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2094404/gloucestershire-climate-change-strategy.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2108466/ltp-policy-document-final-v132.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g10892/Public%20reports%20pack%20Tuesday%2024-May-2022%2010.00%20Environment%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2020/gloucestershire_draft_local-industrial-strategy_2019-updated.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s52324/Gloucestershire%20Air%20Quality%20and%20Health%20Strategy%20v.%204.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s72600/GCC%20ULEV%20Strategy_v4.0_FinalDraft.pdf


Procurement – Chargepoint Contract

3+1+1+1 Year Contract – scope: Focus of on-Street chargepoints

• Installation of 500 double chargers

• End to End Service for the deployment phase

• Installation - Groundworks (grid connections and construction)

• Servicing and Maintenance

• Software and Back Office

• Social value management

Contract can be re-used by other public bodies

• Districts, Parish councils etc

P
age 13



First phase locations identified

First phase locations identified from

• Heatmaps combining multiple datasets including demographic profiling and 
density of on-street parking

• Synergies with other strategies, e.g. in air quality management areas

• Residents’ requests

• Members’ requests

• Local parish/council requests

• District feedback

• Officers’ knowledge

P
age 14



Gloucestershire Heatmap

Density of on-street residential properties

P
age 15



Cheltenham

P
age 16



Gloucester

P
age 17



Forest of Dean

P
age 18



Stroud

P
age 19



Cotswold

P
age 20



Tewkesbury

P
age 21



Site Surveys
Longlist of 51 locations for the 1st stage
• Gloucester and Cheltenham proposed sites surveyed:

o Location suitability – e.g., pavement, road, other street furniture

o Residents on-street parking local density

o Alternative close sites considered where location not suitable

o Accessibility (including disabled access consideration)

o Power connections and cable runs

o Number of chargepoints

o Siting of chargepoint equipment

o Charging / parking bay layout

• Other district site surveys being scheduled – July / August

• Documentation produced

• Electrical grid connection quotes requested

P
age 22



Finalising Locations

• Full site diagrams and documentation produced

• Electrical connection quotes requested from Western Power and SSE

• Quotations produced for each location

• Government funding applications submitted

• Document pack produced for each site

• Consultation with GCC local member and district council

• Local resident engagement

This process will weed out locations that are not suitable, e.g.  high grid connection costs.

• Officers then finalise locations, costs, project plan and place order.

P
age 23



LEVI Pilot Funding Bid

Rural communities in danger of being left behind in the EV revolution
• Rural areas have the highest per capita transport carbon contribution

• Most have no access to chargepoints within easy travelling distance

• Lack of charging confidence holding up EV purchases

• LEVI Pilot funding - £10M for 3-8 awards

• Main LEVI Funding: £450M – to be announced later in the year

• LEVI Pilot bid
• £1.9M for 40 rural hub locations

• Mix of on-street and car park hubs

• Includes district and parish council sites

• LEVI Pilot outcome announcement expected in August

Chargepoints for 40 rural towns/village hubs

P
age 24



Staff Fleet Migration

• The GCC fleet replacement strategy is to replace fossil fuelled light and medium fleet 
vehicles with EVs and ULEV’s

• Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Services, Highways, Adults and Children's Services – many 
due for replacement

• EV Replacement needs EV charging access to avoid impacting service delivery

• GCC only have chargepoints at Shire Hall which are being expanded to cater for the Edge 
of Care team

• Key enabler of the wider fleet replacement plan will be the installation of a network of 
chargers across all sites

• Fire Stations, Highway depots, libraries and car parks

• Surveys underway

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Environment Scrutiny:
Natural Flood Management – a 

summary

13th July 2022

James Blockley - Gloucestershire County Council

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 5



What is NFM?

• Mimics nature

• Natural processes
– Slowing and reducing flows

– Increasing losses

– Attenuation

• Continuum
– Land use change

– Small interventions

– Larger schemes

P
age 28



Why is it important?

• Multiple benefits
– Water quality

– Biodiversity

– Habitat creation

– Carbon storage

• A tool in the box

• Health and wellbeing

P
age 29



How do we know it works?

• Monitoring

• Successful projects
– Stroud

– Evenlode

P
age 30



What are the constraints?

• Revenue not capital

• Landowner engagement

• Government funding

• Liability

P
age 31



What’s next?

• Building into current schemes

• Partnerships and networks

• Gloucestershire NFM project

P
age 32



Any questions?

floodriskmanagement@gloucestershire.gov.uk

P
age 33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

RESTORING OUR RIVERS TASK GROUP REPORT 
 

July 2022 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1. In September 2020, Motion 864 - Restoring our rivers was referred from 

Gloucestershire County Council’s (GCC) full council meeting to be considered by the 
Environment Scrutiny Committee (minutes of the full Council meeting can be found 
here). Members of the Committee, supported by the proposer and seconder of the 
motion, requested the formation of a task group to further explore this issue. This 
was also supported by the Cabinet Member responsible (minutes of the 
Environment Scrutiny Committee can be found here). 
 

1.2. Following this, in March 2021, Environment Scrutiny Committee approved a one-
page strategy request to establish a task group. The ambitions for the task group 
review were as follows: 

 

• To work with partners, NGOs and water treatment operators to understand the 
extent and derivation of pollution present in the county’s rivers. 

• To understand the extent of the damage this pollution is having on the 
ecosystems within our rivers. 

• To understand the legal context of permissible sewage dumps and whether this is 
being followed in the county. 

• To invite water treatment operators and other polluters to meet with officers and 
councillors to scrutinise their performance.  

• To explore the extent of wild swimming in Gloucestershire and the possibility of 
establishing a designated bathing area, as promoted by the Rivers Trust’s 
“Together for Rivers” campaign. 

 
(Copy of the full one-page strategy at Annex 1) 
 

1.3. Membership 
 
Councillors: Phil Awford, Cate Cody, Stephen Hirst, Paul Hodgkinson, Nicholas 
Housden, Graham Morgan, Dominic Morris, Susan Williams and David Willingham. 
 
Councillor Phil Awford was appointed as Chair. 
 
Supported by Democratic Services. 

 
1.4. Meetings  

 
1.4.1. The group first met on 10 August 2021 where they discussed an outline of the 

areas they would like to address. It was noted that the issue of river pollution 
was not one within GCC’s control or responsibility. The Group’s research and 
resulting recommendations would therefore be focused on external 
organisations. 
 

1.4.2. Members wanted to explore speaking to the following list of organisations:  

• Environment Agency  

• Ofwat 

• Gloucestershire water companies (Severn Trent, Thames, Wessex Water) 

• Windrush Against Sewage Pollution (WASP) 

• Save the Wye and The Friends of the Lower Wye 

Page 35

Agenda Item 6

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=333&MId=9405&Ver=4
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g10188/Printed%20minutes%20Wednesday%2009-Dec-2020%2010.00%20Environment%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=1


 

 

• Surfers Against Sewage  

• Rivers Trust 

• District partners  

• GCC flood team 

• Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust 

• City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council 

• Agriculture sector 
 

1.4.3. Members agreed due to the subject of this task group, as much as possible 
should be held in public session but understood there may be a need for 
private session to allow organisations to speak more freely. This would be 
decided on a meeting-by-meeting basis. 

 
2. RESEARCH AND DISCUSSION  

 
The following section summarises the Group’s findings meeting by meeting, which were 
a mixture of face to face and virtual. 
 
2.1. Evidence Gathering Session  
 

2.1.1. This meeting was a Q&A session to act as evidence gathering prior to the 
Group’s meeting with the water companies. The session was attended by 
representatives from Gloucester City Council, WASP, National Water Quality 
Scientist at Canal & River Trust, Surfers Against Sewage, Save The Wye and 
Friends on the Lower Wye and GCC. The key learning points were as follows. 
 

2.1.2. There was so much evidence indicating that rivers nationally were severely 
polluted, the pollution in the Wye specifically was a mixture between 
agriculture, sewage, climate change and planning. One of the most noticeable 
changes and resulting negative impacts for the Wye was the increase of 
poultry units. It was suggested that upper and lower catchments planning 
departments needed to discuss the number of approved applications. 

 
2.1.3. Water companies had permits which allowed them to spill untreated sewage 

into rivers in certain circumstances. For example, if there is heavy rainfall, the 
sewage systems have storm overflow units where they can store beyond 
capacity. When these get full, the permits for the companies allow them to 
spill into the river. The level of untreated spills from water companies into the 
rivers was beyond legal limits in many areas, some had been spilling for days 
and months without stopping, but this was happening unchecked by the 
regulators.  

 
2.1.4. It was suggested that the key would be to start charging water companies per 

litre for the untreated sewage that they spill into the rivers, which would bring 
market forces into the issue and make it more financially beneficial for water 
companies to treat rivers with respect. It was suggested that the fines as they 
existed did not act as enough of a deterrent. 

 
2.1.5. Due to the level of housing being built across the country in recent years, 

many of the new developments were being linked into existing, leaking, and 
ill-maintained sewage systems which were not adequate to begin with, let 
alone after adding 1000s of new houses onto them. 

 
2.1.6. It was highlighted that during Covid especially, there was an increase in 

residents going wild swimming. There was a wild swimming app which could 

Page 36



 

 

be used to locate places to swim, but the reality of the water quality on arrival 
was very different to that shown on the app. Representatives at the meeting 
reported being unwell after swimming in some of these recommended areas. 
It was likely there was also a misunderstanding amongst the general public 
that these rivers were naturally meant to be the colours that they were, when 
in reality a lot of the colour was due to pollution. 

 
2.1.7. It was added that it tended to be more effective to campaign on something 

that was a harm to human health, as opposed to the damage being done to 
the environment or nature. 

 
2.1.8. Whilst the Group were disappointed that the Environment Agency had not 

been able to attend this meeting, it was noted that the organisation was often 
trying its best to tackle these issues but may be stifled by legislation and its 
own capacity/funding. 

 
2.1.9. The Group noted that whilst they have no legal powers to recommend or 

request action, they had influence locally and that was what they hoped to use 
during this piece of work. 

 
2.2. Environment Agency  
 
This meeting was a member led Q&A with a representative from the Environment 
Agency (EA). The EA provided initial written responses to the Task Group (Annex 2) and 
answered supplementary questions at the meeting. The key points were as follows. 
 

2.2.1. Fines 

• It was clarified that there had recently been a change from the 
Sentencing Council to make fines more proportionate to the turnover of 
the company. Water companies essentially had budgets for fines which 
they expected each year. The money from these fines would go straight 
to the Treasury and therefore would not necessarily feed directly back 
into environmental projects. 

• The EA’s focus was on compliance and enforcement. The EA’s job was 
to bring the company or organisation to court, present the evidence and 
seek to gain a conviction. It was then the responsibility of the court to 
decide on the punishment. However, it was noted that Ofwat (Water 
Services Regulation Authority) could enforce penalties directly as a 
financial regulator which the EA could not. 

• Enforcement undertaking was an example of an alternative action that 
could be taken, instead of court proceedings, where water companies 
could pay a sum of money to a third-party e.g., a charity or organisation 
to do environmental good. 
 

2.2.2. Convictions 

• It was confirmed that in theory, individuals (such as chief executives) 
involved with water companies could be held accountable and prosecuted 
however, this would require specific evidence of deliberate wrongdoing 
which was hard to prove. 

• Case study examples were given which highlighted the considerable time 
it had taken in the past to convict water companies e.g., Southern Water 
Service were fined £126m fine in July 2021, however the whole process 
took 11 years before conviction.  

• Barriers to EA investigative efforts laid within a reduction in resources and 
funding. 

 

Page 37

https://www.ofwat.gov.uk/


 

 

2.2.3. Behaviour change 

• Even though the level of fines had gone up because of the change in 
sentencing rules, the EA had not seen a reduction in the need for 
enforcement. There were places across the region that had improved, but 
Gloucestershire was at the lower end of that improvement scale. 

• The Environment Act meant there was now a requirement for 
Government to publish plans to reduce sewage discharges from the 
storm overflows by September 2022 and to report progress to Parliament. 
It was noted however that Ofwat already did this, they released 5-year 
plans and associated budget.  

• The EA officer noted that any budget would need be radically different to 
bring about any real change, but this could end up resulting in higher 
water prices for the consumer.  

 
2.2.4. Monitoring by EA 

• The EA did a lot of automatic monitoring and analysing water samples, as 
well as comparing the water company data with environmental data. The 
process that the EA carried out for assessment was quite complicated 
and to decide whether a water body met environmental standard, 
involved multiple different determinations of content. 

• There were some citizen science packages available from the EA which 
Councillors could utilise to investigate water quality.  
 

2.2.5. Designated bathing water status 

• There was a huge difference between ‘bathing water status’ and ‘good 
ecological status’ (the latter was the level the EA had been working 
towards for 25 years). Bathing water status was another level up. Good 
ecological status worked towards improving the life in the rivers and 
would not be suitable for humans to swim in.  

• It was advised that a designated bathing water project would be difficult 
and expensive. Rivers worked very differently to lakes and ponds, where 
you could control what was going into the water. Likewise with upland 
rivers, it would be more possible to control inputs as there was little 
activity around them that could cause pollution. It would be essential to 
prove the socio-economic benefit for the entire area of the required 
bathing water status and once it was achieved, it would require significant 
monitoring. 

• Achieving a good standard quality of water for humans to swim in would 
impact the ecology of the rivers, as it would result in the level of nutrients 
changing and therefore the levels of plant and life could change.  
 

2.3. Water Companies 
 
Members met with each water company separately in turn (Thames Water, Severn 
Trent, and Wessex Water), each supplied a set of written answers prior to the 
meeting (Annex 3 (to follow), 4 and 5) and supplementary/additional questions were 
asked at the meeting. The key points from all three sessions were as follows. 

 
2.3.1. Fines 

• Thames Water explained they did not find fines useful, as this took away 
money from what they could spend on customers. Even though fines 
were a driver for companies to ‘do the right thing’, this was not the most 
important driver. Doing the good thing as a business, for communities 
and local rivers formed a much bigger driver for the business and their 
shareholders were invested in this belief.  

Page 38



 

 

• Wessex Water noted that fines resonated with shareholders and the 
executive. They had more recently worked to promote environmental 
enforcement undertakings rather than fines, as they believed that this 
was a better solution, and it ensured that the money went back to the 
environment, rather than the Treasury. This had challenged Wessex 
Water to work with local groups and the environment where they had 
caused impact to give a positive environmental result. 
 

2.3.2. Targets 

• Thames Water aimed to have zero pollution by 2050. 
 

• Severn Trent  
▪ In terms of the timescale to eliminate sewage outflows, they did not 

want to make a zero promise in terms of spills as it relied on huge 
investments that may not be the best overall thing for the 
environment or economy. 

▪ They were committed to achieving net zero on carbon emissions by 
2030 and to become a carbon negative business by 2040. 

▪ Severn Trent were also looking to resolve all the reasons for not 
achieving a good RNAG status by 2030, using the current investment 
period and the following 5-year. 
 

• Wessex Water 
▪ Wessex Water stated that they had not specified a target for 

eliminating sewage overflows by a particular time frame, noting that 
this would involve a collaborative approach working with local 
authorities to understand where they all had a part to play.  

▪ They were committed to the target of net zero operational carbon 
emissions by 2030 and full de-carbonisation of all aspects of work by 
2040. 
 

2.3.3. Dividends 

• Thames Water stated that they did not pay dividends and had not for the 
past 4 years. Any profit the company made was reinvested to fix issues. 

• Severn Trent confirmed that the dividend payment last year to 
shareholders was £64 million and over a five year average the dividend 
payment was £187 million. They invested more than their TOTEX 
allowance and would continue to invest effectively for their infrastructure 
network to implement major changes. They hope to invest more following 
the Environment Bill and a clear steer from Government. 

• Wessex Water explained that their profit after tax in 2020 was £68.8 
million. Their shareholders were investing huge amounts within their 
region, therefore the profits from Wessex Water were repurposed and 
used as part of that housing and economic regeneration in local area e.g., 
in North Bristol, Filton air strip. 

 

2.3.4. Contribution to public awareness 

• It was suggested that local planning authorities could do more to enforce 
driveway changes e.g., paving over front garden which caused more 
surface water run off. 

• Severn Trent had set up a ‘Network Protection Team’ to go out and talk to 
community groups and on doorsteps in areas where there were blocked 
drain problems e.g., with wet wipes. 

 
2.4. City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council  

Page 39



 

 

 
Members learnt through their initial research that the River Wharfe in Ilkley had the 
first, and only, designated bathing area in the UK. The Group were keen to 
understand the reality of the application process and implementation of this status. 
The key points were as follows. 
 

2.4.1. The process was difficult and involved a lot of intricacies to achieve. 
 

2.4.2. One of the biggest challenges was people understanding what the 
designation meant and how quickly improvements would be made. Just 
because the area of water was ‘designated for bathing’ did not mean that it 
was suitable for humans to swim in. 
 

2.4.3. The designation meant that the EA would regularly test the water quality, and 
the results of this testing determined whether it is safe to swim or not: Ilkley 
River Wharfe bathing site gets 'poor' water quality rating - BBC News. 
 

2.4.4. The community group (Clean River Group) was very proactive in its efforts to 
improve the water quality, and in achieving the bathing status, the process of 
which was as follows: 
• The council were approached by the Clean River Group.  

• The Group submitted the application, and the council provided a letter of 

support. The group provided information on facilities available at the site 

and number of swimmers (swimmer counts for a 30-day period of bathing 

season).  

• Each year the EA carried out water quality monitoring from May to 

September and the output of that testing would then define the status of 

the bathing water for the following year. In terms of responsibility, the local 

authority was the landowner, the EA were responsible for monitoring the 

water quality and Yorkshire Water were responsible for keeping 

discharges within their permitted levels. 

• As the local authority, the council had to commission a water safety 

strategy for the district which determined all the areas where people had 

access to water to swim. Moreover, the responsibilities of the council as a 

landowner were to ensure appropriate signage was made available to 

show the status of the water quality. If there was a major pollution 

incident, the EA would deal with this, but the council would be required to 

put this information out to the public through designated signs at the site, 

council websites and social media etc.  

• The EA did not carry out any monitoring in 2020 due to the pandemic and 

therefore, 2021 was the first official year that the water quality had been 

monitored.  

• The officer noted that despite receiving a poor water rating quality in 2021, 

the project had sparked other investments into the area from e.g. 

Yorkshire Water: 

o Installation of a bypass sewer (£6-8 million) 

o Upgrading of sewage treatment works 

o Infiltration to reduce surface water  

• A good working relationship with Rivers Trust, the EA and community 

groups was very important when starting this process, as well as a 

Page 40

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-leeds-60044492
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-leeds-60044492


 

 

collaborative approach between these groups. The officer noted that for 

Gloucestershire, the relationship with Severn Trent would be important. 

 

2.5. Agriculture 
 

This meeting was a member led Q&A with a representative from the National 

Farmers Union (NFU) and the Rural Estates Manager at GCC. The following key 

points were highlighted. 

 

2.5.1. There were a number of pressures on the farming community at the moment, 
be that the changes due to Brexit, trading arrangements, financially or 
environmentally.  
 

2.5.2. The UK had high environmental standards. A number of those standards were 
underpinned by insurance schemes and regulations. In terms of water quality:   
• Farmers are required by law to not cause or knowingly pollute any water 

course (Water Resources Act 1991).  

• SSAFO (Storing Silage, Slurry and Agricultural Fuel Oil Order): A 

Regulation whereby farmers were required to keep their infrastructure at a 

standard that would not cause a significant risk to the environment. 

Farmers must get permission from the EA for any new infrastructure. 

• Nitrate Vulnerable Zones (NVZ): There were a number of areas in 

Gloucestershire that would be covered by NVZ. These areas were 

identified where the water courses had more than 11.3 milligrams of 

nitrate per litre. There was evidence to show that agriculture had a part to 

play in this.  

• Farming Rules for Water (or The Reduction and Prevention of Agricultural 

Diffuse Pollution (England) Regulations)  

 

2.5.3. One of the most important Regulations was Rule 1 – Application of organic 
manures and manufactured fertiliser, which was to ensure farmers met the 
requirements for nutrient levels in where they were growing crops. This was 
having a profound effect across the sector in adjusting to meet these 
requirements. 
 

2.5.4. It was important to work with farmers to provide an individual holistic service. 
Looking at their individual businesses to see what could be done to help them 
meet the regulatory requirements and other things they could deliver in terms 
of environmental services to promote a profitable and viable business. 

 
2.5.5. There had been some funding opportunities e.g., free advice sessions that 

some farmers had attended to look at ways to transition their farms from BPS 
to ELMS. However, even the most efficient farmers may not survive through 
all the changes at play. Farmers were looking at new ways to farm and alter 
their traditional practices e.g., reducing their use of fertilizer and using manure 
more effectively. However, changes were not always possible or appropriate 
for all farms as individual farms had individual capabilities and constraints.   

 

2.6. OFWAT 
 

This meeting was a member led Q&A with a representative from Ofwat, following a 

review of pre-submitted papers (Annex 6). The following key points were highlighted. 

Page 41

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/57/contents
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/storing-silage-slurry-and-agricultural-fuel-oil
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/nitrate-vulnerable-zones
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/151/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/151/contents/made


 

 

 

2.6.1. Ofwat were the economic regulator of water and sewage companies, formed 
by the Water Industry Act 1991 and governed through a Strategic Priority 
Statement set by DEFRA and the Welsh Government, which gave Ofwat 
guidance on how to operate and the power to create secondary legislation. 
They remained independent from Government. 
 

2.6.2. The Act outlined very specific powers for the regulator. Their primary role was 
to work with the water companies to set their 5-yearly targets. They also had 
some dispute resolution powers – e.g., they had recently fined Thames Water 
£100m for not meeting their leakage targets. 

 
2.6.3. However, if they were able to in the circumstance, Ofwat tended to avoid 

issuing fines as any money received went straight back to the Treasury. What 
they preferred to do was gain a section 19 undertaking instead which meant 
the company did not get a criminal prosecution but were required to undertake 
something to mitigate their wrongdoing e.g., something in the interest of their 
customers/environment.  

 
2.6.4. Their secondary duties included water supply licences, resilience, and price 

fixing/charges. Ofwat were the customer voice to the water companies, 
making sure they delivered what their customers expected. 

 
2.6.5. Ofwat had a 5-year rolling cycle business plan and they had just entered AMP 

7 (7th cycle since privatisation in 1989). They believed that 5 years was the 
right cycle for the water sector, reaching a good balance between reacting to 
customers, economic market, Covid etc. but also allowing water companies 
chance to implement their longer-term commitments. 

 
2.6.6. It was explained that if a problem arose within the 5-year cycle (meaning the 

funding was fixed and allocated for that period) companies had two options, 
they could use an IDoK request where they would need to demonstrate that 
something substantial had happened since the business plan was put in 
place, and there was therefore a need to reopen the process. There was also 
the WINEP (Water Industry National Environment Programme) which offered 
separate funding from the EA for delivery of environmental schemes. 

 
2.6.7. Each 5-year plan for Ofwat went through a consultation process, the Group 

voiced that they would want to respond to the next consultation. 
 

2.6.8. Water companies were obliged to report properties at risk of foul flooding and 
what they planned to do to mitigate this risk. They had done a lot of work to 
reduce the number of properties at risk in recent years and it was considered 
a very serious issue by the water companies. 

 

2.7. Save the Wye and The Friends of the Lower Wye 
 

This session gave members an insight into the most current work by Save the Wye 

and The Friends of the lower Wye groups. The following key points were highlighted. 

 

2.7.1. Save the Wye was formed about 18 months ago and work closely with 
Friends of the Lugg, Witham, Upper Wye and Lower Wye.  
 

Page 42

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/56/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategic-policy-statement-to-ofwat-incorporating-social-and-environmental-guidance/february-2022-the-governments-strategic-priorities-for-ofwat
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategic-policy-statement-to-ofwat-incorporating-social-and-environmental-guidance/february-2022-the-governments-strategic-priorities-for-ofwat


 

 

2.7.2. Results showed that pollution problems (particularly in the lower Wye) derived 
60% from agricultural practices, 30% from sewer waste and 10% from other 
waste.  

 
2.7.3. River Action recently published a group of demands, and Save the Wye were 

supportive of these. They confirmed that the pollution levels in the Wye 
warranted an emergency situation and the Group estimated that they had two 
years to save the Wye. Their specific calls for action were as follows: 

 
1. Stop new intensive poultry units 
2. Stop polluting catchment with manure  
3. Develop river friendly farming  
4. Create a water protection zone if needed 
5. Create cross boarder task force empowered with enabling to deliver 

actions on the ground. 
 

2.7.4. The groups had begun to engage with local MPs.  
 

2.7.5. The recently published Environment Audit Committee report, ‘Water quality in 
rivers’, stated that a ‘cocktail of sewage, slurry and plastic’ was polluting all 
English rivers. This was because of insufficient investment, ineffective 
monitoring, inadequate reporting, weak regulation, and enforcement which 
was putting public health at risk and also leading to a fresh water eco system 
collapse. 

 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
Point to note: Throughout the Group’s research, they noted that there was a fundamental 
issue of connectivity and information sharing between the different parties who had 
responsibilities for river pollution. The disconnect made it very difficult to understand who 
was accountable for what area. There was also a major issue of underfunding in this area, 
particularly for the Environment Agency. 

 
1. GCC to encourage their rural estate farmers to engage with relevant expert 

organisations such as the Environment Agency, and to adopt agricultural practices 

that address river pollution and improve water quality. GCC to advise and signpost its 

tenants to appropriate training opportunities being provided by third parties to help 

further their understanding of water quality and biodiversity matters. 

 

(Responsibility of Rural Estates at GCC) 
 

2. To identify and write to local organisations and individuals in the county already 

undertaking Citizen Science Data Collection on river pollution levels, to link them up 

with the Environment Agency and local water companies who may be able to assist 

in providing data collection equipment.  

 
(Responsibility of the Task Group/Democratic Services) 
 

3. To share the final report with all six Gloucestershire MPs and request a meeting to 

discuss the recommendations, the current law on sewage spills into the rivers, 

funding for the Environment Agency and the idea of taxing water company profits per 

discharge event, which would then be used to fund environmental pollution clean 

ups, rather than going back directly to the Treasury.  

 
(Responsibility of the Task Group/Democratic Services) 

Page 43

https://riveractionuk.com/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/8460/documents/88412/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/8460/documents/88412/default/


 

 

 
4. To identify ‘hot spot’ river areas (one in each district) to focus initial investigation, 

investments, and efforts and to then use these as a guide for future improvements in 

other river areas. 

 

The Task Group envisage that the above investigation and investment would 

eventually lead to applications for bathing water status in some areas of the county 

(further detail on the process for designation can be found here). 

 
(Responsibility of the Task Group/Democratic Services) 
 

5. To reconvene after 6 months to check progress on the recommendations, with a view 

of considering regular 6-monthly monitoring meetings going forward. These meetings 

could also be used to stay in contact and up to date with local pressure groups who 

have helped inform this piece of work. 

 
(Responsibility of Corporate Scrutiny to approve and then the Task 
Group/Democratic Services) 
 

6. To respond to Ofwat’s consultation on their draft methodology for the 2024 price 

review via the Environment Scrutiny with officer support. 

 
(Responsibility of the Task Group/Democratic Services) 
 

7. Communications and Sustainability teams at GCC to approach local water 

companies to offer support on environmental awareness campaigns and messaging 

to help amplify and share their content by linking up with the Greener Gloucestershire 

website, newsletter, and corporate social media account.  

 
(Responsibility of Communications/Sustainability) 
 

8. To share the Task Group’s report with the six district council Planning Committee’s 

and to request that more weight be given to mitigating river pollution incidents when 

considering planning applications.   

 
(Responsibility of the Task Group/Democratic Services) 

 
Cllr Phil Awford 
Cllr Cate Cody 
Cllr Stephen Hirst 
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson 
Cllr Nicholas Housden 
Cllr Graham Morgan 
Cllr Dominic Morris 
Cllr Susan Williams 
Cllr David Willingham 

Page 44

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/bathing-waters-apply-for-designation-or-de-designation


SCRUTINY REVIEW – ONE PAGE STRATEGY 

Broad topic area Environment 

Specific topic area Pollution in Gloucestershire’s Rivers 

Ambitions for the 

review 

 

 

 

 

 

 To work with partners, NGOs and water treatment operators to 

understand the extent and derivation of pollution present in the 

county’s rivers 

 To understand the extent of the damage this pollution is having on 

the ecosystems within our rivers 

 To understand the legal context of permissible sewage dumps and 

whether this is being followed in the county. 

 To invite water treatment operators and other polluters to meet with 

officers and councillors to scrutinise their performance.  

 To explore the extent of wild swimming in Gloucestershire and the 

possibility of establishing a designated bathing area, as promoted by 

the Rivers Trust’s “Together for Rivers” campaign 

How do we 

perform at the 

moment? 

 

 In 2019 water treatment operators discharged raw sewage into 

English rivers on more than a combined 55,000 occasions, totalling 

nearly 400,000 hours.   

 While discharges are legally permitted in exceptional circumstances, 

operators have been accused of routinely resorting to such 

measures.   

 Members of the public are concerned by this threat to public health. 

 Gloucestershire has just one designated outdoor bathing water spot 

in Gloucestershire, at the Cotswold Country Park and Beach. 

Who and how 

should we consult? 

 Environment Agency 

 Water operators: Severn Trent, Thames Water and Wessex Water 

 District Councils 

 NGOs including Windrush Against Sewage Pollution 

 The Rivers Trust 

 And any other relevant evidence providers. 

Background 

information 

In September 2020, a motion was referred from full Council to be 

considered by the Environment Scrutiny Committee on this topic.  

(Minutes of the full Council meeting can be found here: 

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=333&

MId=9405&Ver=4) 

 

Members of the Committee, supported by the proposer and seconder of 

the motion, requested the formation of a task group to further explore this 

issue. This was also supported by the Cabinet Member responsible. 

Support 

 

 Democratic Services 

 Other specialist GCC officers and teams as required 

How long will it 

take? 

6 months (post the May 2021 election) 

Outcomes  A greater understanding of the levels of pollution in our rivers 

 A plan of action for dealing with river pollution  

 A action plan to achieving bathing water status for our rivers 

 

Page 45

https://www.theriverstrust.org/together-for-rivers/
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=333&MId=9405&Ver=4
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=333&MId=9405&Ver=4
sbenfield
Typewritten Text
ANNEX 1



ANNEX 2 

QUESTION RESPONSES FROM THE ENVIRONMENT AGENCY 
 

1. What punishments are available for the EA to use against water companies? 
 

The Environment Agency does not punish anyone that is a matter for the courts.  I attach 
a link to our policy on how we go about responding to non-compliance which, in some 
cases, leads to prosecution where the courts impose sanctions.  You will note in my 
response to the next bullet that OFWAT has a different status and can impose penalties 
directly. 

 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environment-agency-enforcement-and-
sanctions-policy 

 
2. What examples have they got of securing convictions for those breaking the rules? 

 
You can search for these online following the link here: 

 
https://environment.data.gov.uk/public-register/view/search-enforcement-action 

 
Recent example: 
Southern Water Services has been handed a £90 million fine after pleading guilty to 
polluting rivers and coastal waters in Kent, Hampshire and Sussex. 
 
The illegal sewage discharges took place across seventeen sites between 2010-2015, 
causing harm to marine protected areas, conservations sites and oyster beds. The 
combined total time of these discharges across the 17 sites was equivalent to one pipe 
discharging sewage continually for 7 years. 
 
The Environment Agency’s five-year criminal investigation began after monitoring 
showed water quality around shellfish beds was continuously deteriorating across the 
three counties. 
 
During their investigations, officers uncovered deliberate activity by Southern Water to 
redirect raw sewage away from their treatment works and into the environment. This 
created a misleading picture of compliance with Environment Agency and Ofwat 
regulations. 
 
Ofwat’s subsequent investigation into the financial aspects of the case led to Southern 
Water being obliged to pay £126m in penalties and payments to customers in October 
2019. 
 
We then took Southern Water to court on the environmental damage aspects of the 
case. When the prosecution commenced Southern Water Services pleaded guilty to 51 
charges at Maidstone Crown Court in March 2020. 
 
Due to COVID-19 restrictions, the sentencing was postponed until 8 July 2021. 

 
3. What evidence do they have that water companies have subsequently changed their 

behaviour? 
 

I don’t have an analysis of changing behaviour that I can comment on. 
 

4. What powers does the EA have to demand improvements to water systems? 
 

Page 46

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environment-agency-enforcement-and-sanctions-policy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environment-agency-enforcement-and-sanctions-policy
https://environment.data.gov.uk/public-register/view/search-enforcement-action


ANNEX 2 

Through the Asset Management Programmes that are implemented by the companies 
with agreed budgets from OFWAT as the financial regulator.  We can also enforce the 
conditions in the permits that we issue to individual sites.  I refer to the Sanctions Policy 
above 

 
5. What power does the EA have to stop millions in dividends being paid out? 

 
None at all.  We are an environmental regulator. OFWAT is the government body that 
regulates investment and profit in the Water Sector. 

 
6. What monitoring does the EA undertake of the rivers? 

 
We operate an extensive monitoring regime both automatic and routine spot samples. 
These are processed through our National Laboratory Service and the data is available 
online. https://environment.data.gov.uk/water-quality/view/landing. The information is 
used to assess whether the water bodies are reaching their designated quality standard 
under the Water Framework Directive (WFD). 

 
Good Environmental Status is defined:   

 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/1623/pdfs/uksiod_20151623_en_auto.pdf 

 
7. Has the water quality improved or deteriorated in the last 5 and 10 years? 

 
It has plateaued in the last 5 years with only 14% of rivers meeting “Good” status in 
2016. There have been improvements over the last 25 years, for example wastewater 
treatment works put 60% less phosphate and 70% less ammonia into the water 
environment than they did in 1995, but the general upward trend has not continued. 

 
8. What level of pollutants is acceptable to the EA? 

 
Good Status for the Water Framework Directive.   

 
9. What level of pollutants is detrimental to the ecology? 

 
Good Ecological Status: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/407/contents/made 
 
10. What do we need to do to eradicate CSOs once and for all? 

 
To avoid them would require either separate foul/surface water systems nationally or 
significant storage to cope with storm surge flows. 

 

Page 47

https://environment.data.gov.uk/water-quality/view/landing
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/1623/pdfs/uksiod_20151623_en_auto.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/407/contents/made


1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gloucestershire County 

Council  

Restoring our Rivers Group 

ANNEX 4 

Page 48



2 

Thames Water pre-reading  

Question: The amount of rivers under their control in the county 
As a Water and Sewage undertaker we do not have rivers under our control. We are responsible for 

providing clean water for and wastewater services which will include abstracting from the environment for 

cleanwater production and discharge treated/partially treated sewage effluent back into the Evenlode, 

Windrush and Upper Thames river catchments. 

 

 
Gloucestershire covers part of our Thames Valley region cutting across the most western stretch through  

 

 
 

Thames Water 

region covering 

Gloucestershire 

Page 49



3 

Question: The context of discharges into rivers – why they do so 
We are absolutely committed to protecting and enhancing our rivers and the communities who love them. 

Putting untreated sewage into rivers is unacceptable to us, to our customers and to the environment. 

Sewers carry high volumes of water, but occasionally rainfall is so severe or prolonged it can overwhelm 

the system forcing wastewater up through manholes in streets and gardens or discharge into rivers via 

consented overflows. This is, of course, undesirable but it’s necessary when our sewer capacity becomes 

overloaded. It is also the way the system was originally designed to operate and we’re investing now and 

in the future to try and reduce the frequency of these discharges.  

 

All discharges from sewage treatment works are regulated by the Environment Agency who issue 

bespoke discharge consents to ensure the volume and quality of the treated sewage effluent does not 

impact on the water quality of the receiving water body. We recently begun monitor spills from sewage 

treatment works (STW) and this data is uploaded annually onto our website. Using Event Duration 

monitors (EDMs) we have been learning more about how frequently our overflows are used and this will 

help us prioritise investment in the future. This data is being collected over a long period of time (multiple 

years as weather patterns are varied) to understand the impact surface water is having and if a STW 

needs to treat more flow it will be studied and upgraded.  

  

We're working hard to make discharges unnecessary, with the help of the government, Ofwat and the 

Environment Agency. Our business plan, spanning 2020-2025, will deliver environmental improvements 

to 745km of rivers including large scale investment into a number of catchments across the 

Gloucestershire region. For example Cirencester sewage treatment works (STW) is due to be upgraded 

over the next couple of years to increase the volume of flow its able to treat and also increase the storm 

tank capacity on site, we also have similar plans at Fairford STW & Ampney St Peter and Moreton in the 

Marsh. 

 

It’s not always the answer to keep upgrading treatment works, the more sustainable approach is to 

reduce flows coming into the treatment works. We recognise more work needs to be done in this space, 

particularly when it comes to infiltration. Infiltration occurs predominantly during winter/spring months 

when groundwater levels are high resulting in clean water infiltrating into the sewer network eating up 

capacity. A number of catchments across the Gloucestershire region suffer from this seasonal infiltration, 

and this affects the sewer network at the same time placing significant pressure on STWs. We are 

working to tackle some of the root causes and in the short term our operational teams have been working 

hard carrying out lift and look surveys & CCTV investigations to identify sources of water ingress. As a 

result, we have repaired sections of high risk sewers and sealed a number of manhole covers. 

Long term we are developing a Groundwater Impacted System Management Plan (GISMP) for 56 

sewerage systems across the Thames Valley. GISMPs are agreed by the Environment Agency and 

published on our website. They outline the short, medium and long term interventions to tackling 

infiltration in the sewerage system. Details can be found here for specific catchments 

https://www.thameswater.co.uk/about-us/regulation/drainage-plans. We are building evidence for a more 

strategic wholesale approach to sewer lining to line large portions of the network in the high-risk 

groundwater areas of the network for each system. We are not funded to deliver this level of lining in this 

funding period (2020-25), however, where interventions can be undertaken as part of routine sewer 

maintenance activities these will be communicated and progressed separately. 

 

Eliminating discharges is not going to be quick, easy, or inexpensive and we welcome the continued 

support of our customers and regulators, who are equally passionate about this topic, as well as 

extensive collaboration with local communities and other stakeholders, to achieve cleaner rivers.   

  

We absolutely want to go further, invest more, and play our part in helping the environment to thrive. 

There is a long way to go – and we certainly can’t do it on our own – but the ambition is clear. 

 

 

Levels of discharge over time – have they increased / decreased 
As mentioned above we have only recently begun monitoring these discharges. We have 2019 and 2020 

data uploaded onto our website and we need a number of years’ worth of data to understand trends and 

buffer out weather patterns. Having said that we are actively investigating the worst offending discharge 

Page 50

https://www.thameswater.co.uk/about-us/performance/river-health
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/about-us/regulation/drainage-plans


4 

locations now, understanding whether we can fund or reprioritise investment to those locations now or 

ask for additional funding in future business plans (2025-2030). 

 

Any plans to reduce discharges 
There is no single fixed solution for tackling sewage discharges, it’s a complex issue and our roadmap 

towards reducing discharges includes a number of activities aimed at improving the resilience of the 

sewerage system by reducing the connectivity and impact from rainfall and groundwater on our pipes and 

treatment works. 

Some of the works to tackle sewer discharges include: 

• Increasing the treatment and storage capacity of many of our sewage treatment works – 

delivered through the WINEP. 

• Improving our sewer network in areas where it is most affected by groundwater flowing into it – 

see our drainage plans. 

• Further rollout of EDMs to monitor and prioritise worst performing sewer systems alongside 

trialling a live notification system for inland rivers.  

• Surface water management programme targeted at rerouting roofs, hardstanding areas and land 

drainage away from entering our sewer system or attenuate it to provide a slower response.  

• Deliver the industry’s first approach at long term planning for wastewater assets. Drainage and 

Wastewater Management Plans (DWMPs) will produce a range of options focused on managing 

the long term affects of growth, climate change and urban creep on the sewer system up to 

2050.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 51

https://www.thameswater.co.uk/about-us/regulation/drainage-plans
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/about-us/regulation/drainage-and-wastewater-management
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/about-us/regulation/drainage-and-wastewater-management


5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



Gloucestershire County Council: Pollution in Gloucestershire’s Rivers Wessex Water 
Update 

15th November 2021 

Introduction 

Wessex Water is a regional water and sewerage business serving 2.8 million customers 
across the south west of England including Dorset, Somerset, Bristol, most of Wiltshire and 
parts of Gloucestershire and Hampshire. 

The Bristol and Bath area in the north west has a population of around 750,000 and in the 
south east the Bournemouth and Poole area has about 300,000 residents. 

The region’s landscape is varied, ranging from the Mendip Hills and the levels of Somerset 
to the cliffs of Dorset and Wiltshire’s Salisbury Plain. The two coastlines have a number of 
popular holiday resorts such as Weston super Mare and Minehead on the north coast and 
Bournemouth, Poole and Weymouth on the south coast. 

Since May 2002 we have been owned by YTL Power International of Kuala Lumpur, 
Malaysia. YTL has demonstrated a long-term commitment to us, enabling us to develop and 
continue to provide a first class service to our customers. 

Water Recycling Centres  

Gloucestershire is at the northern most part of Wessex Water’s sewerage area, serving a 
small number of customers.   

The table below identifies the waterbodies within Wessex Water’s operational area and their 
most recent classification status under the Water Framework Directive, as determined by the 
Environment Agency. 

Waterbody Overall 
class 

Ecological 
class 

Chemical 
class 

Chemical 
status 

Sherston Avon Poor Poor Fail Uncertain 
Tetbury Avon - unnamed trib to conf 
Sherston Avon 

Moderate Moderate Fail Uncertain 

Little Avon R - source to conf 
Ozleworth Bk 

Poor Poor Fail Uncertain 

Tortworth Bk - source to conf R LIttle 
Avon 

Moderate Moderate Fail Uncertain 

Little Avon - Ozleworth Bk to conf 
Tortworth Bk 

Moderate Moderate Fail Uncertain 

Ozleworth Bk - source to conf Little 
Avon R 

Moderate Good Fail Uncertain 

Little Avon - conf Tortworth Bk to 
mouth 

Moderate Moderate Fail Uncertain 

Doverte Brook Moderate Moderate Fail Uncertain 
Oldbury Naite Rhine Moderate Moderate Fail Uncertain 
Shire Bourne Moderate Moderate Fail Uncertain 
Tetbury Avon - source to conf 
unnamed trib 

Moderate Moderate Fail Uncertain 

Table 1: Water Framework classification of waterbodies in the Wessex Area (Glos CC) 

This illustrates that according to EA data (National and publicly available data), all 
waterbodies fail for chemical status, with 9 waterbodies at moderate overall status and 2 

Page 53

http://www.ytlpowerinternational.com/
https://environment.data.gov.uk/catchment-planning/
sbenfield_1
Typewritten Text
ANNEX 5



only achieving poor status.  There will be many factors and sectors which contribute towards 
these classifications.   

All these waterbodies fail due to the presence of the following chemicals: mercury and its 
compounds; Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDE), whilst one waterbody also additionally 
fails for Perfluorooctane sulphonate (PFOS).   These chemicals are widespread across the 
UK and are ubiquitous.  The Environment Agency’s guidance on the subject1 notes that 
“mercury and two Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs), polybrominated diphenylether 
(PBDE; used as flame retardants) and perfluorooctane sulphonic acid (PFOS; a textile stain 
repellent and fire-fighting chemical) are often found at elevated levels. Although these 
substances are now banned or restricted in the UK, they break down very slowly so can 
remain in the environment for decades”. 

Further EA data identifies the ‘Reasons for not achieving good’ status, the table below 
highlights those which are attributes to the water industry and specifically wastewater assets: 

Water Body Classification 
Status 

Classification 
Element 

Business 
Sector 

Activity 

Little Avon R - source to 
conf Ozleworth Bk 

Poor Phosphate Waste water 
treatment 

Sewage 
discharge 
(continuous) 

Tortworth Bk - source to 
conf R LIttle Avon 

Poor Phosphate Waste water 
treatment 

Sewage 
discharge 
(continuous) 

Little Avon - conf 
Tortworth Bk to mouth 

Poor Phosphate Waste water 
treatment 

Sewage 
discharge 
(continuous) 

Tortworth Bk - source to 
conf R LIttle Avon 

Moderate Macrophytes and 
Phytobenthos 
Combined 

Waste water 
treatment 

Sewage 
discharge 
(continuous) 

Little Avon R - source to 
conf Ozleworth Bk 

Poor Macrophytes and 
Phytobenthos 
Combined 

Waste water 
treatment 

Sewage 
discharge 
(continuous) 

Doverte Brook Moderate Phosphate Waste water 
treatment 

Sewage 
discharge 
(continuous) 

Little Avon - Ozleworth Bk 
to conf Tortworth Bk 

Poor Phosphate Waste water 
treatment 

Sewage 
discharge 
(continuous) 

Doverte Brook Moderate Macrophytes and 
Phytobenthos 
Combined 

Waste water 
treatment 

Sewage 
discharge 
(continuous) 

Table 2: Reasons for Not Achieving Good (RNAG) relating to wastewater assets 

All of these waterbodies are within the Little Avon catchment and are related to phosphorus 
discharges from water recycling centres, either causing elevated phosphorus concentrations 
in the watercourse or impacting ecology (macrophytes and phytobenthos).  There are no 
storm overflow discharges listed as contributing to failing to achieve good ecological 
status. 

The contributions of phosphorus from these water recycling centres has been recognised by 
Wessex Water and investment is planned in this Asset Management Plan (AMP), as 
illustrated by the map in Appendix 1, and summarised in the table below: 

 
1 Chemicals: challenges for the water environment, Environment Agency, October 2021  

Page 54

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/chemicals-challenges-for-the-water-environment


Site Installation Year Approx cost (£K) Approx Phosphorus 
removed (kg/yr) 

Charfield 2024 1,100 3,100 
Leyhill 2024 850 500 
North Nibley 2024 850 700 
Wickwar 2024 1,500 700 
Wootton Under Edge 2024 1,000 2,200 
 TOTAL 5,300 7,200 

Table 3: Water Recycling Centre phosphorus removal 

Storm Overflows 

Within this area there are 11 storm overflows, all of which are permitted by the Environment 
Agency.  The map in Appendix 2 provides the location of these overflows, the spill frequency 
and duration in hours, during 2020.   

The reason storm overflows exist is because many sewers were laid at a time when drains 
carried both rainwater and sewage (these are called combined sewers). They should only 
operate during periods of intense rainfall, where they act as relief valves to allow excess 
stormwater to be released to rivers or the sea. This protects properties from flooding and 
prevents sewage backing up into streets and homes during heavy storm events. They were 
designed to operate in such a way as to have no environmental impact. Existing datasets 
(above) support this outcome.  

10 of the overflows currently have Event Duration Monitoring (EDM) which monitors the 
frequency and duration of overflow operation.  The final storm overflow (Tetbury, 
Springfields) will have EDM installed by March 2023. This data is reported annually to the 
Environment Agency and available on the Wessex Water website, under our Drainage & 
Wastewater Management Plan portal: Drainage and Wastewater Management Plan 
(arcgis.com) – storm overflow and performance tabs link to a spreadsheet with overflow spill 
data. 

A number of these overflows operate frequently, particularly in the upper reaches of the 
Bristol Avon, around Tetbury.  These overflows have not been identified as contributing 
towards the relevant waterbodies failing to achieve good ecological status and internal 
ecological monitoring suggested that these assets do not cause a deterioration in water 
quality. 

Tetbury WRC serves Tetbury and Shipton Moyne, neither town/village has a significant 
separate surface water system – only the newer estates on the outskirts of Tetbury have a 
separate system.  This means a large volume of rainwater drains from property roofs, 
hardstanding and the road network into the foul system, causing it to be inundated and spill 
via permitted overflows.  Didmarton is similar, but takes flows from 3 villages, two of which 
have no surface water networks. 

What can be done about storm overflows? 

The Government has established a storm overflows taskforce, of which we are a member, to 
consider how best to ensure that overflows do not cause harm.  Eliminating storm overflows 
across England and Wales will require several decades of sustained increased investment 
and would cost between £300bn and £600bn, so the immediate focus is to identify those 
overflows that will potentially cause environmental or public health harm, addressing those 
and then progressively working through the others.  

Page 55

https://wessexwater.maps.arcgis.com/apps/MapSeries/index.html?appid=e371301c24ca4228b36db3a3a6ba8560
https://wessexwater.maps.arcgis.com/apps/MapSeries/index.html?appid=e371301c24ca4228b36db3a3a6ba8560
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/taskforce-sets-goal-to-end-pollution-from-storm-overflows


There are only two possible approaches to eliminating intermittent overflows; separation to 
stop stormwater entering the combined sewer, or constructing large storage tanks, which 
would have significant carbon consequences, cost billions and would be hugely disruptive. 

We need Government to change legislation so developers cannot connect surface water to 
combined sewers which is making the matter worse. There is also the need for water 
companies to be able to release rainwater only directly into a watercourse and build local 
soakaways to enable rainwater to discharge to ground as close to where it lands. Powers to 
construct these solutions do not currently exist. 

Ofwat, the economic regulator, needs to prioritise investment, which it tightly controls to keep 
bills down, so water companies can solve the problem. But often the solution will be to 
address the source of the problem – which is actually on privately owned pipes as the point 
where rainwater mixes with foul water is within the property boundary. This makes storm 
overflows a societal problem – rather than just a water company one. 

We are using the EDM data to determine where storm overflows are not operating as we 
would expect and investigating them through the Storm Overflow Assessment Framework. 
This provides a framework in which to identify storm overflows which discharge frequently 
and address the issues they cause through improvements.   

Since 2000 we have invested £181 million on upgrading 582 storm overflows across our 
region, with a further £150 million set aside for improvements between 2020 and 2025. 

Our plans for tackling overflows will in the future be documented in our Drainage and 
Wastewater Management Plans – which can be found 
at https://www.wessexwater.co.uk/environment/drainage-and-wastewater-management-
plan.     

 

 

Page 56

http://www.water.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/SOAF.pdf
https://www.wessexwater.co.uk/environment/drainage-and-wastewater-management-plan
https://www.wessexwater.co.uk/environment/drainage-and-wastewater-management-plan


Appendix 1: Water Recycling Centre investment 2020-25 

 

P
age 57



Appendix 2: Storm Overflow location and 2020 spill data 

 

P
age 58



FOR YOU. FOR LIFE.

why they exist 
and what impact 

they have

Page 59



Storm overflows are part of an older type of sewer 
system (pre-1960s) when most properties were 
built with drains that carry together in one pipe, both 
surface water (run-off from roof gutters, patios, 
driveways and some highways) and foul water from 
homes and industry. This is called a combined sewer 
system.

The combined sewage is then transported to a water 
recycling centre for treatment and safe return to the 
environment.

During a storm, heavy or prolonged rainfall can rapidly 
increase the flow in a combined sewer and cause it 
to become overwhelmed as the capacity of the pipe 
is exceeded. Storm overflows are designed to release 
excess storm water into rivers or the sea when this 
happens. They act as relief valves and are only used 
during heavy rainstorms to protect properties from 
flooding and to prevent sewage from backing up and 
overflowing into streets and homes.

Most towns and cities in the UK have combined sewer 
systems and consequently all have storm overflows to 
protect properties from flooding during heavy rainfall. 
There are about 15,000 storm overflows in England – 
1,289 of them are in Wessex Water’s area.

Separate sewer systems have been built in the UK 
since the 1960s. The more modern system has one 
pipe for foul water from homes and industry, and a 
separate pipe for surface water. The foul water is 
transported to water recycling centres for treatment 
and the surface water is discharged to a watercourse, 
the sea or into permeable ground.

The diagram below shows how a typical combined 
sewer system and storm overflow operates.

Pressures on the sewerage network
The sewerage network and the frequency of 
discharges from storm overflows is under increasing 
pressure:
•  Despite separate sewer systems, property 

developers still have the right to connect surface 
water drainage pipes to the combined sewerage 
network. This passes the cost and problem 
further down the network, resulting in increases 
in overflow operation where overflows exist or a 
flooding risk where they don’t. Sewerage legislation 
requires an urgent rethink to resolve many of the 
issues sewer overflows are causing.

•  ‘Urban Creep’ and the growth of impermeable 
surfaces, leading to more surface water entering 
the system.

•  Climate change giving rise to more extreme 
weather events and rainfall patterns

•  In wet winters, the level of water in water-bearing 
rocks, can reach the ground and cause flooding. 
Even before it reaches this level, groundwater will 
be above the level of the sewers and can often 
flow into and flood drains, sewers and inspection 
chambers for weeks at a time and add to the 
volume of water discharged from storm overflows. 

•  Misuse of the sewerage network. The biggest 
scourge of them all is sewer blockages caused 
by wet wipes and fat being flushed down the loo 
or poured down the sink. These instances alone 
account for 75% of pollution incidents in our area. 
We clear around 13,000 blocked sewers each year. 
Reducing blockages improves the operation of the 
network and helps to reduce the frequency of spills 
from storm overflows.

What are storm overflows and why do 
we have them? 

roof
run-o�

Domestic
sewage

Road
run-o�

Industrial
waste

Over�ow to
watercourse/sea

To water
recycling centre

Page 60



Improvements to storm overflows

Between 2000 and 2020, we invested £181 million 
on upgrading 582 storm overflows across our region. 
That’s around 45% of the storm overflows we manage. 
Between 2020 and 2025 we will invest a further £150 
million on improvements. This will include carrying out 
54 investigations into frequently spilling overflows and 
completing improvements to at least a further 13.

We will also increase the capacity of waste water that 
can be treated at 13 water recycling centres and 
increase storm tank storage capacity at 18 other 
centres. In addition, two sites are being improved to 
further benefit bathing water quality at Christchurch 
and Poole Harbour. These measures will reduce the 
frequency of discharges from improved sites.

Monitoring storm overflows
By March 2023 all of our storm overflows will 
have been fitted with a monitoring device. They 
are providing valuable data and a consistent way 
of monitoring how often and for how long storm 
overflows operate and their potential impact on river 
and bathing water quality. 

The data helps us to plan for improvement works 
where storm overflows are not operating as we 
would expect. Information from the monitoring 
programme is reported annually and is publicly 
available. 

The map of our region below shows where 971 
monitors have been installed (dark blue), and where 
318 monitors will be installed (light blue) by March 
2023.

Page 61



In August 2020 the Government set up a Storm 
Overflows Taskforce in response to sustained pressure 
from groups, individuals and the media about the 
operation of storm overflows. The revelation through 
the release of data from the monitoring programme, 
showing the frequency of spills from overflows, 
has coincided with a national surge in river use by 
swimmers and paddle-boarders who have drawn 
attention to water quality issues in some areas.

The Taskforce is made up of Defra, the Environment 
Agency, Ofwat, the Consumer Council for Water, 
Blueprint for Water and Water UK. It was established 
to:

“Develop proposals to significantly 
reduce the frequency and impact of 

sewage discharges from storm overflows 
with a range of ambitions from reducing 

spills to phasing out overflows.”

The work of the Taskforce is likely to result in 
legislation and include the long term goal to eliminate 
‘harm’ from storm overflows. Measuring harm and the 
causes is multi-faceted. 

Supporting the work
Wessex Water is supporting the work of the Taskforce 
by taking an active part in its discussions and by 
seconding an experienced member of staff to the team 
at Defra. We support the ambition to reduce impacts 
from storm overflows. 

In an ideal world we wouldn’t have a combined sewer 
system, but many sewers were laid hundreds of years 
ago with areas, including town centres, built on top of 
the network of pipes. To upgrade the entire system 
is simply not feasible without massive and long-term 
roadworks disruption. In our region it would cost 
around £10 billion and increase customer sewerage 
bills by at least 100%.

Storm overflows Taskforce

Page 62



As storm overflows normally only operate during 
periods of intense rainfall, any foul water released 
from them will be very dilute because of the large 
volumes of rainwater within the system. Rarely is 
a pollution caused by storm overflows operating 
correctly as there is no significant environmental 
impact in terms of ammonia, suspended solids and 
biochemical oxygen demand. 

Impact on rivers 
Storm overflows have an extremely small impact 
on rivers. Publicly available information on the 
Government’s Catchment Data Explorer, shows that 
storm overflows have a very small environmental 
impact, contributing to less than 4% of environmental 
river water quality problems.

The Environment Agency regulates intermittent 
discharges from storm overflows through 
environmental permits. The main polluting load of 
the contents of a sewer should flow to the treatment 
centre, allowing very dilute sewage to overflow when 
the sewer capacity is exceeded.

Flows are further diluted by the receiving 
watercourses that will also be swollen by the same 
heavy rain. Many storm overflows are fitted with 
screens or scum boards that prevent debris entering 
the watercourse. However, there are occasions where 
prolonged discharges can have an environmental 
impact, for example, the growth of sewage related 
fungus. Reducing biological loads is usually achieved 
through a biological process (such as that used at 
water recycling centres) and requires space and often 
energy and chemicals to facilitate the growth of the 
bacteria required to break down the passing organic 
material. 

Since most overflows are in urban areas, there is 
generally insufficient space for biological treatment. 
In situations where there is an environmental impact, 
these have usually been addressed through reducing 
spill frequency rather than additional treatment. 

Environmental impact of storm overflows

Page 63



Wessex Water has been working with the Environment 
Agency, local councils, landowners and internal 
drainage boards (IDBs) to find ways to make our 
bathing waters as clean as possible.

Between 2010 and 2014 we carried out an 
investigation, which studied the outputs from our 
water recycling centres and evaluated the quality of 
the waters from the rivers Brue, Tone, Parrett and 
Cannington Brook, all of which could affect the water 
quality at Burnham Jetty bathing water. We wanted to 
see how different forms of treatment (ultraviolet (UV) 
disinfection or conventional treatment) worked in the 
different river environments. The sewer network was 
investigated to look for potential causes of pollution 
from external sources such as surface water overflows, 
misconnections and CSOs.

Between 2015 and 2020, and based on the outcomes 
of this investigation, Wessex Water invested £38m to 
improve Burnham Jetty bathing water. This work was 
part of our regulatory requirements. Cannington and 
Combwich water recycling centres were combined and 
upgraded with ultraviolet (UV) disinfection process. 

We increased the storm storage capacity at storm 
overflows in Bridgwater to reduce the number of 
discharges into the rivers at times of high rainfall and 

also delivered improvements at Dunball water recycling 
centre, while trialling a different disinfection process at 
Highbridge storm tanks.

Unfortunately, despite this investment, Burnham Jetty 
bathing water was de-designated at the end of 2019 
following four years of failing to achieve the required 
‘sufficient’ standard.  This is due to the complex nature 
of the catchment and wide range of often quite small 
inputs, primarily from diffuse sources, which contribute 
to the bacteriological quality of the bathing water.

Bathing waters

For more information about Storm overflows please contact:
Wessex Water Claverton Down, Bath BA27WW
operational.enquires@wessexwater.co.uk
0345 600 4 600

Page 64



Page 65



FOR YOU. FOR LIFE.
Page 66



ANNEX 6 

 

Ofwat  
 

Background Reading for Gloucestershire CC  
'Restoring our Rivers' Task Group 

 
28 January 2022 

 

Introduction 
 
We have provided this document in advance of the Q&A Session on 28 January 2022  
 
Below we set out the areas of planned focus and provide some links to some optional 
pre-reading to aid understanding of the sessions.  
 
In the session we will provide an overview of: 

• the regulatory framework, our legal duties and powers;  
• the price review process; and  
• our plans at the last price review and our emerging thinking on incentives aimed 

at achieving good environmental outcomes 
 
1. Regulatory framework, our legal duties and powers  

You may find the following documents useful  
 
Our duties 
 
Strategic Position Statement (England) 
 
Strategic Position Statement (Wales) 
 
Ofwat SPS consultation 
 

2. The price review process 
You may find the following document useful  
 
PR24 and Beyond 

 
3. Incentives and achieving good environmental outcomes  

 
Background to Outcomes and Incentives 

 

Page 67

https://www.ofwat.gov.uk/about-us/our-duties/
https://www.ofwat.gov.uk/about-us/our-duties/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/661803/sps-ofwat-2017.pdf
https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/gen-ld11283/gen-ld11283-e.pdf
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/water-services/government-new-sps-consultation/supporting_documents/newstrategicpolicystatementofwatdraftforconsultation.pdf
https://www.ofwat.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/PR24-and-Beyond-Creating-tomorrow-together.pdf
https://www.ofwat.gov.uk/regulated-companies/company-obligations/outcomes/


Introduction to 
• Ofwat’s role and duties
• Price Reviews and 
• Performance Commitments

January 2022

P
age 68



Structure of the water industry: role of Secretary of State/Welsh Ministers

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) and Welsh 

Government 

• Set the policy framework and issue statements of strategic priorities and 
objectives (SPSs - note revised SPSs are expected in 2022):

UK Government’s strategic priorities and objectives for Ofwat
Welsh Government’s strategic priorities and objectives statement to 
Ofwat

• Can give us guidance which we must have regard to, for example in 
relation to charging rules and social tariffs.

• Make secondary legislation, for example on drinking water standards and 
the content of charges schemes.

• Enforce some of the statutory duties on undertakers.

P
age 69

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategic-policy-statement-to-ofwat-incorporating-social-and-environmental-guidance
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/water-priorities-for-ofwat-2017.pdf


Improving life through water | Gwella bywyd drwy ddŵr | 3

Ofwat’s role, functions and duties – overview 

Who we are

Ofwat is the economic regulator of water and sewerage companies in England and 
Wales.

We are created by statute – so we have certain limitations and requirements we 
must adhere to when carrying out our work. 

Our functions and duties are primarily set out in the Water Industry Act 1991.

Our strategy

In our 2019 strategy, Time to Act, Together, we set out our ambition for the water 
sector, and the role we will play in achieving it. We set three strategic goals for the 
over the coming years:

• To transform water companies’ performance for customers
• To drive water companies to meet long-term challenges through increased 

collaboration and partnerships
• For water companies to serve a wider public purpose, delivering more for 

customers, society and the environment.

P
age 70

https://www.ofwat.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Time-to-act-together-Ofwats-strategy-1.pdf


Ofwat’s role, functions and duties – overview 

Functions

Our functions include both mandatory and discretionary activities. Some examples of 
our functions include:
• Making price control determinations; 
• Making modifications to company licences;
• Taking enforcement action, including imposing enforcement orders and financial 

penalties. Ofwat also has certain concurrent powers with the Competition and 
Markets Authority (CMA) in relation to the water and sewerage sector in England and 
Wales; 

• Determining certain disputes or appeals under the WIA 91;
• Issuing statutory Rules and Codes under the WIA 91.

Statutory duties

We must exercise most of our functions in the manner which we consider is best 
calculated to meet our statutory duties (section 2 WIA 91). 

Strategic policy statements

When carrying out most of our functions, we are required to act in accordance with 
each strategic policy statement (SPS) produced by the Welsh and UK Governments 
respectively (sections 2A and 2B WIA 91). 

P
age 71



Improving life through water | Gwella bywyd drwy ddŵr | 5

Primary and secondary duties 

Promoting 
economy and 
efficiency

Ensuring no 
undue 
preference/ 
discrimination in 
the fixing of 
charges

Contributing to 
the achievement 
of sustainable 
development  

Ensuring no 
undue 
preference/ 
discrimination is 
shown by 
companies in 
relation to the 
provision of 
services by 
themselves or 
other regulated 
companies

Further the consumer objective to protect the interests of 
consumers*, wherever appropriate by promoting effective 
competition (*existing and future consumers, and their interests 
as consumers of water etc., having regard to the interests of 
particular vulnerable groups)

Secure water companies can finance 
the proper carrying out of their 
statutory functions, in particular by 
securing reasonable returns on their 
capital

Secure that 
water 
companies 
properly carry 
out their 
statutory 
functions

Secure that water supply licensees & 
sewerage licensees properly carry out 
their licensed activities and statutory 
functions

Further the resilience objective to secure the long-term resilience 
of water companies’ water supply and wastewater systems; and to 
secure that they take steps to enable them, in the long term, to 
meet the need for water supplies and wastewater services

Primary duties

Secondary duties

Ensuring 
consumers’ 
interests 
protected in 
relation to any 
unregulated 
activities of water 
companies

Securing 
consumers’ 
interests are 
protected on sale 
of land

P
age 72



Improving life through water | Gwella bywyd drwy ddŵr | 6

General environmental and recreational duties (section 3 of WIA91)

Subject to the duties above, we also have duties, when formulating or 
considering any proposals relating to any functions of a relevant undertaker, to:

P
age 73



Improving life through water | Gwella bywyd drwy ddŵr | 7

Structure of the water industry: role of other public bodies and regulators

The regulatory framework for the water sector in England and Wales 

includes other regulatory bodies, particularly the Environment Agency 

(EA) in England, Natural Resources Wales (NRW) in Wales, and the 

Drinking Water Inspectorate (DWI):

• EA and NRW are responsible for making sure that the undertakers do 

not breach environmental standards, for example via their abstraction 

licence and environmental permit frameworks.

• DWI is responsible for making sure that the water provided by 

undertakers meets drinking water standards;

We need to act in a complementary fashion – a decision by one regulator 

may affect the decisions made by the others.

P
age 74



The price review: the 
process for setting price 
controls

P
age 75



Improving life through water | Gwella bywyd drwy ddŵr | 9

The basics of price controls

We publish guidance on what we expect to see in the business plans.   This 
guidance reflects views of society and emerging needs.

We create incentives to the companies to give us their best business plans first 
time

In reaching our ‘Final Determination’

• We set the service level companies need to deliver

• We set efficient expenditure allowance needed to deliver

• We set efficient financing costs

We do this every five years – we can only do this when 
we can see all companies’ plans so that we can 
compare them

P
age 76



Improving life through water | Gwella bywyd drwy ddŵr | 10

Efficiency is not just relative to other water companies

We use a statistical process 
called econometric 
benchmarking to assess 
efficient costs

Ensuring each company is efficient 
(catch-up efficiency challenge)

Ensuring the sector 
continues to be efficient 
(frontier shift)

P
age 77



Improving life through water | Gwella bywyd drwy ddŵr | 11

Outcomes are the high level objectives valued by customers and society

P
age 78



Improving life through water | Gwella bywyd drwy ddŵr | 12

We define outcomes and incentives to deliver them

Outcome delivery incentives are the incentives
attached to PCs. These take the form of 
reputational effects or underperformance and 
outperformance payments dependent on how a 
company performs relative to the PC level

Not all PCs have a financial ODI attached to 
them – those that do not have reputational 
ODIs

Enhanced ODIs refer to increased 
rewards/penalties for companies that achieve 
sector leading and unprecedented 
performance levels

Customer engagement plays a key part in the entire Outcomes process. 
Companies use customer research to determine the outcomes customers 
want, propose the expected performance levels and the associated 
rewards/penalties.

Performance commitments are minimum 
standards of service that companies are 
expected to attain e.g. 15% reduction in 
leakage

We impose a requirement on all companies to 
adopt certain measures, called common 
performance commitments

Companies can also propose bespoke 
performance commitments for outcomes that 
their customers deem important

For all PCs we ensure that they are subject to 
an appropriate degree of stretch

Performance Commitments (PCs) Outcome Delivery Incentives (ODIs)

P
age 79



Common Performance Commitments

Source: Ofwat Methodology, December 2017

P
age 80



Improving life through water | Gwella bywyd drwy ddŵr | 14

Base and 
growth costs
benchmarking 

assessment 
(econometric 

models)

Enhancement 
costs

benchmarking 
assessment or 

deep/shallow dive

Cost 
Adjustments
e.g. for unique 
circumstances

Efficient 
totex 

allowance

Base costs (c. £38 billion)
Routine, year-on-year costs, which 
companies incur in the normal
running of the business to provide a 
base level of service to customers.

Growth costs (c. £4 billion)
Costs driven by population growth, 
such as the laying of onsite 
connection and offsite 
reinforcement assets.

Enhancement costs (c. £11 billion)
Investment to enhance the capacity or quality of 
service beyond a base level. It may be driven by new 
statutory obligations (eg environmental outcomes as 
set by the environment regulators).

Efficiency challenge 

We use different approaches to assess costs of different types

P
age 81



Improving life through water | Gwella bywyd drwy ddŵr | 15

Customer bills are also affected by other revenue drivers

Total 
expenditure

(“depreciation” + 
“pay as you go”)

Outcome 
delivery 

incentives

Financing 
costs 

(WACC)

Revenue 
allowance

How much 
companies 

spend

How much 
financing 

costs

Impact on 
customer 
bills now 

and in 
future

How well 
companies 

deliver

P
age 82



Improving life through water | Gwella bywyd drwy ddŵr | 16

Timeline for PR24

P
age 83



Performance Commitments

P
age 84



Improving life through water | Gwella bywyd drwy ddŵr | 18

•Excellent service to customers
•Environment
•Asset health and operational resilience

Common PCs

•Major schemes
•Programmes of work

Price control 
deliverables 

•Focused on customer views and circumstances unique to the 
company

•Limited in number
Bespoke PCs

•Vulnerability and affordability 
•ResilienceKey metrics

•Gaps and voids 
•Further asset health and operational resilience metrics

Monitoring 
metrics

Set as 
part of 
price 
review 
and 
financial

Defined as 
part of 
annual 
monitoring

In Consultation for the Next Price Review

Current thinking, but 
subject to change

P
age 85



Improving life through water | Gwella bywyd drwy ddŵr | 19

Potential scope of Environmental PCs
How a water company regulated business is carried out can have an impact on:

- River water quality
- Bathing water quality
- Greenhouse gas emissions
- Biodiversity
- Recreation and amenity
- Health and well being
- Air pollution
- Wider food risk (ie not sewer flooding)
- Heat
- Noise

We may want to measure these factors for: 
1. decisions of companies take account of this;
2. informing customers and stakeholders of company actions; and 
3. financially incentivise greater benefits, beyond those which would otherwise arise, 

where supported by a wide range of customers. 

The benefits of doing so need to be weighed against the costs (including the opportunity 
costs).

P
age 86



Improving life through water | Gwella bywyd drwy ddŵr | 20

Criteria for how we use the metric

Common PCs Shows progress towards an outcome that is likely to endure over a number of 
price review periods for which there is a
• Statutory requirement to deliver; and/or 
• Support from a wide range of customers;
And 
Financial incentive is likely to lead to overall greater net benefits for customers 
over the long term.
And
Affects a majority of companies

Key metrics Where the metric measures progress that is of high importance to customers 
and stakeholders of all water companies, but where a financial incentive is 
unlikely to lead to greater net benefits to customers. 

Monitoring metrics Metrics where it is helpful to understand comparable performance, but where 
the metric in isolation is not the most pertinent to assess performance that 
matters most to customers and stakeholders.

Bespoke PC Shows progress towards an outcome that is likely to endure over a number of 
price review periods for which there is a
• Statutory requirement to deliver; and/or 
• Support from a wide range of customers;
And 
Financial incentive is likely to lead to overall greater net benefits for customers 
over the long term.
And
Customer views and/or circumstances not present/relevant for the majority of 
companies.

Individual company 
reporting (eg on its 
website)

In the absence of the above, but where a factor has importance with some 
customers or stakeholders.

P
age 87



Improving life through water | Gwella bywyd drwy ddŵr | 21

Issues

No standardised methodology. The existence of multiple approaches to ecosystem/ natural/ social capital valuation.

Diverse benefits. There is a risk of excluding important ecosystem/ natural/ social capital benefits and costs as it is rarely 
possible to quantify or monetise each and every ecosystem value.

Difficulty of measurement. Upstream and downstream impacts can be very large and are often hard to assess, especially if 
the impact lies beyond an organisation’s geographical control. Some valuation models are highly complex and time 
consuming to complete. Their complexity may also require the use of external experts, increasing the costs involved. Can 
model predictions be sufficient to claim delivery/incentive payments. 

Temporal variability - for example a new reservoir damages natural capital during construction, but then provides natural 
capital once built.  There can also be a time lag between implementing a natural capital based solution (eg: tree planting) and 
the value being delivered (the trees becoming mature enough to deliver their ecosystem services). How to deal with 
maintenance of natural capital (i.e. where investment is needed to avoid loss)

P
age 88



Improving life through water | Gwella bywyd drwy ddŵr | 22

Possible approach

Absolute measurement  
across the company

Incremental
improvement (could be 
modelled or measured)

Benefit of improvement 
(ie monetarised net 
benefit)

Examples of areas for 
which it might be most 
suitable

- Bathing waters
- Emissions

- Biodiversity
- River water quality

-Recreation and amenity
-Health and well being
-Air pollution / heat / 
noise
-Wider flood risk

Where measures are robust 
and the costs of the 
measurement are justified.

Where it is not practical to 
measure the factor across the 
company area, but it is of 
sufficient importance to have 
an individual measure that 
can be applied on a more 
targeted basis.

Where measurement of the 
individual factors is not 
justified and/or providing 
companies with greater 
flexibility to target the most 
appropriate benefits to 
provide.

There are a range of approaches that we could ask companies to take in reporting 
environmental PCs 

The approach will depend on a number of factors including:

- Interpretation of legal duties
- Government views and targets
- WINEP methodology

As shown in Annex A there was a reasonable level of coverage across companies and many bespoke PCs 
could be replaced by common PCs.

If we introduce Price Control Deliverables that ensure delivery of specific investment  as raised in the May 
paper PCs it may allow PCs to have a different focus, potentially measuring actual benefits. 

P
age 89



Improving life through water | Gwella bywyd drwy ddŵr | 23

Possible options for PR24 Environmental PCs
Comments

A Narrow
interpretation 
of duties

1) Leakage
2) PCC
3) Pollution incidents
4) Spills that cause harm*
5) Treatment works compliance
6) AIM (we plan to consider effectiveness of AIM in summer 

2021)

*This would need to be 
defined as there is no 
metric yet to measure 
spills that harm the 
environment 

B Pure 
Outcomes
Approach

1) % Rivers ≥good status
2) % Bathing water ≥good status
3) Average biodiversity level of company land
4) Annualised net emissions per capita

Unaware if there are 
approaches to annualise 
embedded carbon

C Maximising 
wider benefits 
(assuming 
supported by 
customers)

As A plus
7) Reduction in phosphorus entering rivers
8) % Bathing water ≥good status
9) Improvement in biodiversity
10) Operational Carbon
11) Embedded Carbon
12) Environmental Value (monetarisation of benefits not 

captured by other PCs of innovative schemes measured 
against a conventional counterfactual – see next slide)

We would need to test 
company views.

D Streamlined
Maximising 
wider benefits 

1) Star rating of EPA (incorporates pollution incidents, 
compliance, WINEP delivery and SDBI(water resources)

2) Distribution input per capita
3) Improved river lengths (measurement not modelled)
4) Improved bathing waters (measurement not modelled)
5) Environmental Value (see next slide)

We would need to define 
what constituted an 
improvement and how we 
measure lengths of 
rivers.

P
age 90



ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

WORK PLAN 2022/23

13 July 2022
Report deadline: 4 July 2022

8 September 2022
Report deadline: 30 August 2022

Natural Flood Management Draft Road Safety Policy
[feedback as part of the consultation]

Electric Vehicle charging points

Restoring our Rivers Task Group report

22 November 2022
Report deadline: 11 November 2022

Annual Climate Change Strategy review 

P
age 91

A
genda Item

 7



POSSIBLE FUTURE ITEMS

1 Alternative/environmental-friendly 
technologies and innovative ideas within 
highways

3 Transport Decarbonisation Plan

2 Strategic Planning 4

P
age 92



Executive Director’s Report, Economy, Environment & Infrastructure
Scrutiny Committee Report

June 2022

This report summarises key areas likely to lead to decisions over the next 6 months, including 
updates on areas previously reported.  

1.0 Decisions

Relevant forthcoming decisions, by date due:
 Gloucestershire County Council’s submission to the Multiply Programme element of the 

UK Shared Prosperity Fund Between 7 Jun 2022 and 21 Jun 2022 by Cabinet Member - 
Education, Skills and Bus Transport

 Proposed re-location of Stroud Library 22 Jun 2022 by Cabinet
 To seek approval to go out to public consultation on the proposed draft library strategy 22 

Jun 2022 by Cabinet
 Scheme development funding for M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch) Strategic Transport 

Scheme in 2022/23  22 Jun 2022 by Cabinet
 Severn River Basin District Flood Risk Management Plan Between 25 May 2022 and 30 

Jun 2022 by Cabinet Member - Highways and Flooding
 Review of Community Offer provided as part of Stage 5 of the Fastershire delivery 

programme Between 10 May 2022 and 5 Aug 2022 by Cabinet Member - Education, Skills 
and Bus Transport

Pending items for publication  
 Road Safety Policy 
 Tender and Award of Transport Contracts under the Dynamic Purchasing System for 

Transport

2.0 Highways 

M5 J10
 Preferred Route Announcement took place on 16th June 2021 along with associated 

communications and publication via GCC website.
 Land agents progressing land acquisition/negotiations in partnership with GCC 

Property.
 Successful bid for £35k Capacity Funding from Homes England to support local 

planning authorities in both their statutory and non-statutory functions in respect of the 
Development Consent Order process. Further bid for this f/y of £125k has just been 
awarded by Homes England

 Claims to date total just under £22m.
 Consultation for A38/A4019 Coombe Hill package of works have concluded and design 

is being finalised for the planning application.  
 Statutory Public Consultation is complete.  Formal responses have been provided to 

prescribed consultees’ comments. Next stage will be full consultation report released in 
summer 2022 which will then feed into the DCO.

 Arle Court Transport Hub – Civils element– Planning granted and contract awarded to 
Knights Brown. Works commenced on site on 6th June 2022.

Page 93

Agenda Item 8

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=45340&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=45340&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=45222&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=45221&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=44370&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=44370&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=45073&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=44839&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=44839&Opt=0


 Tenders received for the MSCP element of the scheme and currently undergoing 
assessment. Planning decision is expected in July.

 Work continues on the draft DCO documents, along with engagement with stakeholders 
on the Statements of Common Ground.

West Cheltenham Transport Infrastructure Scheme / Cyber
 Work started on site for Phases 1 and 2 in June 2020 and are now complete.  The 

Phase 3 and 4 Design and Build contract started in January 2021 and are now 
substantially complete with a public unveiling event undertaken in early June. Wider 
walking and cycling improvement works will continue on Hubble Road and in the St 
Marks area of West Cheltenham.

 National Highways’ safety critical works at Staverton Bridge and Brookfield Bridge are 
underway.  The M5 J11 works were completed as scheduled in March 2022 with full co-
ordination with the West Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme.

Gloucester SW Bypass / Llanthony Road
 All premises are now owned by GCC, utility disconnections and demolition works are 

completed.  Planning application for change of use (part of City Business Centre to 
become car park for displaced parking) has been approved.  Scheme includes 
segregated footway and cycleway facilities that are compliant with latest government 
design guidance from the DfT.

 A successful DfT Levelling Up Fund bid has allocated £12.822m to the scheme and a 
procurement exercise is now complete with highway works starting in early July with 
works expected to last for 12 months.  A contractor share event was undertaken on the 
15th June alongside wider scheme communications.

Gloucester Station Access Works (Delivery with Gloucester City Council)
 New access/egress at Metz Way now complete.  Revised Bruton Way access works 

including additional drainage works commenced in May 2022 following confirmation of 
GWR license requirements.

Structures/Geotechnical Schemes
 Blakeney West – Construction ongoing – piling operations now underway but are taking 

longer than anticipated due to ground conditions and piling rig capacity.  Target 
completion is Summer/Autumn 2022.

 Rushmire Hill – investigations ongoing to determine slip failure mechanism to inform 
design.

 Badgeworth Road – Discussions re roadspace and with National Highways to co-
ordinate activities in the area, along with joint comms.  Also requires Network Rail 
engagement.

 Tintern Bridge – Tenders received and assessed, with successful contractor to be 
appointed by end June.  Start planned for mid-July for a duration of 6-9 months.  
Ongoing co-ordination with Monmouthshire CC who jointly have responsibility for the 
bridge including joint comms and public share events. 

 Walk Bridge – tendering Design and Build contract for Stroud District Council.  Project 
specification delivered for design and build procurement.

Ashchurch Bridge over Rail (Delivery for Tewkesbury Borough Council)
     Planning permission for the bridge has been granted. Development of legal agreement 

is concluding.

Page 94



 Project delivery through Design and Build contract with procurement documents being 
drafted.  Works continue with Tewkesbury Borough Council and Network Rail to 
understand the complexities of the legal agreements required for the construction 
phase.

A435 Junction Improvements
 Works completed in May 2022 to deliver junction improvements associated with local 

housing developments. The project has also provided some enabling works for future 
cycle route between Cheltenham and Bishops Cleeve.

A435 Cheltenham to Bishops Cleeve Cycleway
 A recent funding announcement from the DfT Active Travel Fund means the scheme is 

now fully funded and preliminary design work is now progressing of the cycle route 
following an initial concept design. 

A419 Junction Improvements (Stonehouse)
 Works substantially complete.   Alterations planned at Horsetrough Roundabout to 

improve cycling provision planned for later in 2022. 

Highways Contracts
 Term maintenance (Ringway) – Fourth year of the contract has now commenced.  

Cyclical maintenance and defect repair performance remains on target.  From April 
2022 Gloucestershire funded a dedicated spray injection patching machine in order to 
enable a proactive approach without reliance on supply chain – the effectiveness of this 
approach is scheduled for review in July. Recruitment across the sector remains difficult 
- commercial discussions underway to address retention/ recruitment challenges in 
construction sector.  

 Professional services (Atkins) – Fourth year of contract underway.  
 Bridge Inspections – investigating a risk-based approach to inspection regime as 

opposed to calendar-based approach, this will bring in to line with Safety Policy.
 Structural maintenance (Tarmac) – First year of new 4-year contract started April 2022.  

Delivery of capital resurfacing programme well under way and on track.
 Street lighting (M Group) – Performance on key indicators remains satisfactory.  
 Highway Skills Academy – Focus for 23/24 will be on the formation of a 

development/career path for those staff which are progressing through their 
apprenticeships in order that GCC retains the investment in time, funds and skills.  Our 
first cohort of Level 4 (HNC equivalent) Apprenticeships of 10 staff.  A second cohort 
planned to follow this year with the high level of interest from existing staff.  Highways 
have also welcomed some participants from the Kickstart programme into the teams 
which has been a successful initiative resulting in individuals wishing to stay with the 
authority and applying for permanent roles.

Highways Delivery
 Depots/property – development of strategic plan for highways depots included in 22/23 

Service Plan in order to ensure facilities are fit for purpose. Construction works have 
been completed at Cirencester depot including refurbishment of the existing building 
and a new building built to provide Operative Welfare facilities and GCC hub provision.  
IT provision is currently being undertaken.  Decoration works have been completed in 
Stroudwater and we have improved the operative welfare facility.  A new kitchen for the 
operatives is being installed at Cannop and plans are being prepared to improvements 
to other welfare facilities.

Page 95



 Ash die back – continued programme in 22/23 including planting programme to ensure 
that two trees are planted for each one felled with ash die back disease.  Discussions 
are underway with external organisations such as National Trust and others to identify 
larger woodland planting schemes off the public highway.  Latest inspections indicate 
that the disease is spreading quickly – prioritisation of works to ensure a risk-based 
approach is being take is essential.  

3.0 Traffic and Transport

Recent DMMO Statistics

Total number of ‘unresolved’ applications: 209  (static from last 
month)

No. of new ‘min.14(1) compliant’ applications received in 
2022 to date

32           (21 in 2021)

Number of applications ‘resolved’ in 2022 to date 3              (10 in 2021)
Number of routes added to DM&S by ‘other means’ in 2022 to 
date

2              (3 in 2021)

Currently resolving, on average over the past 5 years, 7.2 applications a year.

Number of all ‘undetermined’ applications, as at 16 June 2022: 
Undetermined Undet-Archived Undet-Non14(2)

No. 49 (down 1) 52 72
(“Archived” applications are whereby the intended effect of the application is essentially 
nulled by a subsequent change in legislation (for example, the NERC Act); “Non14(2)” 
applications have not been ‘fully made’ but are still valid applications in terms of needing 
determination.) 

Number of all unresolved ‘determined’ applications, as at 16 June 2022: 
Apps with unresolved objectionsApps at publication/ 

confirmation stage Submitted to SoS Awaiting submission 
No. 2 (up 1) 0 34

Recent CROWC determinations:
Last 2 CROW 
Committees

1 App on 29 March - decision to make Order for additional 
FP
1 App on 16 May - decision to make Order for additional FP

Next CROW Committee 4 Oct 2022

DfT Emergency Active Travel Fund 
 Tranche 2: Works on an LTN 1/20 compliant cycle route along the B4063 between the 

M5 overbridge and Pheasant Lane were substantially completed in June. Good 
progress is being on the adjacent section from Pheasant Lane to Arle Court.

ITU Public Transport and School Transport
 The DfT is currently providing revenue support to the bus network to mitigate the long-

term impact of Covid on passenger numbers. On average services are at approx. 70% 
of their pre-pandemic level, with park and ride much lower. DfT support ends on 4 
October and officers are developing proposals to locally manage the impact of any 
reductions in financial support.  

Page 96



Network Management (Road Safety and Parking)
 A cabinet member decision will be taken to consult this summer on a draft Road Safety 

Policy. In developing draft proposals consideration has been given to the international 
Vision Zero aspiration by 2050 and interim targets to halve the number of people killed 
and seriously injured on Gloucestershire’s roads by 2032. This follows the recent 
Council decision to invest £550k in 2022/23 in community road safety measures and the 
launch in May of the first phase. 

 The ULEV Programme Manager has briefed districts on the council’s EV charge point 
contract with Connected Kerb and has submitted a £1.9m bid to the DfT LEVI fund for a 
package of EV chargepoint investment in rural areas. A number of parish councils have 
also been engaged as part of this process. Meetings are also underway with Connected 
Kerb to firm up locations for charge points in urban areas as part of the 22/23 workplan.

 Orders have been placed to upgrade all the council’s on street pay and display 
machines in Cheltenham, Gloucester and Cirencester to take contactless payment. The 
first 20 machines have been installed in Cheltenham. This not only provides better 
customer access but will also address the problem of criminals stealing cash from pay & 
display machines. Last year GCC Parking officers helped police catch one such gang.

4.0 Strategic Infrastructure

B4063 / A40 Highways England Cycling Scheme – Cheltenham to Gloucester
     The original HE scheme, in order to fulfil funding criteria, needed to be completed by 

March 2020. This, however, was subsequently extended to construction starting in 
2021, as part of the RIS2 process. GCC officers continue to engage with HE’s Route 
Manager to attempt to ensure everything is ‘joined up’. 

     GCC has decided to take over the detailed design of this project, with the design fully 
underway with the East part of the route designed and consulted upon in Spring 2021, 
an independent audit has now been completed by a leading industry expert to ensure 
we provide the best possible facility we can within the constraints.  The audit findings 
have led to extensive enhancement of the provision, which have been heavily endorsed 
by Sustrans to the extent that they are due to become a major funding provider for the 
scheme.  The revised proposals for the East part of the route between the M5 
overbridge and Arle Court have now been published on the County Council’s website 
reflecting the feedback received to date.

     Works started in October 2021, delivering the east part of the route first between the M5 
and Pheasant Lane which is now substantially complete.  

 The subsequent phase between Pheasant Lane and Arle Court is also now being 
constructed with an expected completion date of late Early Autumn 2022.

 Works on the wider route West of the M5 Overbridge in Staverton are in the process of 
being tendered with works expected to start in Autumn 2022.

 Consultation is due to be undertaken on the West part of the route between Elmbridge 
Court and Gloucester in Autumn 2022.

 This scheme will have the key advantage of directly linking the project to the emerging 
£22M West Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme (WCTIS) providing a 
continuous link between Gloucester and Cheltenham rail station once complete and 
include the recently successfully delivered Emergency Active Travel Scheme on London 
Road in Gloucester. The GFirst LEP Board, in December 2020, agreed that any future 
underspend on the £22M WCTIS would be ringfenced to the B4063 cycle scheme. Prior 

Page 97



to this, in November 2020, £864k was secured from an EATF Tranche 2 bid from the 
Department for Transport (DfT), which will part fund a section of the works.  National 
Highways have now allocated £5 million to the construction of this scheme and 
Sustrans have allocated a further £1 million to the delivery of the route.

     The County Council has recently successfully secured DfT Levelling Up Funding to 
extend the route through Gloucester City Centre and Gloucester Docks providing 
linkage to the Gloucester Canal Towpath.  

 A recent DFT Tranche 3 Active Travel Fund (ATF) bid announcement has been made in 
relation to the County Council securing its full bid allocation for the cycle route in 
Gloucester including Estcourt Road Roundabout.

M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch)
 The Strategic Outline Business Case for the M5 J9 / A46 scheme was submitted to the 

DfT in January 2020;
 Positive Government announcement in March 2020, stating that the scheme should 

progress to the next stage, which is the Outline Business Case;
 The progression of the scheme was considered and approved by GCC Cabinet on 24th 

March 2021; 
 Discussions re- possible future funding ongoing with both Homes England and 

Tewkesbury BC due to the links to the emerging ‘garden town’ – and an additional 
£1.5M funding was secured in March 2022;

 Ongoing discussions with HE to secure approval of options for Junction 9;
 Detailed HE feedback has been received and is currently being analysed by officers and 

Atkins. 
 Baroness Vere has confirmed support for the project in November 2021.
 Cabinet report (re- future expenditure on M5 J9 / A46) was considered on 22nd June 

2022.
 Non statutory public consultation anticipated end September 2022.

Fastershire
 Fastershire Partnership Agreement – An officer meeting took place in June with the 

new Senior Responsible Officer for the project at Herefordshire Council.  The meeting 
focussed on discussing the future working relationship between the authorities both in 
relation to Fastershire and Project Gigabit.  Discussions are ongoing.  

 Project Gigabit – Discussions are still ongoing with Herefordshire Council and BDUK 
regarding how Project Gigabit will be delivered within the county.  

 Fastershire household and business grants - The publication of the decision report 
outlining the updated household and business grants has been paused while 
discussions regarding the Fastershire Partnership Agreement are taking place.  

A417 Missing Link
 Preferred Route Announcement (Route 30) made March 2019;
 Further public consultation took place in Autumn 2019;
 A supportive officer-level response to this consultation (a joint response from CDC, TBC 

and GCC) was sent on 8th November 2019;
 Positive announcement in March 2020 stating that the scheme has secured funding and 

should progress to DCO;
 Revised proposals were subject to a further public consultation, which started on 12th 

October 2020. A detailed GCC officer response was sent, meeting the external deadline 
of 12th November 2020;

 The DCO planning application was submitted in June 2021 and the Planning 
Inspectorate’s Public Examination concluded on 16th May 2022;

Page 98



 The Planning Inspectorate will now compile a report, which will make a recommendation 
of decision to the Secretary of State for Transport. This report is expected to be sent to 
the Secretary of State in Summer 2022 and a final decision to be made later in 2022.

Local Transport Plan (LTP)
 The LTP was adopted at Full Council on 17th March 2021. A review of the LTP is 

currently being considered. 

Chepstow Transport Improvements
 Consultant’s report outlined scheme options;
 Monmouthshire CC keen to progress to Full Business Cases;
 GCC Lead Cabinet Members supported a GCC financial contribution of £20K (2020/21) 

towards Stage 2 of the Chepstow Transport Study;
 A further GCC financial contribution of £30K for 2021/22 has been made to 

Monmouthshire CC;
 Meeting with relevant MPs held on 28th January 2022. 

Cinderford 
 FoDDC yet to secure planning permission and funding for proposed extension of phase 

one of the road;
 A Section 73 amendment to vary the existing planning permission was submitted in 

April 2021 and is awaiting determination by FoDDC;
 FoDDC held a Cinderford Northern Quarter Scrutiny Inquiry in November 2021, with 

GCC senior officer input;
 Until planning and funding for the road is in place, no further action for GCC. 

Local Plans / JSP / CIL
 Review of Joint Strategic Plan (JSP – formerly known as the JCS) now underway 

following an ‘Issues and Options’ consultation which ended in January 2019;
 The JSP Reg.18 public consultation has now been delayed to Spring 2023;
 Progress has been made with the JSP authorities to review the JCS CIL – consultants 

are now undertaking this task in liaison with GCC officers and stakeholders;
 GCC education and library contributions continue to be challenged and declined by 

some District Councils and developers – these are in the process of being reviewed by 
GCC;

 GCC continues to not receive a penny of CIL from any of the JSP authorities;
 Stroud Local Plan – Consultation on Draft Local Plan – closed 22nd January 2020. 

Significant officer-level concerns submitted to SDC – especially transport issues re- the 
significant proposed development at Whaddon and Sharpness. Another SDC 
consultation took place with additional possible housing sites, which was responded to 
in December 2020. The most recent public consultation stage (pre-submission draft 
consultation) ended on 21st July 2021. GCC officer comments were submitted prior to 
the deadline. The Plan has now been submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for 
consideration. GCC officers and consultants will be actively involved in the future Public 
Examination and have secured approval to do so. 

 Cotswold Local Plan – ‘Issues and Options’ consultation recently ended – the deadline 
for comments was 20th March 2022. GCC officers submitted representations prior to the 
deadline on 18th March 2022. 

 Forest of Dean Local Plan – Issues and Options consultation ended on 31st October 
2019. FoDDC consulted on a ‘preferred option’ – the closing date for comments was 
29th January 2021. GCC officers commented before this deadline. The Draft Plan is 
expected to be published for public consultation in Autumn 2022. 

Page 99



5.0 Libraries & Registration

Libraries
 A 12-week public consultation will be launched on the new Library Strategy (2023-2028) 

following the decision to consult taken at the 22nd June Cabinet meeting.  The 
consultation will be available online and through hard copy surveys in all County 
libraries.

 The relocation of Stroud library was agreed at the Cabinet meeting of 22nd June – 
following the standstill period, plans will now progress to relocate the service to the Five 
Valleys Shopping Centre with an anticipated move at the end of the calendar year.

 Gloucestershire Libraries Summer Reading Challenge 2022 launches on 9th July. This 
year’s theme is ‘Gadgeteers’ and links well with the new Innovation labs and the 
libraries ‘Greener Together’ climate and sustainability programme.

Registration 
 No new update.

6.0 Waste Management 

 The procurement for the sale of electricity generated by the Gloucestershire Energy 
from Waste Facility at Javelin Park is ongoing. All energy sales from the 
Gloucestershire EfW have been fixed until Oct 23 (the end of the existing contract term 
with our current off-taker, EDF). The aim is to commence the new agreement by Sept 
22, so that the council can forward sell electricity when considered best value to do so. 

 Next day appointments are available at each of the five HRC sites. Improvements to the 
website appointments booking platform are being made to allow same day booking (the 
soonest appointments that can currently be made are next day). We hope to have this 
work completed for a July launch 

 A response has been drafted to a DEFRA consultation on preventing charges for DIY 
waste at HWRCs and a call for evidence on the use of booking systems at HWRCs. The 
GCC response opposes the government proposals on the prevention of charging and 
makes a case for the retention of booking systems. The draft response will be 
considered by SEEIMB on 29th June 

 A response has been submitted to a BEIS consultation on the UK Emissions Trading 
Scheme, which proposes that Energy from Waste facilities be included in the scheme 
from the mid-2020s. The GCC response accepts the need for further decarbonisation of 
the waste management industry, but argues that other proposed policy measures such 
Extended Producer Responsibility for packaging waste should be implemented first, as 
these policies may have a positive effect and reduce the need for expensive, end of 
pipe “retro-fit” solutions such as carbon capture or heat-recovery

 Following on from the “Know your Plastics” campaign launched in May, July will see 
further focus on reducing plastic by promoting the international “Plastic Free July” 
campaign. This will be delivered in partnership with the district councils, the campaign 
will aim to reduce confusion on what plastics can and cannot be recycled

 Grundon has submitted a planning application to cover the period of this contract 
extension exercised by GCC for residual waste transfer from Bishops Cleeve to Javelin 
Park. The application has been validated by the WPA.

 The waste management theme was considered at the most recent Climate Leadership 
Gloucestershire meeting, where a presentation was provided by members of the 
Gloucestershire Resources and Waste Partnership and the Waste Planning Authority. 

Page 100



Sustainability/Climate Change
 A bid has been submitted to the Local Authorities Treescape Fund (LATF), which is 

managed by the Forestry Commission and is part of Government’s Nature for Climate 
Fund. The GCC bid focusses on highways trees, urban tree planting, planting on a GCC 
owned stretch of former railway line, together with planting projects at partner sites in 
Bream (Bream Rugby Club), Daglingworth (Duchy of Cornwall), Hartpury College and at 
two National Trust owned sites.

 Preparations for the next tree planting season (Oct to Mar) are underway, with around 
40,000 planting opportunities currently identified.  

 Our proposed 3-year investment programme to decarbonise the heating of council 
buildings and Travellers sites’ communal utility blocks, using the council’s £1m Salix 
energy efficiency loan fund has been submitted to Salix funding for approval.  11 council 
buildings where gas heating systems are at end of life will benefit from the installation of 
Air Source Heat Pumps (ASHPs) powered using rooftop solar photovoltaics (PV). 53 
communal utility blocks across four Traveller Sites will have ASHPs powered using grid 
electricity.

 The team continues to work with Transport Planning colleagues on a Transport 
Decarbonisation Forum event to be held at Kingsholm on 19th July. Cllr David Gray will 
host the event that will see over 100 delegates come together to discuss approaches to 
decarbonising transport within Gloucestershire.  

Travellers Service
 A bid has been submitted to the Government’s Travellers Site Fund for improvements to 

the facilities at the Council’s Travellers’ sites. If successful, the bid would fund the 
building of brick utility blocks on the Willows Site, Gloucester (replacing old prefab metal 
utility containers that are at end of life), and a new building to house a community hub 
that agencies such as the council, police and NHS can use at the site.

 The Principal Gypsy & Travellers Lead and Head of Environment and Waste recently 
met with Cllr Nick Housden, who has assumed cabinet member responsibility for the 
Travellers Service. Officers provided and introductory briefing.

7.0 Employment and Skills 

Adult Education Service
 New 4-year subcontract framework documents now completed and new framework is 

currently being designed by the Subcontract lead – timeline is on track for the new 
academic year.

 RoAPT application was submitted in April, decision not due until July 2022, it is currently 
under review but no issues have been raised yet.

 New Health and Social Care IQA/Assessor/Tutor (Fixed Term Contract) has started 
enabling us to deliver Health and Social Care accredited qualifications next academic 
year, currently in the process of developing curriculum, gaining awarding body 
accreditation, and speaking to local employers to ascertain the needs for specific areas 
of training.  New catalogue of Health and Social care CPD and online courses are now 
available to add value to our offer and to increase our full cost recovery income.  

Page 101



 Currently looking at developing sector-based skill courses to meet local employer needs 
with a view to run shorter courses with employers attached to them, working with the 
hub team to carry out interviews for local vacancies.

 Continuing to work with the Skills and Employment Hub to build working relationships, 
supporting programmes with specific employability and wellbeing training.  We share a 
member of staff who will be attending all local job centres to promote the service and to 
signpost people to either AdEd or the hub for more support depending upon their needs.  
She will also be running a weekly drop-in job support workshop within AdEd where she 
will help people apply for work, identify their learning or skills needs and provide key 
career advice.  This is aimed at linking the two services and signposting customers to 
the correct department to help them progress.  We will be working with Adviza to carry 
out IAG sessions and update CV’s.

 Continuing to support the hub with a variety of workshops and training, including 
Forwards Job Clubs, Moving Forwards and various other employability programmes.

 ESOL provision now the chosen provider for all Ukrainian’s coming through the Homes 
for Ukraine scheme – increasing our provision significantly.  Demand has been so high 
for ESOL that we have moved a member of the community team on the ESOL team to 
ensure we continue to meet the needs of the learners.  Additional courses are now 
being added to the schedule in the Forest of Dean, Stroud, and Tewkesbury as well as 
online courses to for those requiring flexibility with their learning.  592 learners have so 
far been enrolled on ESOL courses since September with a further 5 courses due to 
start in June. 

Skills and Employment Hub
 A total of 174 people have now accessed the Employment and Skills Hub
 We have now recruited a second Hub Job Broker which will help us extend our reach 

and work with a growing network of providers.
 We will be hosting an open day for school leavers and their parents on the 6th of July 

and have secured a number of employers, apprenticeship providers and partners to 
attend on the day.

 We are working with two local supported housing providers – Guinness Homes and 
Rooftops to offer residents with tailored employment and skills support in partnership 
with Adult Education and Libraries.

Employment Programmes
 Our Forwards programme for Disabilities continues to operate smoothly and we now 

have all staff in post
 We are nearly up to full cadre in the Hub with only two apprentice and one Broker post 

now to fill.  We are taking advantage of DWP fixed term contracts ending and have 
some ex-DWP staff joining us in June.

 We have recruited a BME Research Officer who will be working with young people 
from BME communities to understand their experiences pre, during and post covid in 
education and employment to help us understand why there are higher levels of 
NEETs in this group and to help us make changes in the system to aid their 
progression

 Our ICS programme of work will now start with all three posts recruited.  This will look 
at addressing health inequalities for those at risk of long-term unemployment and 
create opportunities for young people across the ICS business areas including work 
experience, supported internships, traineeships and apprenticeships.  

 We also have some additional funding to provide ongoing in work support to Care 
Leavers and NEETs going into work to help them sustain their employment and an IAG 

Page 102



Adviser working with NEETs and Care Leavers and the Hub providing targeted careers 
advice.

The Gloucestershire GEM Project
 On the 30th September we will cease referrals into GEM.  We now have confirmation 

that funding will be available to allow us to deliver a scaled down version of GEM from 
October 2022 to March 2024 when UKSP Funding will include employment and skills 
interventions for people who are economically inactive.  We will work with Districts and 
our existing partnership to design the project (which will not be called GEM) with 
partnership engagement event planned for the 7th July.

Kickstart
 Now that Kickstart has finished in terms of referrals into the programme, we continue to 

work with employers to ensure those young people left are supported.  There are 
currently 30 young people remaining in our “Gateway”.

 We are completing an evaluation of the project and this will be shared soon.

LSE Funding
 We have submitted a bid to DWP for LSE funding to increase support for people within 

social care with learning disabilities and/or autism to find and retain work.  We will know 
the outcome of this bid in July and if successful will commence delivery in November 
2022 for 29 months.

GIS Healthcare
 The supported employment element of GIS transferred to us in September.  We are 

currently looking at how the DWP grant can be utilised more effectively to help more 
disabled people into work including looking at external host employers.

 The Proof of Concept for the Employment Support Grant has now been launched by 
DWP however we still have scant information about this.  Over the coming weeks we 
should know more about how we can use this to support people with more complex 
disabilities who’s needs cannot be met through existing support into work.  

- REPORT END - 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Thematic Update Report: DATE: 22/06/22 

 
THEME:  Adaptation 

 
LEAD ORGANISATION: Gloucester City Council 
LEAD OFFICER:  Jon Burke 
 

1. Work undertaken since last report: 
 (include details of who has been involved) 
 
Of the consultancies contacted since the previous update, only one has responded with an 
indicative figure for the cost of a Climate Risk and Vulnerability Assessment, which would be in the 
region of £30,000. However, this is for a district, rather than the wider county. I am due to meet 
with them again shortly to obtain further details on what the uplift would be were they to 
conduct the study for a county this of Gloucestershire. 
 
I also have outstanding meetings with SWECO, WSP, Arcadis, and Aether on this matter and will 
attempt to obtain alternative costings. 
 
 
 

2. Work planned for the next reporting period: 
 (include details of who is involved and anticipated timeframes) 

 
Proposal for the delivery of training and/or consultancy services (and associated costs) for the 
delivery of a county-wide CRVA. 
 
 
 

3. Work which has been identified as necessary but which cannot be progressed: 
 (include details of what is required to enable progress to be made) 
 
N/A 
 
 

4. Issues/Factors which are hampering progress: 
 (identify the strategic issues here which CLG may be able to help resolve) 
 
It is my professional recommendation that a CRVA be carried out to assess form the basis of an 
adaptation work programme. In the meantime, and given the overlap that exists between the 
adaptation and biodiversity themes, the adaptation theme and the Gloucestershire tree strategy, 
some county-wide recommendations can be made regarding the forthcoming tree planting 
season. 
 
 
 

5. Actions and/or requests for guidance which Climate Leadership Gloucestershire are 

asked to consider: 

 
No specific requests at this stage. 
 
 

Page 105

Agenda Item 9



 

 

6. Key Linkages to /Dependencies with activity in other Themes: 
(include details of what work is needed in other themes to support this theme and work 
in this theme which other themes need to factor into their workstreams ) 

 
As above. Adaptation and biodiversity themes have strong interlinkages and CLG should consider 
the benefits of amalgamating these themes to ensure general conformity between the work of 
the supporting teams. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

Page 106



 

 

Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Thematic Update Report: 6.6.22 

 
THEME:  Biodiversity 

 
LEAD ORGANISATION: Gloucestershire Local 
Nature Partnership 
LEAD OFFICER:  Matt Whitney 
 

1. Work undertaken since last report: 
 (include details of who has been involved) 
 
Guided by a partnership consultation process, GLNP presented a paper with 12 recommended 
actions to the first topic-focused CLG meeting in February. At this meet all 12 actions were 
unanimously endorsed and approved for adoption into the shared workplan of CLG.  The items 
reported on in these updates (in CAPITALS) refer to one of the 12 actions. 
 
RESOURCES/BUILDING WITH NATURE – GWT has recruited a new Building with Nature/Planning 
lead 
 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE TREE STRATEGY – GWT and partners awarded £500,000 for Severn Treescapes 
project, working to connect Forest of Dean with Wyre Forest. 
   

2. Work planned for the next reporting period: 
 (include details of who is involved and anticipated timeframes) 

 
DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION in green space – GLNP, with Barnwood Trust, are delivering a 
workshop in July to improve access to nature for those with protected characteristics 
 
COUNTYWIDE FEASABILITY STUDY ON GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE OPPORTUNITIES  – GNCF project 
Manager hosting a workshop for Local Authority reps in June to assess opportunities for delivering 
Biodiversity Net Gain on council owned land.  
 
CALL FOR SITES – GLNP collating learning from other Local Authorities outside Glos who have 
successfully delivered a call for sites for country parks. 
 
TRAINING for planners on Biodiversity Net Gain – GLNP & GWT working with Countywide 
Planning Officers Group to get a date for this session. GLNP will cover costs. 
 

3. Work which has been identified as necessary but which cannot be progressed: 
 (include details of what is required to enable progress to be made) 
 
WETLAND CREATION/MANAGED REALIGNMENT OPPORTUNITIES  – all Local Authorities to assess 
own landholdings. LLFA to work with EA to look at strategic opportunities along the Severn.  
 
INCREASE CARBON SQUESTRATION FROM FARMING – public bodies to implement dynamic 
procurement systems or similar, prioritising environmental outcomes of suppliers (such as 
proximity and organic) 
 
NATURE PARK ON RIVER SEVERN - GCC and Glos City to officially recognise the park eg through 
council resolutions or within development plans. Glos City, GCC, GFirst and NHS to promote the 
park as a place to go and enjoy nature. GNCF developing business case around health and 
wellbeing benefits value of improving access to this site. 
 

Page 107



 

 

 

4. Issues/Factors which are hampering progress: 
 (identify the strategic issues here which CLG may be able to help resolve) 
 
GLNP Manager is leaving the post. The vacancy presents an opportunity to review how 
LNP/biodiversity theme activity is best marshalled and coordinated.   The Climate Change 
Coordinator has highlighted a need to broker conversations with partners on the subject and will 
arrange to meet with interested parties. 
 

5. Actions and/or requests for guidance which Climate Leadership Gloucestershire are 

asked to consider: 

 
No specific requests at this stage. 
 
 
 

6. Key Linkages to /Dependencies with activity in other Themes: 
(include details of what work is needed in other themes to support this theme and work 
in this theme which other themes need to factor into their workstreams ) 

 
COUNTY-WIDE PROGRAMME OF NATURAL FLOOD MANAGEMENT – ADAPTATION, FARMING . 
Potential development of a project here with GCC/LLFA. 
 
BUILDING WITH NATURE – PLANNING.  
 
NATURE PARK – PLANNING 
 
INCREASE CARBON SEQUESTRATION FROM FARMING – FARMING 
 
WETLAND CREATION and managed realignment – ADAPTATION 
 
CALL FOR SITES for new accessible greenspaces - PLANNING 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

Page 108



 

 

Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Thematic Update Report: DATE: 22/06/22 

 
THEME:  Behaviour Change 

 
LEAD ORGANISATION:  NHS Trust and Police 
LEAD OFFICER:  Jen Cleary/  Mandy Gibbs 
 

1. Work undertaken since last report: 
 (include details of who has been involved) 
 
The behaviour change theme was discussed at the CN2030 (the climate change officers group) 
meeting in June and CN2030 have been asked to provide information in relation to what is 
happening to engage staff in climate change actions.  Colleagues have been asked to provide: 

 Information on what current actions are being undertaken 

 Ideas about what new actions/initiatives could and should be developed 
 Feedback on the barriers which are preventing good progress being made 

 
The NHS have both a Green Council and Green Champions network, both of which are well 
established. 
 
The Secretariat has been working to strengthen networking amongst organisations actively 
working in the behaviour change space and has engaged with, amongst others: 
 

 Active Businesses Gloucestershire 

 Gloucestershire Association of Parish & Town Councils 
 Visit Gloucestershire 

 Stroud Climate Action Network 
 Federation of Small Businesses 

 
 
 

2. Work planned for the next reporting period: 
 (include details of who is involved and anticipated timeframes) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3. Work which has been identified as necessary but which cannot be progressed: 
 (include details of what is required to enable progress to be made) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4. Issues/Factors which are hampering progress: 
 (identify the strategic issues here which CLG may be able to help resolve) 

Page 109



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. Actions and/or requests for guidance which Climate Leadership Gloucestershire are 

asked to consider: 

 
No specific requests at this stage. 
 
 
 

6. Key Linkages to /Dependencies with activity in other Themes: 
(include details of what work is needed in other themes to support this theme and work 
in this theme which other themes need to factor into their workstreams ) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

Page 110



 

 

Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Thematic Update Report:  DATE 13 June 2022 

 
THEME:  Economy – Business and Skills  

 
LEAD ORGANISATION: GFirst LEP 
LEAD OFFICER:  Sarah Danson 
 

1. Work undertaken since last report: 
 (include details of who has been involved) 
 
Business 
 
The GFirst LEP / Growth Hub business support activity has moved to the next phase.   The team 
are working with 37 businesses providing one to one specialist advice.   They are piloting a 
programme of activity at Forest of Dean Growth Hub, working with Vantage Point and the on-site 
tenants.   They are also exploring how they can support Cotswold Tourism’s sustainable action 
plan. 
 
Meetings have taken place with district climate representatives from Cheltenham, Cotswolds, 
Forest of Dean and Stroud. 
 
Meetings have also taken place with Visit Gloucestershire and Cotswold Tourism both have 
developed sustainable action plans.  Cotswold Tourism have also undertaken a detailed survey of 
their members which has been used to inform their action plan. 
 

GFirst LEP attended the South West Roundtable with British Business Bank where they presented 

their findings from their research report, Smaller businesses and the transition to net zero , which 

highlights the potential collective influence of UK smaller businesses and the considerable 

contribution they could make to wider net zero objectives through changes to reduce their carbon 

footprint. 
 

Skills 

 

Commissioning (in conjunction with other SW LEPs/MCAs) of green skills research by SW Energy 
Hub.  The SW Energy Hub has an ambition, in partnership with the regions 6 LEPs (WECA have 
conducted their own study) to majority fund and deliver a regional green skills study in 2022. 
 
Input into the Stroud and Cotswold District Councils strategy to deliver and ‘end to end’ retrofit 
process across the two districts. 
 
The Gfirst LEP education, employment and skills team are working on delivering the LEP Skills 
Strategy together with the Local Skills Plan. Key priority themes identified so far include 
prioritisation of retrofit and low carbon energy installation schemes.  
 
Cheltenham Economic Recovery Task Force have established a subgroup looking at skills, including 
green skills.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 111



 

 

2. Work planned for the next reporting period: 
 (include details of who is involved and anticipated timeframes) 

 
Business 
GFirst LEP aims to meet with Gloucester and Tewkesbury authority climate leads to gain an 
understanding of their Net Zero/environmental strategies and ambitions in terms of business and 
skills and identify opportunities for collaboration and sharing of best practice.     
 
GFirst LEP have signed up to the SME Climate Commitment and is in the process of setting out 
their own Net Zero strategy. 
 
Business engagement via events seems to have greater traction that one to one approaches so a 
series of activities is being explored. 
 
Net Zero discussions with LEP Business Groups are ongoing and will also inform sector focussed 
approaches to this next phase of delivery. 
 
Mapping of public and private sector support, tools and resources will continue. 
 
 
Skills – on going activity 
 
SGS college are progressing well with their Level 2 and 3 sustainability qualifications for 
businesses which will launch in September 2022. 
 
Identification of the gaps in the Gloucestershire economy that could help to drive green growth. 
Prioritisation of the skills which are most in demand and which we have a unique position to be 
able to create. 
 
Sector specific engagement and support to develop skills and knowledge needed for the transition 
(e.g. construction, farming, energy etc). 
 
Inclusion within council and others strategic plans on the economic and skills growth needed to 
deliver our climate ambitions.  
 
Cross sector working between business, councils and academia to fund and develop action to fill 
skills gaps.  
 
Including sustainability within recruitment practices across sectors in the county, to increase a 
focus on green jobs within Gloucestershire.  
 
Inclusivity, and actions to reach diverse groups to encourage employment in priority sectors.  
 
AccXel Centre in the Forest of Dean are developing a retrofit programme to support a local 
housing association. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 112



 

 

3. Work which has been identified as necessary but which cannot be progressed: 
 (include details of what is required to enable progress to be made) 

 
It is challenging to collate a comprehensive overview of activities already in progress and those in 
planning that can help inform the development of additional activities where required.  
 
Clarity with regards to green skills needs is still lacking and requires further work with key delivery 
and ‘energy’ partners. 
 
 
 

4. Issues/Factors which are hampering progress: 
 (identify the strategic issues here which CLG may be able to help resolve) 
 
There is a requirement for dedicated resource to lead and coordinate the activity with regards to 
Green Skills in the county.   This role would work closely with local education partners, employers 
and the skills advisory panel, whilst also working with those steering national programmes and 
qualifications. 
 
A dedicated resource to collated a clear overview of countywide activity and identify a business 
focussed economic strategy that can be championed by Climate Leadership Gloucestershire is 
required. 
 
 
 

5. Actions and/or requests for guidance which Climate Leadership Gloucestershire are 

asked to consider: 

 
No specific requests at this stage. 
 
 
 

6. Key Linkages to /Dependencies with activity in other Themes: 
(include details of what work is needed in other themes to support this theme and work  
in this theme which other themes need to factor into their workstreams ) 

 
Business – linkages to Adaptation, Energy, Built Environment, Behaviour Change 
Skills  - linkages to Adaptation, Energy, Built Environment, Biodiversity 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

Page 113



 

 

Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Thematic Update Report: DATE: 22/06/22 

 
THEME:  Energy 

 
LEAD ORGANISATION:  Forest of Dean District 
Council 
LEAD OFFICER:  Alastair Chapman 
 

1. Work undertaken since last report: 
 (include details of who has been involved) 
 
There has been no further progress on the energy theme since the last report due to officer 
capacity constraints. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2. Work planned for the next reporting period: 
 (include details of who is involved and anticipated timeframes) 
 
Further discussions on how the energy theme can best be progressed are being planned. 
 
The Secretariat is working on a mid-year review of the thematic approach given the issues which 
have been highlighted with some of the other themes as part of this reporting cycle.  
 
 
 
 
 

3. Work which has been identified as necessary but which cannot be progressed: 
 (include details of what is required to enable progress to be made) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4. Issues/Factors which are hampering progress: 
 (identify the strategic issues here which CLG may be able to help resolve) 
 
Officer capacity to progress the theme has been reduced as a result of staff vacancies within the 
team. 
 
Work has begun to strengthen the connections between the LEP Energy and Business Group and 
Forest of Dean as thematic lead. 
 
 
 

Page 114



 

 

 
 
 
 

5. Actions and/or requests for guidance which Climate Leadership Gloucestershire are 

asked to consider: 

 
No specific requests at this stage. 
 
 
 

6. Key Linkages to /Dependencies with activity in other Themes: 
(include details of what work is needed in other themes to support this theme and work 
in this theme which other themes need to factor into their workstreams ) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

Page 115



 

 

Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Thematic Update Report: DATE: 22/06/22 

 
THEME:  Food & Farming 

 
LEAD ORGANISATION:  Cotswold District 
Council 
LEAD OFFICER:  Chris Crookall-Fallon 
 

1. Work undertaken since last report: 
 (include details of who has been involved) 
 
There has been no further progress on the energy theme since the last report due to officer 
capacity constraints. 
 
The Secretariat has met with the CEX at Cotswold and the food and farming theme was discussed 
as part of the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 

2. Work planned for the next reporting period: 
 (include details of who is involved and anticipated timeframes) 

 
Further discussions on how the food and farming theme can best be progressed are being 
planned. 
 
The Secretariat is working on a mid-year review of the thematic approach given the issues which 
have been highlighted with some of the other themes as part of this reporting cycle. 
 
 
 
 

3. Work which has been identified as necessary but which cannot be progressed: 
 (include details of what is required to enable progress to be made) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4. Issues/Factors which are hampering progress: 
 (identify the strategic issues here which CLG may be able to help resolve) 

 
The food and farming theme requires the active involvement of other partners with the expertise 
in this subject area.  Discussions have begun with potential partners/stakeholders but more work 
is needed to make the progress that is needed. 
 
 
 
 

Page 116



 

 

 
 
 

5. Actions and/or requests for guidance which Climate Leadership Gloucestershire are 

asked to consider: 

 
No specific requests at this stage. 
 
 
 

6. Key Linkages to /Dependencies with activity in other Themes: 
(include details of what work is needed in other themes to support this theme and work 
in this theme which other themes need to factor into their workstreams ) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

Page 117



 

 

 

Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Thematic Update Report: DATE – June 2022 

 
THEME:  Planning  

 
LEAD ORGANISATION: Cheltenham Borough 
Council 
LEAD OFFICER:  Mike Redman / Liam Jones 
 

1. Work undertaken since last report: 
 (include details of who has been involved) 
 
Since the last update Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC) has been moving forward with the 
Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). The document has been to public 
consultation which ran for 4 weeks between 7th March 2022 and 4th April 2022. There were 
approx. 40 individual responses comprising 133 separate comments.  
 
The overall response was very positive and generally supportive of the document and its aims. 
The majority of the responses made suggestions for clarification of terminology, guidance for 
document utilisation and improved accuracy of content. This has resulted in a number of minor 
changes that have strengthened the document and will lead to better implementation of its 
guidance.  
 
A small number of responses were concerned that the SPD goes further than existing policy 
should allow and that it risks placing an unreasonable burden on developers. However, the overall 
objectives of the SPD have not been diluted in response. It is an ambitious document that sets out 
what CBC wants to see from new development in its administrative area. It is also clear that the 
national planning policy framework is not currently consistent with the scale of change required 
and CBC believes that urgently required changes will bring local and national planning policies into 
closer alignment with the SPD over time. 
 
The document will go to a Full Council meeting on 20th June 2022 for formal adoption. 

 
CBC is starting a review of its pre-application services which will take place over the coming 
months. The focus will be on service delivery, but climate change will be embedded into the pre-
application thought process, drawing upon the Climate Change SPD. 

 
Given that the planning theme includes a number of Local Planning Authority’s (LPAs) it was 
initially felt that The County Planning Officers Group (CPOG) would be the appropriate route for 
discussion, as it had indicated its wish to be the gatekeeper for championing proposals.  
 
The difficulty with this approach is that the group only meets on a quarterly basis, so this does not 
always align with the work needed to update the Board and secondly, in this type of meeting, it 
can be difficult to focus solely on the climate change theme given the need to also cover other 
agenda items. On this basis an update was requested from each LPA representative on CPOG to 
better understand the situation now and to identify the key contacts from each LPA as we move 
forward.  
 
Updates have been sought from each representative LPA and are attached as Appendix 1. 
Indication is given on Local Plan status, emerging policy/guidance and any other relevant 
updates/best practice/case studies directly in relation to climate change.  
 

Page 118



 

 

 
 

2. Work planned for the next reporting period: 
 (include details of who is involved and anticipated timeframes) 

 
 To diarise a series of meetings for the coming months to provide the platform to discuss 

existing work being undertaken, emerging work and best practice/case studies.  
  

 Discuss with the group of LPA senior officers a recent case study in Cheltenham relating to 
a scheme for 350 homes by Miller Homes (application 20/01788/FUL) which was refused 
by CBC Planning Committee in April 2022. Reasons for refusal as follows: 
 
Cheltenham Borough Council has declared a 'Climate Emergency' and is committed to 
becoming a net zero carbon council and borough by 2030.  
 
Strategic Objective 6 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 
2011-2031 (Adopted 2017) ('JCS') sets out the requirement to ensure that new 
developments "Make the fullest contribution possible to the mitigation of, and adaption 
to, climate change and the transition to a low-carbon economy" through a number of 
measures including, the production and consumption of renewable energy and the 
decentralisation of energy generation, and by encouraging and facilitating low and zero 
carbon development.  
 
Additionally, the need to achieve sustainable development is highlighted throughout the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2021 ('NPPF') which at paragraph 8c) sets out that, 
from an environmental objective, opportunities should be taken in "mitigating and 
adapting to climate change, including moving to a low carbon economy".  
 
The proposed development, as a result of the installation of gas boilers throughout, would 
fail to take full account of the opportunities available to move towards low carbon 
technologies such as heat pumps and would be at odds with both local and national plans 
to achieve net zero targets. 
 
In addition, the proposed development, by virtue of the orientation of some of the 
dwellings, would fail to maximise the potential to incorporate solar pv panels and further 
reduce reliance on less sustainable forms of technology, therefore not being adaptable to 
climate change contrary to the requirements of Policy SD3 of the JCS. 
 
As such, the proposed development would be contrary to Strategic Objective 6 and Policy 
SD3 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031 
(Adopted 2017), and paragraph 8c) and sections 2, 12 and 14 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2021. 
 

 Make use of the LPA update table (Appendix 1) to highlight other case studies/best 
practice that can be shared between LPAs and used to inform policy and practice 
improvements. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 119



 

 

 
 

3. Work which has been identified as necessary but which cannot be progressed: 
 (include details of what is required to enable progress to be made) 

 
Carbon literacy training is a key need to support staff across all services to understand the urgency 
and imperative of action to reduce carbon emissions, as well as helping to identify the priority 
practical actions needed.  
 
A number of authorities are already in the process, or looking to roll-out such training across their 
workforce, but this need should be recognised and resourced across all partners.  
 

4. Issues/Factors which are hampering progress: 
 (identify the strategic issues here which CLG may be able to help resolve) 

 
Not all authorities have staff dedicated to supporting the climate agenda, but the scale of action 
required will necessitate a shift in both revenue and capital expenditure priorities.  
 
Whilst staff dedicated to taking forward, coordinating and promoting the carbon reduction 
agenda are invaluable, there is a clear need to embed climate thinking into all partner decision-
making to support declared carbon neutrality objectives.  
 
Current planning policies, particularly at the national level but locally as well, need urgent 
updating to support the scale of ambition and associated actions required to achieve meaningful 
change in delivery outcomes. 
 
 

5. Actions and/or requests for guidance which Climate Leadership Gloucestershire are 

asked to consider: 

 
No specific requests at this stage. 
 
 
 

6. Key Linkages to /Dependencies with activity in other Themes: 
(include details of what work is needed in other themes to support this theme and work 
in this theme which other themes need to factor into their workstreams ) 

 
As set out previously there are significant planning links across the themes of CLG. It is apparent 
that there clear interdependencies with the Transport, Resources/Waste and Biodiversity themes.  
 
In terms of transport – location/quantum of new development and connectivity needs to be 
addressed, having serious regard to the climate change agenda.  
 
In terms of Resources/Waste – again, location of new infrastructure through appropriate planning 
is essential. It is noted that Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) is preparing a new land-use 
planning framework for waste management over the next few years by way of a new countywide 
waste local plan. In preparing this new plan, the County Council will be working closely with 
Gloucestershire Resources and Waste Partnership (GRWP) members to ensure that the 
partnership is able to deliver on its ambitions for managing municipal waste, as set out in the 

Page 120



 

 

emerging short-term Gloucestershire Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (GJMWMS) 
and its eventual longer-term replacement.  
 
Specifically, from a climate change perspective, the new waste local plan will need to set out a 
clear, coherent and positive land-use planning strategy, that will attract the required levels of 
sustained long-term investment needed to deliver the decarbonisation of waste management 
operations and continued reductions in residual waste through the expansion of the county’s 
recycling capabilities. The new plan will also need to ensure new or upgraded waste management 
facilities become climate-resilient assets. This means demanding facilities are planned for, 
designed, built and operated in a way that anticipates, prepares for and can more easily adapt to 
climate-change related disruption (e.g. flooding, storms, periods of drought). Finally, there is also 
the opportunity to contribute toaction on embodied carbon in the built environment – a serious 
risk to the achievement of net zero ambitions. Within environmental limits, the plan should be 
supporting sufficient provision across local waste management facilities to offer the construction 
industry a readily accessible, available and viable waste-derived alternative (e.g. building products 
sourced from recycled bricks, metal, wood and concrete etc.) to the use of virgin building 
materials.  
 

 

  

Page 121



 

 

Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Thematic Update Report: DATE 26/05/2022 

 
THEME:  TRANSPORT 

 
LEAD ORGANISATION: Gloucestershire County 
Council 
LEAD OFFICER: Luisa Senft-Hayward (LSH) 
 

1. Work undertaken since last report: 
 (include details of who has been involved) 
 

 (LSH) Gloucestershire Economic & Growth Joint Committee – 19th May 2022 
GCC Took paper & presentation on the county’s Carbon Reduction Pathway: Transport  
 

 (LSH) GCC Environment Scrutiny Committee – 24th May 2022 
GCC Took paper & presentation on the county’s Carbon Reduction Pathway: Transport  
 

 (LSH) Ongoing meetings with UK100 Local Power in Action (LPIA) programme to bring  
 

 (LSH) Secure a date for the Decarbonising Transport Forum (19th July 2022) 
 

2. Work planned for the next reporting period: 
 (include details of who is involved and anticipated timeframes) 

 
 (LSH) Commissioned Phase 3 work of Carbon Reduction Pathway 

 
  (LSH) Technical Note for Districts – Guidance on existing carbon modelling tools (June 2022) 

 

 (LSH) UK100 LPIA programme (June-August 2022) 
 Facilitate conversations and improve relationships with District politicians and other 

stakeholders, via the Climate Leadership Gloucestershire Group to secure support for 
the County Council’s transport decarbonisation plans. To ensure partners take 
responsibilities for concrete actions identified in the Gloucestershire transport pathway 
to carbon net zero plan. 

 To work towards a stakeholder engagement strategy/plan with the aim to secure 
support for Gloucestershire’s transport pathway to carbon net zero plan from all 
organisations represented at CLG and provide guidance for engaging the public. 
 

 (LSH) Decarbonising Transport Forum (19th July 2022) 
 

3. Work which has been identified as necessary but which cannot be progressed: 
 (include details of what is required to enable progress to be made) 

 
n/a 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 122



 

 

4. Issues/Factors which are hampering progress: 
 (identify the strategic issues here which CLG may be able to help resolve) 

 
1) We are still waiting for the release of the Department for Transport (DfT) on LTP reviews. 

The DfT has stated that: “We will also make quantifiable carbon reductions a fundamental 
part of local transport planning and funding and are currently updating our guidance on 
local transport plans to help local authorities do this. We plan to publish the new guidance, 
along with technical advice on quantifying carbon in this context later in 2022.” Work is 
progressing in the meantime but will need to be reviewed to ensure it is in line with DfT 
guidance, once that is released. 

 

5. Actions and/or requests for guidance which Climate Leadership Gloucestershire are asked 

to consider: 

 

 Guidance on reaching consensus from key stakeholders for decarbonising transport, as a 
follow on from the Decarbonising Transport Forum and future engagement strategy.  
 

 Cross-sector carbon pathway approach necessary. 
 
 

6. Key Linkages to /Dependencies with activity in other Themes: 
(include details of what work is needed in other themes to support this theme and work in 
this theme which other themes need to factor into their workstreams ) 

 
 There are close links between transport and planning, with land use planning a major 

contributing factor in influencing carbon emissions from transport.  
 

 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 1 of 20 
 

COVER REPORT 
Retrofit Theme for CLG 24/06/2022 

Coordinating and upscaling our delivery 

Contents 
Overview ................................................................................................................................................. 2 

1. What is retrofit really and why is it important? .................................................................................. 3 

1.1 Defining Retrofit ............................................................................................................................ 3 

1.2 Why is it important? ..................................................................................................................... 3 

2. The Landscape of the Retrofit Sector ................................................................................................. 5 

2.1 Overview of Principal Features ..................................................................................................... 5 

2.2 National Delivery Context ............................................................................................................. 6 

2.3 Gloucestershire Delivery Context ................................................................................................. 7 

2.4 Retrofit Landscape - Summary Points ......................................................................................... 10 

3. The Retrofit Challenge ...................................................................................................................... 11 

4. Rising to the Challenges .................................................................................................................... 14 

4.1 What is needed to do more? ...................................................................................................... 14 

5. Conclusions and Recommendations to CLG ..................................................................................... 15 

 

 

  

Page 125

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk


Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 2 of 20 
 

Overview 
As the first report to CLG on retrofit this document aims to: 

1) Set a common basis for understanding low carbon retrofit, its importance and the good practices 

of ‘fabric first’ and ‘whole building’ approaches 

2) Describe the local retrofit ‘landscape’ within the context of a national delivery picture 

3) Outline the challenges to upscaling retrofit efforts 

4) Provide recommendations to the CLG to help meet the challenges. 

The report sets out how well established retrofit workstreams are within the county and, against a 

backdrop of complexly interdependent issues, opens considerations about how we increase our 

capacity to do more and what leadership and other mechanisms are needed to achieve this.  

  

Page 126

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk


Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 3 of 20 
 

1. What is retrofit really and why is it important? 
Since this is a term, which is rapidly infiltrating our working language it is worth establishing an in-

common reference of what that means for us. 

1.1 Defining Retrofit 
Retrofit in this instance is about modifying an existing building. This could be something small like 

adding draughtproofing or, something bigger like adding solar panels. There are lots of reasons to 

undertake retrofit such as: 

• Updating elements inside or out to make them more appealing 

• Improving the comfort of your home 

• Changing the size or layout  

• Investing now to save money in the longer term by lower running costs 

• Reducing a buildings carbon footprint 

These days, more and more people are also thinking about how their homes and other buildings 

contribute to the climate crisis and they want to know how they can change that for the better. Low 

carbon retrofit is retrofit carried out with consideration to how it can improve the efficiency and 

sustainability of building energy performance by including elements that: 

• Reduce the need to use energy  

• Reduce the dependence on fossil fuels such as oil and gas 
 

In practice this means that projects such as, updating a kitchen or, repairing damage to roofs or 

rendering, consider practical features and longer-term benefits as well as thinking about home 

appearance and user convenience. 

 

1.2 Why is it important? 
In Gloucestershire as is true of everywhere, our built environment is one of the top 3 contributors to 

carbon emissions. New development by its contentious nature tends to draw the spotlight to 

planning and legislation as the necessary tools to address this carbon challenge. However, retrofit 

solutions must also be in the spotlight as the considerable proportion of that ‘built environment’ is 

existing, old, even heritage and, predominantly, nowhere near the end of its useful lifetime. 

  

Page 127

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk


Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 4 of 20 
 

 

EASY LIVING

•Intuitive buildings, improved internal climate control 

•Style, ease of use and impressive features through 
automation and voice control

REDUCES RECURRING MAINTENANCE

•Older fittings, aged insulation and less advanced heating 
control systems can create the perfect environment for damp 
and mould

•Pooling and ingress can be unsightly and cause damage. 
Under good advice it is possible to eliminate these problems 
and decrease the need for remedial works 

MITIGATION & AFFORDABILITY

•Never has the time been more urgent to consider how 
investing in buildings can protect against rising energy costs 
for heating and cooling. 

• Turning buildings  into their own power plants through 
adding renewable generation and storage technologies gives 
some protection against security of supply issues.

PROGRESSIVELY SELF- FINANCING

•Reducing the need for heating or cooling avoids cost. 
Factoring in avoided costs can boost  financial plans for 
bigger projects. 

•Some technologies have associated revenue benefits that can 
also be factored into cost recovery plans. 

•Financial tools such as ethical loans and green mortgages  are 
now emerging.

 

HEALTH & WELLBEING

• Improvements that compensate for a changing climate in 
terms of heating and cooling support our health and well-
being. Over and under heating are health concerns for us 
all. In addition mental, respiratory and heart health are all 
influenced by the quality of our built environment and aided 
by good temperature control, effective ventilation and 
reducing social anxiety.

SOCIAL & ECONOMIC RETURN

•The link between health and economy is never more clear 
since the pandemic.

•The link between built environment and health has an 
evidence based focused on housing (WHO; NHS; King's Fund 
reports*)  but healthy work places are equally important.

•Socio-economy underpins, happy, safe, resillient 
neighbourhoods

SAFEGUARDING THE FUTURE

•Improving buildings to be more climate friendly and 
resilient in the face of potential power shortages, warmer 
temperatures and natural events is both mitigation to a 
climate that is changing now and a contribution to the fight 
against climate change by lowering emissions.

Fig 1: The many benefits of low carbon retrofit. 

P
age 128

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk


Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 5 of 20 
 

2. The Landscape of the Retrofit Sector 
There is a great deal of complexity to be navigated in the delivery landscape for retrofit so that we 

can understand how to progress it further. 

2.1 Overview of Principal Features 
Retrofit delivery is currently operating, to a large extent, through distinct practical delivery strands: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

These 4 practical delivery areas are inextricably linked to 4 further key strategic dependencies: 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Public Sector Retrofit 

(i) Own estates programmes – managed by individual bodies and now increasingly focused to low carbon 

retrofit; 

(ii) shared rationalisation programmes – e.g. One Public Estate projects, delivered in partnership and 

starting to consider low carbon retrofit distinct to general retrofit 

2. Affordable Warmth 

(i) Social Housing – managed by social enterprises in the main, SDC being the only Gloucestershire authority 

to have retained its stock, increasing awareness of low carbon but largely driven by national legislation 

standards for homes. 

(ii) Private Rental Sector – mainly driven by our enforcement roles, not particularly low carbon focused 

(iii) Other vulnerable at risk – social support and grants driven, mainly focused on energy efficiency so more 

about reducing energy waste than low carbon measures. 

3. Private sector  

(i) Business – some private companies are in tune with this but there is no oversight of this retrofit market 

and most businesses not engaged. Smaller organisations who are often tenants rather than building 

owners face considerable challenges 

(ii) Homeowners – a market of potential but low carbon retrofit not always the investment of choice 

compared to luxury items 

4. Community 

Community buildings and community schemes such as heat networks and energy co-ops have pockets of 

activity but the legal, financial and social challenges are significant when individual projects take off. 

 

 

• Planning 

Rules and regulations on what 

changes can be made to the built environment 

Grid and network capacity 

• Economy 

Growth and driving demand  

• Skills 

Forecasting and filling changing needs 

• Behaviour Change/Communications 

Influencing mindsets; trends and social change 

 

Page 129

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk


Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 6 of 20 
 

 

2.2 National Delivery Context  
The low carbon retrofit agenda is a cross cutting area of action in relation to policy and delivery in 

line with those 4 key strategic dependencies so we will set it in context by looking at the research, 

projects and tools that are shaped by these drivers to understand better how the national scene is 

related to at local levels. 

 

2.2.1 Research (national) 

The messages for strategic leaders come through loud and strong in the research 

for how critical it is to be a proactive force for mass retrofit action. 

The Climate Change Committee’s Sixth Carbon Budget, (Dec 2020) suggests that 

investment in decarbonising homes will need to rise to a peak of £14 billion per year 

by 2028 and continue at a scale greater than £6 billion per year until 20481. 

Other research echoes this including: Vivid Economics2; The Green Finance Institute3 and Bankers for 

Net Zero4, the latter in particular stating: 

The benefits of a long-term strategy would be £7.5bn in saved energy costs annually, 

the creation of 150,000 green jobs in 10 years while ending fuel poverty. Fully 

decarbonising the built environment would also address more than 20% of the 

emissions required to reach net-zero nationally. 

There is also a growing evidence base on the social returns that can be unlocked from ensuring 

homes are at good standard. The Building Research Establishment (BRE) estimate that leaving 

vulnerable people living in the poorest 15% of England’s housing is… 

…costing the NHS some £1.4 billion per annum in first-year treatment costs.5  

 

2.2.2 Reference Projects (national) 

National innovation has realised some schemes and projects with potential that can be referenced 

for ideas and solutions. Imports from Europe such ‘Energiesprong’ – modular solutions built off-site 

show us how whole streets of same build type can be tackled and has potential in social housing but 

a massive reliance on suitable supply chains and project coordination, logistics management 

resource6. 

 
1 https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/sixth-carbon-budget/#key-recommendations 
2 https://www.vivideconomics.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/210917-UK-FINAL.pdf 
3 https://volans.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Tooling-up-the-Green-Homes-Industry_FINAL.pdf 
4 The benefits of a long-term strategy would be £7.5bn in saved energy costs annually, the creation of 150,000 
green jobs in 10 years while ending fuel poverty. Fully decarbonising the built environment would also address 
more than 20% of the emissions required to reach net-zero nationally 
5 https://www.housinghealthcosts.org/ 
6 https://energiesprong.org/?country=united-kingdom 

Page 130

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk


Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 7 of 20 
 

Other schemes such as Retrofit Works; Carbon Co-Op and Cosy Homes also offer learnings but some 

of these were informed by our own award winning Warm and Well programme which has now been 

established for more than 20 years. Significantly, when we have explored transfer of innovation 

routes on these projects we have found that all these schemes depend upon funding as part of their 

operational plan and, largely they are not looking to expand their delivery base. 

 

2.2.3 Tools & Resources (national) 

There is a plethora of tools and advice online and no clear national communications campaign to 

provide overall messaging/signposting. The majority of this is aimed at householders but there is 

some more specialist support to public sector through organisations such as Local Government 

Assoc. and Local Partnerships. Also, there is some business guidance through BEIS and other 

initiatives but this struggles in trying a one size fits all approach to a very diverse business sector.  

 

2.3 Gloucestershire Delivery Context 
In Gloucestershire we have a long track record of delivery on retrofit schemes and have made good 

progress in refocusing efforts on a low carbon approach. 

As part of the Climate Leadership Group approach Stroud District Council (SDC) are county lead 

organisation for the retrofit theme and this builds upon the districts record of achievements in terms 

of securing countywide partnerships and funding under various programmes (see Table 1). In 

addition, SDC’s 2030 Strategy Manager has intimate knowledge of the existing countywide domestic 

and business programmes having been heavily involved in the oversight and business development 

of these programmes in the past. 

 

2.3.1 Our Research 

At local levels our knowledge of affordable warmth related retrofit is deep. Over 20 years of delivery 

we have learned much about how to: most effectively link households to the grants they need; 

evidence health benefits and, pool funding streams to be able to provide help for home energy 

efficiency and, there is a lot of data about measures installed across the county.  

In 2020 SDC were funded to explore possibilities within local tax systems to support energy 

efficiency7 which included market research. This post -COVID look at intent to invest in low carbon 

retrofit (Fig2) gave a concerning prediction about the readiness of what is termed ‘able to pay’ 

market and emphasised the need for local authority endorsement of advice provision and services. 

  

 
7 https://www.swenergyhub.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/FINAL-_CT_BR-BEIS-Report-September-
2020.pdf 

Page 131

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk


Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 8 of 20 
 

 

 

A recent study in the neighbouring WECA area into green jobs and skills evidences our local 

perspectives that low carbon retrofit jobs will outweigh losses in the fossil fuel related industries 

providing a workforce with transferrable skills ready for upskilling.  

The report also predicts that employment in the retrofit sector will need to at least double 

over the next 5 years to meet net zero, analysis shows that job growth needed to meet net 

zero by 2030 will require much greater rate of growth8 

 

  

 
8 https://www.westofengland-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/WECA_Green-Jobs-and-

Skills_Retrofit_Report-1_Final_01_06_2021.pdf 

 

Page 132

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk
https://www.westofengland-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/WECA_Green-Jobs-and-Skills_Retrofit_Report-1_Final_01_06_2021.pdf
https://www.westofengland-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/WECA_Green-Jobs-and-Skills_Retrofit_Report-1_Final_01_06_2021.pdf


Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 9 of 20 
 

2.3.2 Our Reference Projects 

Table 1: Overview of established major public sector projects in Gloucestershire 

Project Brief Description Retrofit 
Measures 
Delivered 

Lead Partners 

Warm and Well Telephone advice 
and grants 
administration to 
householders. 
Currently 
administering LAD 
and WHF +ECO 

Yes – with a 
focus on those 
delivering 
affordable 
warmth 

SDC All districts 
+S.Glos and 
Glos. Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group 

Social Housing 
Decarbonisation 
Funds (SHDF) 

BEIS funds via 
bidding process 

Yes – 
according to 
submitted 
schemes 

SDC Chelt. Boro. 
Homes; Glos 
City Homes; 
Two Rivers 
Housing 

SHDF National Pilots Special projects 
under SHDF – 18 
nationally allocated 

YES – Ground 
Source Heat, 
Storage, PV 

SDC Chelt. Boro. 
Homes; Two 
Rivers Housing 

Innovate to 
Renovate 

Capacity Building 
funds to ready to 
support private 
domestic market 

No SDC Districts 
+S.Glos. 

Public Sector 
Decarbonisation 
Funds 

Applied to by 
individual bodies 

Y to submitted 
schemes 

N/A NHS / CDC/ TBC 

Zero Carbon Public 
Estate 

Process via 
Leadership Glos. 
Current project 
scoping study 

N SDC GCC / STC / 
Active Building 
Centre / Local 
Partnerships / 
SGS 

Strategic Retrofit 
Health Check 

Strategy/Current 
Status and 
Recommendations 
Review 

N SDC/CDC Local 
Partnerships 

SGS – Retrofit 
Training 

Capital project for 
facilities and 
teaching 

N SGS and SDC 
with SEDF 
partner support 

 

 

2.3.3 Our Tools and Resources 

• Locally advice for householders is freely available through phoneline, web and social media 
services under the Warm and Well banner, home visits are also possible but this service is 
targeted at the vulnerable and mainly marketed through social providing and referrals. 
 

Page 133

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk


Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 10 of 20 
 

• There are currently no local authority endorsed services for business wanting to retrofit but 
our delivery partners for Warm and Well provide ‘Target 2030’ offering technical support 
and part funding to leverage private investment in retrofit from SME’s. Target 2030 has a 
fixed term due to reliance for EU funds.  

 
 

• The new Innovate to Renovate 
partnership (same bodies as Warm and 
Well) is involved in capacity building work 
to put in foundations that will enable 
future local authority led ''front door'' 
services to domestic retrofit with a focus 
on leveraging investment from the 
private homeowner (The Retrofit Centre). 
 

• Achieving Net Zero Carbon Homes is a toolkit aimed at small or medium-sized house 
builders, architects, self-builders and consultants. It covers a range of steps - from pre-
planning right through to construction - for delivering net-zero carbon, low-energy homes  
and has been delivered through commissioning by Cotswold District Council, West 
Oxfordshire District Council and Forest of Dean District Council. 
 
 

• The ‘Active Building Centre’  based in Berkeley Stroud is working to accelerate the UK’s drive 
towards net-zero carbon by transforming the way buildings are powered and heated. ‘Active 
Buildings generate and store renewable electricity to meet their own needs and intelligently 
redistribute the surplus to other buildings and back into the grid. They are assets on the 
balance sheet of net zero’ (from their website). 
 

• Accxel Centre in Cinderford, co-funded by HM Government, GFirst LEP and K W Bell Group is 
not explicitly retrofit focused but will offer Training Programmes, professional education and 
bespoke training to develop the next generation of construction professionals and upskill 
the current workforce. 

 

2.4 Retrofit Landscape - Summary Points  
• There are several different practical delivery strands, therefore there are opportunities for 

cross pollination/multiple benefits but also, some unique issues e.g. fuel poverty or heritage 
buildings that need special consideration 

• The national context has historically had a focus on fuel poverty and Gloucestershire has 
taken great advantage of this and has enviable infrastructure in place in terms of Warm & 
Well service. However this will not meet required capacity at current socio-economic outlook 

• In Gloucestershire there is a lively retrofit scene and a foothold of development in all strands 
of the delivery landscape and our county is being recognised as a place of innovation and 
achievement on this challenge. 

• The momentum on this issue in Gloucestershire is considerable but there are significant 
differences at District level in terms of the capacity to take advantage of the workstreams in 
play and work strategically to develop new ones. 

Page 134

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk


Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 11 of 20 
 

• Locally key challenges are of 2 kinds relating to (i) ‘practical action’ - the challenges in getting 
a retrofit project financed, started and executed well; (ii) the wider strategic issues (e.g. skills; 
sector capacity; demand and growth) 

• Local challenges are shared at national levels and rooted in the associated strategic strands 
that are defined as planning, skills, economy, behaviour change and communications. 
 

3. The Retrofit Challenge  
 

The Retrofit Challenge is comprised of a number of issues: 

(i) The carbon challenges 

That the built environment is one of the top contributors to carbon emissions is a specific challenge 

for public sector bodies who are leading climate change responses as only a little over 20% of this is 

under their direct control. The bulk of these emissions are from businesses and homes, mainly 

homes, in private ownership where our influence and potential to drive change is restricted. 

Adding to this challenge is the fact that the considerable proportion of that ‘built environment’ is 

existing, old, even heritage. Some low carbon arguments place all importance on better standards 

for new builds but, of real concern is all the buildings that have been here for a while and that have 

lower standards and sometimes, protections that make them poor energy performers with 

embodied9 carbon. 

A further carbon issue is the affordable warmth funding is not always low carbon focused and 

restrictions on these grants means that gas boiler upgrades are still being delivered for example. 

However, fuel poverty being such a serious social concern, it would not be ethical to choose not to 

secure and utilise this funding in the absence of other choices. 

(ii) Financing Challenges 

Retrofit to net zero on a whole building scale offers ROI but requires outlay. Upfront financing is 

therefore a considerable issue.  The established solution in the affordable warmth market is a variety 

of funds and grants that can be blended by our advice team at Warm and Well to meet individual 

customer needs. Recently we have seen further national government investment to mitigate the 

growing fuel poverty incidence as a result of current global challenges. Sadly, energy costs are 

expected to continue to rise steeply well into winter. 

There has also been recognition of the need to drive demand from the private homeowner as well 

and schemes such as Green Homes Grant have been trialled , providing part grant and requiring 

match, these schemes attempt a step change in mindset from a grants culture. 

Loans and green financing are a fiscal tool that is hoped to encourage people to invest. In the public 

sector, Salix Finance provides interest-free Government funding to improve energy efficiency, 

reduce carbon emissions and lower energy bills. Also, partnerships of banks have come together to 

 
9 Emissions associated with materials and construction processes throughout the whole lifecycle of the building 

including its demolishment 

Page 135

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/apply-for-the-green-homes-grant-scheme


Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 12 of 20 
 

form the Green Finance Institute and some pioneers, including Nationwide, offer green mortgages 

that release capital for home improvements. 

In the public sector Lower Carbon Skills Funding (LCSF) support bodies who wish to progress on their 

net zero aims through Public Sector Decarbonisation Funds. Both programmes are incredibly 

complex to navigate, require well prepared technical inputs and have challenges in their 

administration. However, they are realising substantial projects and there have been successes 

across the County in all the rounds so far. LCSF has just opened in preparation for the next round. 

Gloucestershire has also been successful in Social Housing Decarbonisation Funds (see Table 1). 

New technology is supported to find its early adopter market through incentive schemes such as 

Feed in Tarrif, now in a milder form as Smart Export Guarantee and the Renewable Heat Incentive 

schemes. These have had some success but the idea of an early adopter market is to make things 

visible and attractive to the next consumer aspiring for better and, with the exception of PV, these 

technologies need assistance through marketing to be visible and this strand of the work has been 

much neglected so far. 

(iii) Fragmented Approach Challenge 

The grants and incentive led market inadvertently promotes a piecemeal approach to retrofit and 

this leads to neglect of two core principles for successful retrofit: 

(i) lowering demand for energy through a ‘fabric first’ approach 

(ii) considering the whole building and all its retrofit needs and how they will interact with the 

construction before commencing a project to ensure later projects don’t compete and current ones 

don’t lead to problems like damp (often termed ‘whole house’ but applies to all buildings) 

These incentive schemes create a ‘boom’ stretching the professional capacity in the sector and 

inevitably resulting in stories of inability to get the job done or, poor results and quality adding to 

the market ‘fear’ of retrofit. 

The lack of associated revenue financing to fund advice and technical support underlies some of 

these issues.  

(iv) The Skills & Supply Chain Challenge 

The recent experiences of schemes such as the Green Homes Grant show there is an interest 

amongst private homeowners but that local supply chains for materials and skills cannot meet the 

very rapid, uncertain and fixed term demand that a grant scheme generates. The ‘boom/bust’ effect 

does not support the development of sustainable services at local levels and does not encourage a 

sector of installers which is, in the main smaller enterprises, to grow. The double blow here is that, 

without growth these smaller companies struggle to benefit from grant systems that require 

‘Trustmark’ accreditations as they are not resourced to secure and maintain these. 

(v) Quality and Standards Challenge 

In terms of quality assurance, the industry is gearing up for the biggest change it has seen in terms of 

standards and monitoring systems. PAS 2035 is a specification for 'whole building' retrofit; to take 

into account the requirement of the entire building; both from a technical standpoint and 

considering factors like occupancy comfort. 

Page 136

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk


Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 13 of 20 
 

This standard requires specifically qualified persons in new roles relating to retrofit project 

management and is addressing the issues of a piecemeal approach in terms of later structural 

problems and customer dissatisfaction. 

Whilst a positive step this further strains a sector with a skills shortage and a large number of smaller 

businesses who will need to find ways to meet the challenges of the new standards. 

(vi) Demand Challenges 

There are two opposing challenges in demand at this time: 

(i) Unprecedented rapid growth in affordable warmth market 

(ii) Slow growth and low forecasted private market investment into retrofit 

An additional demand challenge is that new development continues to expand need as new builds 

are not built to net zero standards and not delivered ‘retrofit’ ready with space and outlets and 

plumbing to support low carbon tech. 

(vii) Leadership Challenge 

“One of the main challenges is that there is no statutory responsibility for local authorities 

to take action on net zero. Yet authorities feel a moral obligation to act. In fact, nearly three 

quarters – 74% – of UK local authorities have declared climate emergencies to date. This 

creates a tension point because many local authorities have developed a pipeline of 

conceptual ideas within a broader net zero strategy, but are not able to translate these 

ideas into something which is both financially sustainable and technically feasible.” 

Jeremy Goerlik – Green Finance Institute10 

The Green Finance Institute is backed by government and led by bankers and produce useful 

research and demonstrator work. They also recognise that public sector retrofit action can be a 

mechanism for developing growth in the sector by realising projects with wider partners and 

demonstrating benefit.  

Whilst there is some serious progress in Gloucestershire and there are a number of successful public 

sector led partnership initiatives on the go it is only recently that there has been a position of 

‘overview’ in the development of the Retrofit Theme Leadership role for SDC as an organisation. 

Even though retrofit action has been a core delivery area for SDC for decades it is only in the last few 

years that these workstreams have started to collaborate more across directorates. Early benefits 

are already being realised in terms of maximising value in workstreams and strengthening strategic 

partnerships through approaches that look at housing, own estate and wider district such as our 

recent opportunities with Local Partnerships (see Table1). Now we face a similar challenge to 

develop that level of collaboration across the county. 

 
10 https://www.greenfinanceinstitute.co.uk/news-and-insights/financing-net-zero-unlocking-investment-
opportunities-supporting-local-transition/ 

Page 137

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk


Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 14 of 20 
 

As retrofit is such a well-developed, active and diverse theme there is a challenge for SDC and CLG to 

establish whether this leadership role is merely one of overview or one of progressive development 

and how it can be resourced without compromise to district level resource.  

(viii) Infrastructure Challenge 

The ability of energy distribution networks to service renewable generation projects of all sizes is 

very compromised. Currently even the simplest household PV system projects maybe halted or 

capped in their potential due to the capacity of the grid to services the excess generation through its 

system of transformers.  

The possibility to decarbonise gas at source is conceivable but again network and household 

plumbing systems would need considerable adaptation to deal with new systems. 

4. Rising to the Challenges 
In Gloucestershire there has been significant and sustained effort on retrofit issues for several 

decades. 

Section 2.3 of this report highlights a strong footing for the county in each of the practical delivery 

areas and our Climate Leadership approach sets the foundation for collaboration on the related 

strategic delivery strands (planning, skills, economy, behaviour). 

Section 3 is full of challenges but also highlights how much experience we have gained and makes 

significant in-roads on the requirements to move forward. 

4.1 What is needed to do more? 
This paper covers a complex landscape of opportunity and challenge but it also demonstrates that all 

the foundations needed are there: the technical solutions are in place; the support and advice 

mechanisms are functioning; the industry has a solid market; the financing mechanisms are 

beginning to appear; the training services and expertise is becoming available.  

What challenges us still is that investment must ramp up to drive growth in all these things so that 

we can do more and currently what is poorly termed ‘the able to pay’ sector is a largely untapped 

market to drive this growth by providing a larger more permanently dynamic market than the 

affordable warmth driver that is established. It is also the market where, based on relative carbon 

emissions from buildings, the most work needs to be done. 

Table 2 gives a snapshot overview of the live projects that are not focused on affordable warmth 

sectors and their contributions. 

  

Page 138

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk


Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 15 of 20 
 

Table 2: Delivering on the Challenge 

Project Contribution Could do more…? 

Innovate to 
Renovate 

Establishing a virtual, public 
sector endorsed ‘front door to a 
lower carbon home’ engagement, 
info and signposting service called 
‘The Retrofit Centre’ 

In development stage with funding to research and 
establish skeleton service and present evidence 
longer term strategic growth plan. Will need Yr2 
funding, predominantly revenue to reach and 
support the ‘able to pay’ market  

Public Sector 
Decarbonisation 
Funds 

Impressive scale of improvement 
across the public sector being 
delivered through this 

Needs much better public profile – info in waiting 
rooms, press releases, its own version of ‘Green 
Doors/Green Open Homes’ aimed at business and 
commercial awareness raising? 
Are all opportunities to support skills development 
being used? 

One Public Estate – 
Listed Building Focus 

Process via Leadership Glos. 
Current project scoping study 

Need more outcomes to gauge potential but the 
Public Sector Workshop to be held this month will 
offer good experience exchange. 

Strategic Health 
Check 

Strategy/Current Status and 
Recommendations Review 

Focused on the scene in SDC and CDC we are 
working with Local Partnerships to make outcomes 
relevant to the county and this work will provide us 
with further insights on how we can develop our 
retrofit scene and should inform how we can do 
more. 

SGS – Retrofit 
Training 

Capital project for facilities and 
teaching 

Recently supported with SEDF this will support the 
skills needed for growth. 

Target 2030 Bespoke Business Support and 
grant. 

This needs a strategic development to ensure these 
types of services are not lost when current funding 
expires. 

 

5. Conclusions and Recommendations to CLG 
It can be seen that the landscape of retrofit is complex, inextricably linked to wider development 

areas such as skills and economy. It is also an extremely busy environment with a satisfying level of 

achievement across delivery strands following decades of slow and steady progress and some very 

effective partnerships between public sector leaders.  

We now must deliver the same level of progress again, 

adding breadth and depth to our existing endeavours 

in a much shorter time frame. 

A cross sector approach is definitely required and some aspects of the challenge will ultimately need 

to be met by private/commercial delivery agents but, in our public sector leadership roles, we can do 

much to create the right conditions for independent initiatives to develop whilst also bolstering our 

own activities providing the example practice, the enabling facilitation and the market generating 

motivation. 

Page 139

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk


Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 16 of 20 
 

Table 3 (below) considers key needs for upscaled  retrofit and outlines recommendations for County 

leaders that could make significant impacts on one of our biggest carbon challenges and deliver wide 

reaching social and economic benefits. 

  

Page 140

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk


Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 17 of 20 
 

Table 3: Needs and recommendations 

 NEEDS RECCOMENDATION RATIONALE 

LEA
D

ER
SH

IP
 

(i) Enhanced countywide leadership for 
retrofit 
 
(ii) Identification and coordination of 
district level leads on all practical 
delivery areas 
 
(iii) Increasing the value add of public 
sector projects to boost skills and retrofit 
economy. 
 
(iv) Work strategically to deliver change 
in affordable warmth grant streams to 
merge the importance of fuel poverty 
relief with that of low carbon 
 
 

1, Countywide thematic leadership 
needs dedicated resource to deliver 
the rapid progress required. 

Retrofit action is still somewhat fragmented in the different practical 
delivery streams. 
 
 Early efforts to choral experience, maintain overview, broker links and 
forge added value and facilitate pipeline projects are reaping significant 
benefits but are beyond capacity alongside SDC district wide coordination 
needs.  
 
If we are to fulfil any of these recommendations officer time at a senior 
level will be required to facilitate collaboration and drive developments 
in a cohesive way across the practical and strategic delivery strands. 

P
age 141

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk


Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 18 of 20 
 

 NEEDS RECCOMENDATION RATIONALE 

FIN
A

N
C

E 

(v) Revenue funds that wrap around and 
promote services that provide practical 
retrofit measures raising awareness, 
attractiveness and providing good PR 
 
 
(vi)Mainstream retrofit by better 
promotion, messaging and services 
outside of affordable warmth/third 
/social sector 

2. UKSPF strategy should specifically 
consider the countywide retrofit 
challenge and the next steps that are 
identified for Retrofit Centre roll out. 
 
 
 
3. The Innovate to Renovate (I2R) 
partnership will produce a strategy for 
continued development of ‘The 
Retrofit Centre’ Services at the end of 
this research and initial set up phase. 
It is likely to include longer term 
delivery options and a further 
financing request from partners to 
enable it to be sustained and further 
developed. 

In line with a countywide approach to climate change and economic 
development the challenges of retrofit lend themselves to share 
prosperity criteria and there are a number of project concepts that could 
be developed into bids. 
 
 
CLG are recommended to carefully consider I2R needs in the context of 
the contribution this target market could be making to our carbon 
challenges and the extent the services can also bring affordable warmth 
work more prominently under the local authority banner and increase 
access and promotion of these as well. In an even longer outlook The 
Retrofit Centre could include service areas for public, business and 
community areas as well. 

P
age 142

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk


Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 19 of 20 
 

 NEEDS RECCOMENDATION RATIONALE 

EX
P

ER
TISE 

(vii) Ensure that support services are 
firmly rooted in the correct technical 
expertise 
 
(viii) Build confidence through quality 
assurance and provide the information 
that will feed good PR. 

4. Forge strong links to The Retrofit 
Academy training network11 - they are 
leading the way in shaping and rolling 
out PAS 2035 and quality assurance 
mechanisms and have a range of 
support available to their members. 
 
5. Ensure that support services are 
taking account of the need to use 
bespoke approaches for buildings that 
are steered by qualified technical 
experts such as the home and 
business energy surveyors and 
advisors working on Warm and Well 
and Target 2030. 

It is possible to cite many examples of national negative publicity around 
retrofit. These stories are about work quality; availability of  services and 
dissatisfaction with products and tech that has been delivered.  
 
 This works against efforts to drive demand so we must pay attention to 
quality in our messaging; services; customer care and quality assurance 
processes. 

 
11The UK Retrofit Training Network is a collaborative matrix of LEP’s, providers, funding bodies, trainers and employers. Working in a coordinated way the UK Retrofit Training 
Network aims to become a global leader in retrofit training. Capable of supporting local communities, stimulating employment and driving clean growth to the highest standards. 
The model links employers and funding to providers and candidates. Having developed the courses and qualifications that are most in demand by employers, the UK Retrofit 
Network fuels the retrofit economy on both a regional and national level.  
By securing a network license, your LEP or Local Authority can put in place the infrastructure needed to ensure your region immediately grasps the retrofit opportunity and 
tangibly contributes towards de-carbonisation and net-zero.  https://retrofitacademy.org/uk-retrofit-training-network/  
  

P
age 143

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk
https://retrofitacademy.org/uk-retrofit-training-network/


Author: R. Brain SDC June 2022 
rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk 
 
STATUS: Published 
 

Page 20 of 20 
 

 NEEDS RECCOMENDATION RATIONALE 

SA
FEG

U
A

R
D

IN
G

 
SER

V
IC

ES 

(ix) Safeguard and expand existing 
services 

6. Existing partners should continue 
current investment levels and others 
should consider the wider socio-
economic/environmental benefits that 
can be achieved by improving quality 
of life and lowering carbon as a basis 
for their own buy-in as further 
capacity is needed. 
 
7. Support SDC as thematic leads to 
provide the required strategic inputs 
that will enhance the synergies of the 
delivery strands in order to add value 
and facilitate delivery at a greater 
scale (see Leadership) 
 
8. Seek change in regulation of our 
energy network services. 

Current services are largely affordable warmth based and fuel poverty 
will be a rapidly increasing issue. Most of the current funding of these 
services is through national grant schemes focused on capital measures. 
Public sector inputs provide much needed revenue to enable these 
services to be staffed and targeted. 
 
 
 
 
Locally, with the development of The Retrofit Centre there is scope to 
consider how innovation in partnership working could help strengthen 
provision to the fuel poor and how community energy and other 
initiatives can provide localised energy supply. 
 
 
 
Regulatory body OFGEM operates in a way that requires energy 
distribution networks to be demand responsive and therefore there is 
little scope to be progressive and forward looking when it comes to grid 
enhancements. Lack of grid capacity is a serious barrier to the levels of 
increased renewable generation that will be required.  

 

 

 

P
age 144

mailto:rachel.brain@stroud.gov.uk


 

Page 1 of 11 

Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Resources & Waste theme paper 

26/05/2022 

Title: 
Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Resources & Waste theme 

paper 

Author: 

Peter J Tonge – Head of Community Services, Tewkesbury BC on 

behalf of the Gloucestershire Resource & Waste Partnership, Andy 

Pritchard – Waste Strategy & Development Manager (GCC) and Robin 

Drake - Minerals & Waste Policy (GCC) 

Date: 26/05/2022 

 

Summary: 

 

Historically the waste industry has done much to play its part in the climate emergency.  

Between 1990 and 2013, greenhouse gas emissions from the waste management sector 

decreased by 67 percent. This was due to a combination of factors, including improvements 

in the standards of landfilling, changes to the types of waste going to landfill (such as 

reducing the amount of biodegradable waste), and an increase in the amount of landfill gas 

being used for energy and the increase of energy from waste facilities. Emissions of methane 

alone reduced by 69 percent over that period. 

Much has been done but there remains more that can be done.  There is, however, a need 

to be realistic about the potential benefits of committing resources to reducing the 

greenhouse gases from waste management facilities, as opposed to taking (potentially more 

effective) action on waste prevention. 

How we manage our waste is governed by the waste hierarchy of which there are 5 stages  

i) Prevention (producing less waste material, ii) Re-use (cleaning, repairing refurbishing 

items for re-use), iii) Recycling (turning waste into new products), iv) Other recovery 

(incineration with energy recovery, anaerobic digestion etc); and v) Disposal (landfilling or 

incineration without energy recovery). 

Across Gloucestershire we have made great progress in recent years by ceasing to landfill 

waste and sending all of our waste to incineration at the energy from waste plant at Javelin 

Park.  Whilst we have made good progress we should not be complacent and more can be 

done but there are challenges. 

This paper sets out some of the possibilities for what can be undertaken further across our 

county but also discusses some of the challenges that the waste collection authorities 

(Districts) and the waste disposal authority (County) face both individually and together. 

The GRWP are in the process of developing a new Gloucestershire Joint Municipal Waste 

Management Strategy (GJMWMS) for the county, there are however challenges in 

developing a long term strategy without knowing the outcomes and proposals from DEFRAs 

consultation on waste and resources.  Therefore the GRWP have taken to decision to 

develop a short-term, interim strategy which it can monitor until the consultation outcomes 

are known.  At that point the partnership will be in a position to develop a longer term strategy.  

Page 145



 

Page 2 of 11 

Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Resources & Waste theme paper 

26/05/2022 

Introduction  

The Gloucestershire Resources & Waste & Partnership (GRWP) is a mature partnership 

between all of the district councils and the county council in Gloucestershire.  

The vision for the partnership is as follows: “We will work together to promote resource 

efficiency and provide sustainable, safe and cost effective waste management in order to 

respond to our climate emergency, to conserve natural resources and to protect our 

environment.” 

The purpose of the GRWP is to provide countywide leadership and a framework for joint 

working between its Council Members on resources and waste related matters.  In 2008, all 

seven local authorities in Gloucestershire adopted the Gloucestershire Joint Municipal Waste 

Management Strategy (GJMWMS) which provides a route map for managing waste in the 

county up to 2020.  The development of a new waste management strategy for the county is 

currently underway (this was partially delayed due to the Coronavirus pandemic) , there are 

however challenges to developing a long term waste strategy and these challenges are 

discussed in more depth later in this paper. 

The waste hierarchy  

In Gloucestershire all partners work to the principles of the Waste Hierarchy (see diagram 

below), which aims to minimise waste generation and view waste materials as a resource. 

Waste should be prevented from being produced, reused where possible, then recycled or 

composted. Any waste that cannot be reused, recycled or composted should be treated to 

recover any potential value (such as energy). Disposal should be the last resort. 

 

 

 

There is consensus, however, that the climate benefits of waste avoidance and material 

efficiency far outweigh the benefits from any waste treatment technology which is why waste 

reduction sits at the very top of the waste hierarchy. 

Changing policy context 

Despite the waste hierarchy the UK government maintains its focus on increasing recycling 

rates rather than avoiding generating waste and it has set itself challenging targets as follows: 

Page 146



 

Page 3 of 11 

Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Resources & Waste theme paper 

26/05/2022 

 by 2020, the preparing for re-use and the recycling of waste materials such as at least 

paper, metal, plastic and glass from households and possibly from other origins as far 

as these waste streams are similar to waste from households, shall be increased to a 

minimum of overall 50% by weight; 

 by 2025, the preparing for re-use and the recycling of municipal waste shall be 

increased to a minimum of 55% by weight; 

 by 2030, the preparing for re-use and the recycling of municipal waste shall be 

increased to a minimum of 60% by weight; 

 by 2035, the preparing for re-use and the recycling of municipal waste shall be 

increased to a minimum of 65% by weight. 

Nationally In 2020, the 'waste from households' recycling rate was 44.0%, meaning that the 

50% target has not been met.  Although locally most districts achieve better or close to this 

target. 

In order to increase the levels of recycling activity the UK Government via DEFRA carried out 

a number of consultations on a range of methodologies to increase recycling rates.  The 

impacts of these proposals differs for each of the GRWP partners and it is due to the 

uncertainty of these proposals which makes it difficult to formulate a long term resources and 

waste strategy for the county at this point in time. 

High level summary of challenges to the DEFRA proposals 

Free garden waste services – DEFRA propose that all green garden waste services should 

be offered free of charge to every household.  This will see a significant loss of income and 

increased financial burden for most if not all districts. 

The addition of certain recyclables e.g. plastic film – Whist collecting this material is not difficult 

in the short to medium term there is currently no mature market for this material and therefore 

disposal / sale will be difficult. 

Weekly food collection – All districts currently undertake this. 

Consistent collection – The government propose that all recycling services should be based 

on a kerbside sort methodology.  This will result in a change of collection methodology for 

some districts seeing increased costs and increased vehicles on the roads, resulting in more 

carbon emissions. 

Deposit return scheme for drinks containers / Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) for 

packaging – whilst on the surface of it these schemes look good they are fraught with difficulty.  

In addition they will remove good recyclate out of the local government recycling schemes 

leaving them with lower quality recyclate with lesser value. 

Various proposals for trade waste – Not all districts currently offer a trade waste service. 

More detail on these consultations is contained at appendices 1 & 2. 

 

 

Page 147



 

Page 4 of 11 

Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Resources & Waste theme paper 

26/05/2022 

Delivering the Gloucestershire Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 2007 – 

2020. 

The JMWMS contained a number of objectives to deliver a sustainable waste management 

service where waste generation is minimised and waste materials are seen as a resource. 

Only the objectives that directly relate to this agenda are considered in this paper. These are; 

I. Changing Behaviour 

II. Reduction First 

III. Segregation at Source 

IV. Compost Hierarchy 

V. Residual Waste as a Resource 

Objective I: “Changing Behaviour” 

“To further develop our service design, communications and our education programmes to 

promote waste minimisation and to maximise participation in sustainable waste management 

services. In the long term we aim to transform consumer behaviour and society’s attitude to 

consumption and disposal.” 

Progress  

Success in this area depends largely on the acceptance and willingness of local residents to 

positively engage with opportunities which enable them to reduce the impact of their habits 

and behaviours in relation to resources and waste. A number of factors influence this, which 

include; 

 The provision of accessible and sustainable waste management services. 

 The availability of improved choices regarding consumption. For example, buying 

groceries that are unpackaged or have easily recyclable packaging. 

 The levels of awareness of the above and a subsequent shift in normalising their 

uptake throughout the community. 

Targets were established for recycling and composting (the % recycling rate) in each of the 

years 2009/10, 2014/15 and 2019/20. These were set at 40%, 50% and 60% respectively. In 

order to achieve this, all waste collection services were improved to add more materials 

collected for recycling and composting and to reduce the capacity for residual waste to  be 

generated through a change to fortnightly collections and strengthening of policies to 

discourage excess waste. These changes were made in all six districts between 2008 and 

2016 and resulted in an overall increase in recycling rate from 36.2% in 2007/08 to 54.2% in 

2017/18.  

Page 148



 

Page 5 of 11 

Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Resources & Waste theme paper 

26/05/2022 

 

In addition, the county’s six Household Recycling Centres have maintained a comprehensive 

range of recycling options, and members of the public are encouraged to fully utilise these by 

segregating materials before they visit the site. Note that a change in the treatment of HRC 

wood waste in 2018/19 (switching from recycling to biomass recovery in response to the 

preferred market options at the time) resulted in a slight reduction in recycling rate. 

Engagement with residents is key to ensuring that waste services are utilised efficiently and 

to their maximum level, with regular ‘calls to action’ being made. Through the ‘Recycle for 

Gloucestershire’ brand (now ‘Gloucestershire Recycles’) numerous engagement methods 

have been employed, including; 

 Development and maintenance of online information relating to recycling, reuse and 

waste minimisation, lately supported by an increased use of social media.  

 Specific targeted campaigns and projects, for example promotion of Real Nappies and 

provision of money-off vouchers. 

 Broad campaigns based around key themes and specific materials. A regular focus 

has been placed on the reduction and recycling of food waste. 

 Direct mailout of leaflets and campaign messages. 

 Advertising in the media, including newspapers, radio and local magazines. 

 The stickering of bins requesting ‘no food waste be put in residual waste containers’.  

 Face to face activities, such as roadshows, presentations, doorstep discussions and 

school visits. 

The provision of a dedicated budget to support the ongoing engagement work with residents 

and community groups is central in ensuring and demonstrating our commitment to continual 

improvement in this area. Through the preparation and delivery of a joint annual engagement 

plan we will continue to develop innovative and creative programmes of work. 

Objective II: “Reduction First” 

“To reduce Gloucestershire’s municipal waste by addressing waste generation at the 

household level and further up the supply chain.”  

30

35

40

45

50

55

60
% recycling rate (including reuse and composting/AD)

Page 149



 

Page 6 of 11 

Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Resources & Waste theme paper 

26/05/2022 

Progress to Date 

This objective has many overlaps with Objective 1 but focuses specifically on reducing the 

amount of waste generated by Gloucestershire residents. 

There are two common approaches to measuring amounts of waste, these being total tonnage 

of waste generated and waste per household. 

Between 2007/08 and 2020/21, total household waste tonnage per year fell from 314,000 

tonnes to 283,000 tonnes, a reduction of almost 10% despite a population increase of around 

8.5%. This is in part due to the positive impacts of national and local policies and services 

along with the positive aspects of behaviour change. 

The Gloucestershire Resources and Waste Partnership prefer to focus on the amount of waste 

generated per household as this negates the impacts of population growth, and we regularly 

monitor the amount of residual waste per household as an important performance metric. A 

target was set in the current strategy to achieve an annual maximum of 479 kg of residual 

waste per household by 2020/21. The actual performance achieved was 460 kg of residual 

waste per household, which is an improvement against our target of around 4%, and in 

2021/22 dropped further to 442kg per household. 

 

Our involvement with efforts made further up the supply chain at a national level has included 

support of industry initiatives (for example as signatories to the Courtauld Commitment) and 

lobbying government on national waste policy development, and we would want to continue 

with this approach into the future. On the back of this we would require a new st rategy which 

responds positively and proactively to future improvements such as circular economy 

improvements and national policy changes. 

Objective III: “Segregation at Source” 

“To provide collection systems that enable all householders to segregate their waste, 

balancing optimised collection systems with a desire to maintain the quality and value of the 

materials collected for recycling and composting.” 

300

350

400

450

500

550

600

650

kg of residual waste per household

Page 150



 

Page 7 of 11 

Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Resources & Waste theme paper 

26/05/2022 

Progress to date 

Since adoption of the current strategy, all waste collection services have been t ransformed to 

enable the separate collection of materials at the kerbside and at the Household Recycling 

Centres. 

All waste collections are now required by law to provide the separate collection of paper, 

plastics, metals and glass where this is technically, environmentally and economically  

practicable. Whilst there are variations between the authorities in how this is delivered, the 

configuration of all services fulfils this requirement. 

 

At around 25% of total household waste, food contributes significantly to the amount of waste 

generated by a household. All areas of Gloucestershire now receive a weekly separate 

collection of food waste, which is taken to an Anaerobic digestion plant in the county to 

produce gas and fertiliser. Both of these outputs are used within Gloucestershire for heating, 

cooking and agriculture. 

All households are also offered an optional separate collection of garden waste, for which a 

charge is currently made. The collected material is taken to one of three local sites for 

composting before being returned for agricultural or horticultural use as a soil conditioner.  

In order to maximise the participation in all these separate collections, residual waste is now 

collected once per fortnight. 

Household Recycling Centres across Gloucestershire offer facilities for the separate collection 

of over 20 different types of material in addition to garden waste and residual waste.  

Segregation of materials helps to ensure that the most appropriate end destinations and 

reprocessing markets can be accessed, and it is important that residents trust this. This 

information is publicly available on our “Gloucestershire Recycles” website. 

Segregation of materials is largely undertaken at the kerbside and at Household Recycling 

Centres. Other waste collected as litter is largely handled as mixed residual waste, although 

there are a small number of ‘recycling-on-the-go’ bins present in town centres. Whilst a 

Deposit Return Scheme may help to drive the recycling of some materials, we will continue to 

support ‘recycling-on-the-go’ where this is effective. 

Objective IV: “Compost Hierarchy” 

Four out of the six districts sort these materials at the kerbside before being transported 

for recycling. One district collects them in a mixed container where they are then sent to a 

sorting facility before being reprocessed. One further district operates a hybrid system 

where plastics, metals and glass are mixed and paper is collected separately. All 

authorities include a range of additional materials for recycling in addition to these 

minimum requirements. These may include for example cardboard, textiles, small 

electricals and cartons. Recycling is collected on either a weekly or a fortnightly cycle.  

Page 151



 

Page 8 of 11 

Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Resources & Waste theme paper 

26/05/2022 

“To promote home and community composting where possible, and also provide facilities to 

compost biowaste that is collected at the kerbside and received at HRCs. We aim to produce 

high quality composts that can be used locally.”  

Progress to date 

This objective focusses on two specific waste streams; garden waste and food waste . All 

kerbside collection services now offer the separate collection of each of these, with food waste 

being collected weekly and garden waste being an optional service for those residents who 

wish to subscribe and use it. The Household Recycling Centres continue to offer an additional 

disposal option for garden waste. 

Gloucestershire authorities encourage and support home composting as a preferred option 

with the promotion of discounted compost bins and accessories, with an estimated 10,000 

being sold during the period of this strategy. In addition a number of volunteer ‘Master 

Composters’ have been trained to work across the county with residents, schools and other 

organisations to further support home composting. Some residents have established 

community composting facilities in their local areas and during the life of the current strategy 

the County Council has assisted in setting these up and providing financial support. Start-up 

funding has been made available and an ongoing payment of recycling credits  is made to all 

groups. Whilst the current number of community composting schemes in Gloucestershire is 

relatively low we will continue to support any new schemes that are proposed and are viable. 

Garden waste collected by authorities either at kerbside or at Household Recycling Centres is 

composted locally at windrow composting facilities. The resulting compost is used by the 

agricultural and horticultural sectors and a small amount is also bagged and sold to the public, 

demonstrating a closed loop approach. 

Since 2014, food waste has been treated in a local anaerobic digestion (AD) process. Prior to 

2014 all food waste was composted at an In-Vessel-Composting (IVC) facility. The benefit of 

using AD instead of IVC is that energy is produced in the form of gas which is distributed for 

domestic use via the gas grid and offsets the dependence on fossil fuel. In contrast IVC is a 

net consumer of energy. Both processes produce organic fertilisers which is used on local 

farmland. However, as stated earlier, household participation in food waste recycling services 

remains below 50% and it is clear that there is a significant amount of food waste remaining 

in the residual waste stream.     

Objective V: “Residual Waste as a Resource” 

“To provide residual waste treatment capacity to divert waste from landfill, and find or develop 

markets for recovered materials. Our preferred treatment processes will optimise recovery of 

recyclables and gain further value from residual waste before disposal.” 

Progress to date 

Diversion of waste from landfill has been at the heart of all service developments during the 

life of the current strategy. A significant contribution to this has been achieved by the 

development of recycling services across the county. 

Page 152



 

Page 9 of 11 

Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Resources & Waste theme paper 

26/05/2022 

Residual waste now represents less than half of all waste collected. However, it still contains 

quantities of materials that could be recycled if segregated by householders and efforts will 

continue to be made to encourage residents to recycle as much of this as possible.  

Work has been ongoing over the life of the current strategy to establish an alternative to landfill 

for residual waste. This resulted in the building of a new Energy from Waste facility at Javelin 

Park near Gloucester. This facility became operational in 2019 and has successfully replaced 

landfill as the primary destination for the vast majority of household residual waste collected 

within Gloucestershire. 

Maximising the resource value of waste through this process is achieved through energy 

generation. The facility generates 116,000 MWh of electricity, enough to power 25,000 homes. 

The recovery of heat from the process remains a challenge, and while there are currently no 

viable offtakers for heat within the area, work is ongoing to identify viable opportunities for th is. 

Outputs from the process also include the recovery and recycling of metals and the recycling 

of ash as an aggregate material. 

 

Opportunities 

Fleet 

A key long term goal is the decarbonisation of waste fleet. A fully electric or hydrogen refuse 

collection vehicle (RCV) fleet will likely be the preferred solution in the medium to long term, 

but there are currently barriers to this approach. Electric RCVs are considerably more 

expensive to purchase than current diesel vehicles and will require suitable infrastructure in 

waste depots. While several authorities nationally have bought a small number of electric 

RCVs or a full fleet, this has mostly been in urban areas, with the vehicles unproven in a rural 

environment such as Gloucestershire.  As RCVs are replaced typically on a 7-10 year cycle, 

most authorities are tied into their current arrangements for some time. 

In order to progress to widescale adoption, the decision to purchase electric / hydrogen RCVs 

would need to be viewed as no higher in risk and no higher in cost over the life of the vehicle 

than their diesel equivalents. This would likely come from case studies of authorities with 

similar geographies demonstrating that the technology is viable and cost effective.  

Alternatively, there would need to be significant political will to take on the cost and technology 

risk and lead the way for other authorities. 

Waste / carbon reduction 

The GRWP have over the last 2 years had an independent assessment of all of the counties 

waste collections and collection methodologies.  In summary this has shown that reducing the 

capacity in waste receptacles i.e. smaller wheelie bins, would likely increase the recycling 

rates by +6.5% to +10% and this coupled with the extended producer responsibility could see 

additional carbon benefits ranging from 1,300 – 9,200 tonnes of CO2 eq. annual improvement.  

There would, however, be additional costs for doing so in the region of £4m - £6.5m (net).  

There remains a piece of work to be done with all partners to assess the appetite fo r making 

these changes. 

Page 153



 

Page 10 of 11 

Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Resources & Waste theme paper 

26/05/2022 

Growth 

Parts of the county are seeing significant growth in population and subsequent large scale 

development for example the Tewkesbury Garden Town and the Cheltenham’s Cyber Central 

and Golden Valley developments.  This gives us an opportunity to consider fundamentally 

revamping our waste collection methodology in the coming years.  This under consideration 

are a new strategic depot facility for Cheltenham and Tewkesbury which if purpose built could 

include the infrastructure for alternative fleet and reducing the number of waste journeys with 

the county.  Also there is an opportunity to look at how we collect waste moving away from 

the traditional wheelie bin to more innovative underground waste and recycling storage.  

Ubico 

With the exception of the Forest of Dean Ubico provide waste collection services to all of the 

remaining districts across the county and also provide services to Gloucester County and 

ancillary services to FoD.  This is a real opportunity to look at the county waste collection as 

a whole, moving away from traditional district boundaries and taking a whole systems 

approach to waste collection.  This could not only deliver financial savings but also reduction 

in vehicle mileage along with the subsequent reduction in carbon. 

Planning for waste management; the emergence of a new Gloucestershire Waste Local 

Plan; and responding to the challenges posed by climate change  

Gloucestershire County Council is the local waste planning authority for the county. It is 

required to prepare and maintain an up-to-date land-use planning framework for the 

management of waste and to make decisions upon the acceptability or otherwise of proposals 

for new or upgraded waste infrastructure. A key expectation of the County Council is to support 

the sufficient and timely provision of waste management infrastructure for both municipal 

waste – the collective responsibility of the county’s local authorities, and commercially -

generated waste that arises from industries, businesses and the construction sector 

throughout Gloucestershire.   

Developing a sustainable network of local waste management facilities has been a 

longstanding aim of waste planning authorities throughout England, not just for 

Gloucestershire. There are key strategic requirements to be met, such as support for the 

implementation of waste hierarchy, and the application of the proximity principle – the notion 

that waste should generally be managed as near as possible to its origin. These are locally 

reflected in the county’s existing well-established land-use planning framework for waste 

management contained in the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy and the 

remaining parts of its predecessor, the adopted Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.  

However, changing legislation and evolving national planning policy and practice now requires 

concerted ‘action on climate change’. This agenda must be front and centre of all new local 

plans, including those for managing waste. Local planning authorities must show how they are 

going to drive the transition to net zero and facilitate climate change adaptation.  

The County Council is committed to preparing a new land-use planning framework for waste 

management over the next few years by way of a new countywide waste local plan. In 

preparing this new plan, the County Council will be working closely with GRWP members to 

ensure that the partnership is able to deliver on its ambitions for managing municipal waste 

Page 154



 

Page 11 of 11 

Climate Leadership Gloucestershire – Resources & Waste theme paper 

26/05/2022 

as set out in the emerging short-term GJMWMS and its eventual longer-term replacement. 

The County Council will also be reaching out to the commercial waste management sector, 

operating throughout Gloucestershire so as to better understand its future challenges for 

dealing with commercial, industrial and construction-related waste streams and to aid the 

sector’s shift towards ever-more sustainable waste management solutions. This is in addition 

to statutory requirements to meaningfully and widely consult with the general public; 

community action / interest groups; parish and town councils; elected representatives; 

environmental regulators; landowners and the business community.   

Specifically, from a climate change perspective, the new waste local plan will need to set out 

a clear, coherent and positive land-use planning strategy that will attract the required levels of 

sustained long-term investment needed to deliver the decarbonisation of waste management 

operations and continued reductions in residual waste through the expansion of the county’s 

recycling capabilities. The new plan will also need to ensure new or upgraded waste 

management facilities become climate-resilient assets. This means demanding facilities are 

planned for, designed, built and operated in a way that anticipates, prepares for, and can more 

easily adapt to climate-change related disruption (e.g. flooding, storms, periods of drought). 

Finally, there is also the opportunity to contribute towards action on embodied carbon in the 

built environment – a serious risk to the achievement of net zero ambitions. Within 

environmental limits, the plan should be supporting sufficient provision across local waste 

management facilities to offer the construction industry with a readily accessible, available and 

viable waste-derived alterative to virgin building materials. (e.g. building products sourced 

from recycled bricks, metal, wood and concrete etc.). 

Our future proposals 

The GRWP are in the process of developing a short term waste strategy during 2022 which 

will likely be for a short time period to 2024/25.  By this time the outcomes of the Governments 

consultation and proposals should be known enabling the GRWP to develop a longer term 

strategy for the future. 

The Senior Management Group of the GRWP has established an extended group to focus on 

climate change to include other partners that can have an input into how waste services can 

work to reduce the impact of waste on the environment.  This extended group will also input 

to the development of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan. 

In the meantime the GRWP will continue to work on the significant long term challenges and 

opportunities outlined above and keep this group abreast of progress by way of an annual 

update.  The GRWP will of course look for other opportunities to make improvements and will 

report back to this group by exception should any of these arise. 

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	4 Electric Vehicle Charging Points
	Environmental Scrutiny EV update July 2022

	5 Natural Flood Management
	6 Restoring our Rivers Task Group
	Final report
	Annex 1
	Annex 2
	Thames Water - Annex 4
	Wessex Water - Annex 5
	Wessex Water - Annex 5 (2)
	Annex 6
	Annex 6 (2)

	7 Work Plan
	8 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S REPORT: ECONOMY, ENVIRONMENT & INFRASTRUCTURE
	9 CLIMATE LEADERSHIP GLOUCESTERSHIRE
	Paper 1 - Retrofit Cover Report FINAL
	Paper 2 – Resources & Waste theme paper v3.docx




